# ADDRESSING VERIFICATION CHALLENGES

Proceedings of an International Safeguards Symposium Vienna, 16–20 October 2006





## ADDRESSING VERIFICATION CHALLENGES

## ADDRESSING VERIFICATION CHALLENGES

PROCEEDINGS OF AN INTERNATIONAL SAFEGUARDS SYMPOSIUM ON ADDRESSING VERIFICATION CHALLENGES ORGANIZED BY THE INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY IN COOPERATION WITH THE INSTITUTE OF NUCLEAR MATERIALS MANAGEMENT AND THE EUROPEAN SAFEGUARDS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ASSOCIATION AND HELD IN VIENNA, 16–20 OCTOBER 2006

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 2007

#### **COPYRIGHT NOTICE**

All IAEA scientific and technical publications are protected by the terms of the Universal Copyright Convention as adopted in 1952 (Berne) and as revised in 1972 (Paris). The copyright has since been extended by the World Intellectual Property Organization (Geneva) to include electronic and virtual intellectual property. Permission to use whole or parts of texts contained in IAEA publications in printed or electronic form must be obtained and is usually subject to royalty agreements. Proposals for non-commercial reproductions and translations are welcomed and considered on a case-by-case basis. Enquiries should be addressed to the IAEA Publishing Section at:

Sales and Promotion, Publishing Section International Atomic Energy Agency Wagramer Strasse 5 P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna, Austria fax: +43 1 2600 29302 tel.: +43 1 2600 22417 email: sales.publications@iaea.org http://www.iaea.org/books

> © IAEA, 2007 Printed by the IAEA in Austria August 2007 STI/PUB/1298

#### IAEA Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

International Safeguards Symposium on Addressing Verification Challenges (2006 : Vienna, Austria)

Addressing verification challenges: proceedings of an International Safeguards Symposium on Addressing Verification Challenges / organized by the International Atomic Energy Agency in cooperation with the Institute of Nuclear Materials Management and the European Safeguards Research and Development Association and held in Vienna, 16–20 October 2006. – Vienna : The Agency, 2007.

p. ; 24 cm. (Proceedings series, ISSN 0074–1884) STI/PUB/1298 ISBN 978–92–0–104707–6

Includes bibliographical references.

1. Nuclear arms control — Verification — Congresses. 2. International Atomic Energy Agency — Congresses. I. International Atomic Energy Agency. II. Institute of Nuclear Materials Management. III. European Safeguards Research and Development Association. IV. Series: Proceedings series (International Atomic Energy Agency).

IAEAL

07 - 00487

#### FOREWORD

IAEA safeguards symposia are important forums for detailed interaction between the Secretariat of the IAEA, its Member States and the international community on safeguards and verification issues. Coming at the beginning of efforts to mark the IAEA's 50th anniversary in 2007, this symposium was held in Vienna, from 16 to 20 October 2006, in cooperation with the Institute of Nuclear Materials Management and the European Safeguards Research and Development Association. The aim was to address verification challenges to the IAEA safeguards system that have emerged, or intensified, since the previous symposium in 2001. Reflecting developments since then, the programme for the 2006 symposium was developed to cover five topics: current challenges to the safeguards system, further strengthening of safeguards practices and approaches, improving the collection and analysis of safeguards information, advances in safeguards techniques and technology, and future challenges

These proceedings contain the addresses given at the opening session, the technical plenary session and the closing session. The summary provides an overview of the oral presentations at the 21 sessions of the symposium. The invited papers presented during the various topical sessions, as well as papers exhibited at the poster session, are available on the attached CD-ROM.

The IAEA gratefully acknowledges the cooperation and support of the organizations and individuals involved in this symposium.

#### EDITORIAL NOTE

The papers in these Proceedings (including the figures, tables and references) have undergone only the minimum copy editing considered necessary for the reader's assistance. The views expressed remain, however, the responsibility of the named authors or participants. In addition, the views are not necessarily those of the governments of the nominating Member States or of the nominating organizations.

Although great care has been taken to maintain the accuracy of information contained in this publication, neither the IAEA nor its Member States assume any responsibility for consequences which may arise from its use.

The use of particular designations of countries or territories does not imply any judgement by the publisher, the IAEA, as to the legal status of such countries or territories, of their authorities and institutions or of the delimitation of their boundaries.

The mention of names of specific companies or products (whether or not indicated as registered) does not imply any intention to infringe proprietary rights, nor should it be construed as an endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

The authors are responsible for having obtained the necessary permission for the IAEA to reproduce, translate or use material from sources already protected by copyrights.

Material prepared by authors who are in contractual relation with governments is copyrighted by the IAEA, as publisher, only to the extent permitted by the appropriate national regulations.

## **CONTENTS**

S	U	N	11	Æ	A	R	Y
$\sim$	$\sim$	<b>T</b> .		-	_		-

OPENING PLENARY (Session 1)	1
Addressing verification challenges	21
M. ElBaradei	
Opening statement.	27
NJ. Nicholas	
Developing a non-proliferation culture	29
J. Joly	
Strengthening safeguards: A developing country perspective	33
A.S. Minty	
The European Commission and the global verification challenge	39
A. Piebalgs	
The issue of further strengthening IAEA safeguards activities	47
S.I. Kislyak	
Multilateral verification: A working remedy for proliferation	53
R. Ekéus	
Japanese industry's cooperation with IAEA safeguards	59
T. Ito, Y. Matsuo	

## **TECHNICAL PLENARY (Session 2)**

International safeguards: Challenges and opportunities	73
A.M. Scheinman	
Principles in safeguards: A Canadian perspective	77
L.J. Keen	
Defining the safeguards mission	85
J. Carlson	
Strengthening the safeguards system: Side effects of the safeguards	
measures	97
L.A. Vinhas	
Nuclear safeguards challenges from the point of view of a developing	
country	103
A. Djaloeis	
The additional protocol and integrated safeguards: Implementation	
in the European Union – The experience of the IAEA	115
K. Murakami, HJ. Schreiber, J. Vidaurre-Henry, Y. Abushady,	
B. Rens	

## **CLOSING PLENARY (Session 21)**

The safeguards revolution: Contributions and perspectives	
of the Standing Advisory Group on Safeguards Implementation	129
J. Carlson	
IAEA safeguards: Rolling stone or gathering moss?	139
J. Cooley	
Symposium highlights	149
R. Schenkel	
Closing statement	157
O. Heinonen	
Overview of the Programme	161
Programme Committee	163
Secretariat of the Symposium.	163
The IAEA's Department of Safeguards	164
List of Participants	165
List of Exhibitors	255
Index of Authors in Printed Proceedings	259
Contents of Attached CD-ROM	261

The symposium on international safeguards, Addressing Verification Challenges, was held in Vienna from 16 to 20 October 2006, with the aim of assessing the challenges to the IAEA safeguards system that have emerged, or intensified, since the previous IAEA safeguards symposium in 2001. Some 500 nuclear safeguards and verification experts from more than 60 countries and international organizations attended the event. In all, 129 papers were presented in 21 sessions. There were 14 keynote speeches and 110 oral presentations. A total of 65 papers were presented as posters. In addition, 16 commercial suppliers of safeguards relevant equipment and technology presented their wares and capabilities.

The symposium was organized by the IAEA in cooperation with the Institute of Nuclear Materials Management (INMM) and the European Safeguards Research and Development Association (ESARDA). The symposium provided an important forum at which related issues could be discussed, the IAEA could showcase some of its ongoing work and the experts present could provide inputs of fresh thinking.

A summary of the symposium sessions, drawn from the papers presented, is given below.

#### 1. OPENING PLENARY

The symposium was opened with an introductory statement by M. ElBaradei, Director General of the IAEA, and remarks by N.-J. Nicholas, Vice President of the INMM, and J. Joly, President of the ESARDA. Keynote presentations were then given by A.S. Minty, Governor for South Africa on the IAEA Board of Governors; A. Piebalgs, Commissioner for Energy of the European Commission; S.I. Kislyak, Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs of the Russian Federation; R. Ekéus, Chairman of the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute; and Y. Matsuo, Managing Director of Japan Nuclear Fuel Limited.

A main theme of these introductory addresses, variously taken up by the keynote speakers, was that the nuclear non-proliferation regime, centred on

<sup>\*</sup> The opinions expressed in this summary — and any recommendations made — are those of the participants and do not necessarily represent the views of the IAEA, its Member States or the other cooperating organizations.

the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT), is under stress and facing new challenges. The political and non-proliferation landscape has changed dramatically over the past decades, especially since the NPT entered into force in 1970. One significant factor is increasing globalization, which complicates the already difficult and responsible task of seeking to ensure that nuclear material and infrastructure are used exclusively for peaceful purposes. In this respect, although the IAEA safeguards system has been strengthened considerably in recent years, safeguards constantly aim at moving targets and should continue to do so to remain relevant.

Particularly significant is the expected resurgence and expansion of nuclear energy. This is to be welcomed, because energy and development proceed in tandem, but it will result in wider dissemination of nuclear technology – some of it highly sensitive. This is especially disturbing at a time when some countries seem to think it 'fashionable' to shield themselves from perceived security threats by acquiring a nuclear fuel cycle or even nuclear weapons capability and when the threat of nuclear terrorism looms large. The root causes of the tensions underlying such developments need to be addressed. Solutions lie largely outside the remit of the IAEA or of other organizations, such as the INMM and the ESARDA, that are concerned with enhancing nuclear material security, with seeking to develop synergies between non-proliferation, nuclear security and safety cultures, and with applying best practices in the field of verification and safeguards. Nevertheless, the symptoms and the causes of tensions need attention. To address satisfactorily those that are relevant to the IAEA's verification mandate, adequate political support, resources and verification tools are essential. In this context, it is crucial to continue to strengthen the IAEA's ability to detect undeclared nuclear material and activities in contravention of safeguards agreements.

A.S. Minty maintained that for developing countries the only guarantee against the use of nuclear weapons is the abolition of such weapons — nuclear non-proliferation and nuclear disarmament are two sides of the same coin. That some States have failed to recognize and act upon this has undermined the NPT. So has the growing resort to unilateralism and unilaterally imposed prescriptions. The only sustainable way of addressing international security issues is through multilateral means, in accordance with the United Nations Charter. In this regard, the IAEA is the appropriate multilateral mechanism for addressing verification issues and challenges. It should be left to do its work unfettered by pressure, hindrance or interference. All States should support the IAEA in its verification tasks, including further improvements to the effectiveness and efficiency of the strengthened safeguards system. The Board of Governors' Advisory Committee on Safeguards and Verification provides a

valuable forum at which these issues can be usefully addressed. However, the Committee should not become a focus for arguments in favour of punitive actions.

A. Piebalgs highlighted the interests and activities that the IAEA and the European Commission share, for example, the promotion of nuclear research and development, the dissemination of technological information, the promulgation of safety standards and safeguards implementation. The European Commission is adapting its safeguards to meet existing conditions, building complementarity with the IAEA and developing the next stage of the relationship for integrated safeguards. In the latter context, the IAEA and the European Commission have always been able to cooperate successfully, and it is very gratifying that high level contact between them has recently resumed.

He was pleased to note that the additional protocol to the existing safeguards agreements is in force for all 25 Member States of the European Union. In his view, a comprehensive safeguards agreement and an additional protocol to this agreement (based on the Model Additional Protocol as documented in INFCIRC/540 (Corrected)) represent the current global non-proliferation standard. Looking to the expansion of nuclear energy, safeguards are crucial to nuclear non-proliferation, while nuclear safety and security are also important dimensions. Any expansion of nuclear energy will require attention on all three fronts. The European Commission stands ready to strengthen its cooperation with, and support of, the IAEA on all three fronts.

S.I. Kislyak accepted that the nuclear non-proliferation regime is under stress, but not that sluggish nuclear disarmament is the cause. He saw disarmament as active and ongoing and the real threats as coming from new kinds of challenges — nuclear terrorism, illicit trafficking and black marketeers — that require multilateral responses. In this respect, no organization is better placed to act than the IAEA. Its confidence building role is unique.

He believed that the NPT should continue to be the cornerstone of nuclear non-proliferation efforts. All States should subscribe to additional protocols to safeguards agreements, which greatly enhance the IAEA's ability to detect undeclared nuclear material and activities. Such ability would be very important for the expected renaissance of nuclear energy. Although this renaissance has many positive aspects and should be welcomed, the IAEA safeguards system should be suitably equipped to respond to new demands and concepts, which could include international nuclear fuel cycle facilities. The time has come for ideas such as these, which should help to mitigate fears that the nuclear fuel cycle is becoming a tool of political pressure.

R. Ekéus shared the view that progress on nuclear non-proliferation depends largely on progress on nuclear disarmament. The Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty and the proposed Fissile Material Cut-off Treaty, robust verification, export controls and physical protection are important corollaries. These are also vital for addressing such potential threats as nuclear terrorism. In the area of verification, multilateral approaches continue to be the best option, whether treaty based or, in extreme cases such as Iraq in the early 1990s, prescribed by the United Nations Security Council. Unilateral measures lack symmetry and are not uniformly applied.

Y. Matsuo recalled that nuclear power is vital for Japan, with its limited natural resources, and described the development of Japan's extensive nuclear power programme. He outlined the history of safeguards inspections in Japan and its proven record of nuclear transparency, stating that its ongoing ambition is to be a model of nuclear non-proliferation. He also outlined future nuclear plans, in particular achieving full-scale operation of the Rokkasho reprocessing plant in 2007 and the expected startup of the JMOX mixed oxide fuel fabrication plant in 2012.

#### 2. TECHNICAL PLENARY

Elements of the opening themes were taken up or developed in the technical plenary. Presentations were made by A.M. Scheinman, Assistant Deputy Administrator for Nonproliferation and International Security, United States Department of Energy/National Nuclear Security Administration; L.J. Keen, President, Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission (CNSC); J. Carlson, Director General, Australian Safeguards and Non-Proliferation Office (ASNO) and Chairman of the Standing Advisory Group on Safeguards Implementation (SAGSI); L.A. Vinhas, International Relations Officer, Brazilian National Nuclear Energy Commission (CNEN) and Special Advisor to the CNEN President for Safeguards; A. Djaloeis, Special Advisor to the Chairman of the Nuclear Energy Regulatory Agency of Indonesia and Professor of Nuclear Physics, Andalas University, Padang, West Sumatra, Indonesia; and K. Murakami, Director, Operations Division C, Department of Safeguards, IAEA.

A.M. Scheinman addressed major challenges and opportunities for the IAEA safeguards system. Challenges have arisen from, inter alia, noncompliance with safeguards obligations by a small number of States, the spread of sensitive nuclear fuel cycle capabilities and the rising demand for nuclear energy as a carbon free source of power. To maintain confidence in the safeguards system, strategies are needed that will lower the risk of future

safeguards crises and allow the system to remain adaptable to a changing international environment. The goal of a stronger safeguards system should not be just to respond to crises but to help avoid crises. Safeguards enhancements should provide timely warning of non-compliance, that is, before domestic political decisions have been taken to obtain weapons or to acquire significant capabilities.

He urged all non-nuclear weapon States party to the NPT to bring a comprehensive safeguards agreement into force as required under the Treaty. The universal acceptance and implementation of the additional protocol to safeguards agreements should be pursued vigorously. This is supported by the President of the United States of America (USA). The USA is prepared to assist any State in this regard. The legislation providing for the USA to bring its additional protocol into force is currently before the US Congress and is expected to pass shortly.

Regarding the spread of sensitive nuclear fuel cycle capabilities, the USA proposes restricting the transfer of enrichment and reprocessing technology and equipment beyond those States already in possession of them. Suppliers should provide reliable fuel supply assurances. These issues are under discussion internationally. Looking to the rising demand for nuclear energy, the USA has proposed the Global Nuclear Energy Partnership (GNEP) as a comprehensive strategy to restructure the nuclear fuel cycle and introduce proliferation resistant fast reactor and fuel cycle technologies, using the most advanced international safeguards technologies and systems. GNEP facilities in the USA would be eligible for safeguards.

L.J. Keen presented the Canadian perspective on safeguards. She noted that the IAEA safeguards system has responded well to challenges and has acted as the effective early warning system that it was intended to be. The exit from the non-proliferation regime by the Democratic People's Republic of Korea has demonstrated how effective safeguards and verification are seen to be in detecting proliferation activity.

The main areas of importance for Canada are effectiveness, efficiency and transparency. Effectiveness requires information and access, and assures citizens of the exclusively peaceful uses of nuclear energy. Efficiency requires risk informed decisions for the sound allocation of resources and the early incorporation of proliferation resistance in design and construction, so that IAEA efforts can concentrate on where the risks are greatest. Openness and transparency include the public, and for the IAEA this includes its Member States since ultimately they control its activities and finances.

Canada received its broader safeguards conclusion<sup>1</sup> in 2005 and intends to maintain it. This will require continuous improvement in an era of rapid expansion of the nuclear industry. One problem foreseen is the adequate supply of qualified personnel, with the CNSC's resources growing at about 12%. The CNSC is looking at internal training programmes and internships.

J. Carlson discussed defining the IAEA safeguards mission. He noted that the IAEA safeguards system has operated for some 35 years, but that debate continues to arise over issues such as safeguards objectives, IAEA inspection authority and the nature and scope of safeguards conclusions. A shared understanding of the safeguards mission is essential.

IAEA safeguards are defined by relevant agreements and instruments and by the way the IAEA Board of Governors, the IAEA Secretariat and Member States apply them. The basic instruments governing safeguards include the IAEA Statute, the NPT, the model comprehensive safeguards agreement (as documented in INFCIRC/153 (Corrected)) and the Model Additional Protocol. The interrelationships of these instruments are critical, especially that between the NPT and the IAEA safeguards system. Under comprehensive safeguards agreements, safeguards measures focus on nuclear material. The IAEA's authority to investigate activities has been questioned, unless nuclear material is involved. However, Member States now expect soundly based IAEA conclusions on the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities to supplement conclusions on the non-diversion of declared nuclear material. Therefore, pursuant to the Model Additional Protocol, the IAEA has the ability to look at a broader range of information in order to detect indicators of undeclared nuclear material and activities in the State as a whole.

Other issues considered were the safeguards conclusions that the IAEA is able to draw and the required standard of proof for concluding that a nuclear programme is non-peaceful. In practice, it is difficult to establish that a nuclear programme is exclusively peaceful. The IAEA safeguards conclusion on the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities should be soundly based, but cannot be certain. (It is impossible to prove a negative.) In ambiguous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The IAEA draws the broader safeguards conclusion for a State based on a comprehensive evaluation of the results of its verification activities relevant to the safeguards agreement and additional protocol and of all safeguards relevant information available to it about the State's nuclear and nuclear related activities. Where the IAEA has found no indication of the diversion of declared nuclear material from peaceful nuclear activities and no indication of undeclared nuclear material or activities, the conclusion is drawn that all nuclear material remained in peaceful activities in the State.

situations, it is up to the Board of Governors and States to consider the implications. The Board can report to the United Nations Security Council if it is unable to verify that there has been no diversion of declared nuclear material to nuclear weapons or for purposes unknown.

L.A. Vinhas addressed the side effects of the safeguards measures adopted to strengthen the IAEA safeguards system. Recent measures, particularly those implemented under additional protocols, have focused on enhancing the effectiveness of the safeguards system — for example, more emphasis on design information verification procedures and on the policy relating to the 'starting point of safeguards' (defined as the point in the nuclear fuel cycle from which full safeguards requirements specified in comprehensive safeguards agreements start to apply to nuclear material). However, insufficient attention has been paid to assessing the costs and impacts of these safeguards measures on States and operators in terms of human and financial demands. Any additional requests for information should emphasize quality and relevance, rather than quantity. It is important that there be a proper balance between the implementation of safeguards on less relevant nuclear materials and installations and the costs involved.

Allowing for varying interpretations of requirements can involve 'constructive ambiguities', giving a wider range of approaches than one single interpretation. Diverging perspectives that are open to change and evolution are necessary in changing circumstances.

A. Djaloeis addressed safeguards challenges from the point of view of a developing country. IAEA safeguards are vital for stopping the proliferation of nuclear weapons, as stipulated in the NPT. However, success depends on the willingness of States to sign the NPT, to conclude a comprehensive safeguards agreement and an additional protocol with the IAEA, and to cooperate with the IAEA in safeguards implementation.

The history of nuclear energy, from the weapons use in 1945 and especially the Atoms for Peace speech of 1953, led to the foundation of the IAEA in 1957 and has led to the development of peaceful nuclear applications. The NPT included provisions that have not been followed up on, especially the disarmament provision.<sup>2</sup> This continues to cause animosity among States party to the NPT who have made non-proliferation commitments under the treaty and expect the nuclear weapons States to follow through on their commitments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pursuant to Article VI of the NPT, each party undertakes to pursue negotiations in good faith on effective measures relating to the cessation of the nuclear arms race at an early date and to nuclear disarmament, and on a treaty on general and complete disarmament under strict and effective international control.

The NPT review conferences have repeatedly emphasized that the nuclear weapon States are not disarming. In particular, the NPT review conference in 2000 laid down a supposedly agreed upon route to the elimination of nuclear weapons. Developing countries see this as an unfair divergence between developed countries and others. This issue strengthens the hand of those opposed to international cooperation and development.

K. Murakami addressed the IAEA's experiences with the implementation of the additional protocol to safeguards agreements and of integrated safeguards<sup>3</sup> in the Member States of the European Union (EU). The additional protocol for 13 non-nuclear weapon States and two nuclear weapon States of the EU entered into force on 30 April 2004. Eight of the newly acceded States of the EU have additional protocols in force, and three of the accession States have recently acceded to the safeguards agreement with EU Member States (as documented in INFCIRC/193). Furthermore, two States currently with an operative small quantities protocol (SQP) to their safeguards agreements<sup>4</sup> are expected to accede to INFCIRC/193.

The European Commission is party to these safeguards arrangements and participates in implementing the additional protocols in various ways. Ten of the EU Member States have delegated most safeguards responsibilities to the European Commission. The continuously evolving legal framework is a major challenge for the IAEA, which has devoted substantial resources to planning and implementing safeguards in the EU. The IAEA's goal is to be able to draw the broader safeguards conclusion for most of the EU Member States by 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Integrated safeguards represent the most effective and efficient combination of traditional and strengthened safeguards measures, including the measures under additional protocols. Integrated safeguards can only be implemented in a State that has a comprehensive safeguards agreement and an additional protocol in force or otherwise applied and for which the IAEA has been able to a draw the broader conclusion that all nuclear material remained in peaceful activities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Many States with comprehensive safeguards agreements in force but with little or no nuclear material have concluded an SQP, which holds in abeyance the implementation of most of the detailed safeguards procedures. In 2005, the IAEA Board of Governors decided that SQPs should remain part of the safeguards system but that the standard text of the model SQP would be modified and the criteria for eligibility changed. These modifications and changes have the effect of (i) making an SQP unavailable to a State with an existing or planned facility, (ii) requiring States to provide initial reports on nuclear material and notification as soon as a decision has been taken to construct or to authorize construction of a nuclear facility and (iii) allowing for IAEA inspections.

In addition, the preparation of revised cooperation arrangements for inspections is under way.

#### 3. TOPICAL SESSIONS

The following pertinent topics were addressed in presentations delivered at 18 sessions held in parallel:

- Current challenges to the safeguards system;
- Further strengthening safeguards practices and approaches;
- Improving the collection and analysis of safeguards information;
- Advances in safeguards techniques and technology;
- Future challenges.

#### 3.1. Current challenges to the safeguards system

Presentations in session 3 addressed the current challenges facing the international community with regard to nuclear proliferation and safeguards, and proposed methods, tools and programmes for coping with these challenges. Citing examples of challenges encountered in the past, it was suggested that we learn from our successes, implement evolving technology and strengthen existing political mechanisms. Emphasis was placed on the importance of strengthening the overall framework of safeguards - for example, by encouraging States to bring their additional protocols into force, by adopting the recent modifications to the standard text of the model SQP and by strengthening the overall fabric of the nuclear non-proliferation regime. A methodology was described that uses a broad array of new technologies and political science to help with the verification of treaty compliance. Some explanation was also given about the use of network models to help to identify potential pathways for the transfer of sensitive technology and thus eliminate or reduce such transfers. Touching on the education aspects of nuclear nonproliferation, a presentation covered recent developments in safeguards and non-proliferation curricula at Swedish universities.

In sum, the presenters identified steps that the international community could take to address current challenges, namely, (i) strengthen the agreements that are in place and bring all players, large and small, into the non-proliferation regime; (ii) learn from past successes and utilize appropriate technologies to ensure that the nuclear non-proliferation treaties already in force are adhered to and that future ones are verifiable; (iii) develop tools and methods to help to identify sources of clandestine transfers of sensitive nuclear technology and components; and (iv) foster greater awareness and understanding of safeguards and nuclear non-proliferation through education.

#### 3.2. Further strengthening safeguards practices and approaches

The five sessions of the symposium dedicated to this topic covered wide ranging experiences in implementing existing arrangements for 'traditional safeguards'; the implementation of strengthened safeguards measures, including those under integrated safeguards; and safeguards implementation at new, complex and/or future types of facilities and at spent fuel repositories.

In session 6, presenters placed emphasis on improvements in the effectiveness and efficiency of safeguards implementation that States expected to see, on new general criteria that should be taken into account and on new verification tools. Other presenters described their experiences and the difficulties encountered in applying safeguards at large plants affected by policy changes relating to the starting point of safeguards and by efforts to develop recommendations for evaluating the decommissioned status of light water reactors, research reactors and critical assemblies. A further presentation focused on developing safeguards measures for the final disposal of spent fuel. Although an encapsulation plant and an underground repository are still some years off, R&D work is advancing and safeguards considerations need to be addressed in a timely manner.

Session 9 included presentations on the implementation of short notice random inspections (SNRIs), including arrangements at a fuel fabrication plant in Spain, and on the development and implementation of integrated safeguards. Random inspection regimes were successfully introduced at power reactors in Japan in 2004 and at fuel fabrication plants in 2005. With the reduction of the frequency of SNRIs under integrated safeguards at Japanese low enriched uranium (LEU) fuel fabrication plants, one challenge facing operators is to continue to maintain the high quality of inspection support.

Progress on implementing integrated safeguards was reported for Japan and Canada, two States with large nuclear programmes. Key to the successes has been the active, ongoing involvement and cooperation among the IAEA, the relevant Governmental authorities and the facility operators. This was also the experience of the ESARDA Working Group on Integrated Safeguards, established to provide the European safeguards community with expert advice on this topic and to provide a forum for information exchange.

Presentations in session 12 covered experiences in implementing safeguards obligations, including but not limited to those under an additional protocol. Emphasis was placed on the critical importance of the unequivocal and legally binding non-proliferation commitments of States and on the role of

regional and State systems of accounting for and control of nuclear material (RSACs and SSACs, respectively), especially the interface with the IAEA. Such interaction was essential, not only for day-to-day safeguards implementation, but also for helping to identify the scope for enhanced effectiveness and efficiency. Importance was also attached to the training and other support that the IAEA could give States to help them meet their safeguards obligations.

Presentations in session 16 dealt variously with enrichment issues, developed against the backdrop of the hexapartite safeguards project (HSP) for commercial gas centrifuge enrichment plants. The HSP was conducted in the early 1980s to develop an approach for applying effective and efficient safeguards to commercial enrichment plants without compromising sensitive information. Clearly, the HSP approach was developed in a political and technological framework radically different from that associated with today's gas centrifuge enrichment plants. Consideration is being given to improving and modernizing safeguards implementation at these enrichment plants, especially with regard to attaining the safeguards objectives of the timely detection of the diversion of declared nuclear material and the detection of the undeclared production of high enriched uranium (HEU) and LEU. There was notable consistency among the several safeguards approaches presented at the symposium.

Session 18 included presentations on safeguards implementation at reprocessing plants and on the transfer of spent fuel to dry storage. The Rokkasho reprocessing plant in Japan has been an active safeguards task for the IAEA since the early 1990s and represents one of the IAEA's largest safeguards endeavours in terms of the quantity of safeguarded material, equipment costs and human resources. The IAEA initiated a continuous inspection regime in March 2006, as plant startup progressed to the process areas. As the RRP moves towards full-scale operation, expected in 2007, among the prerequisites for successful safeguards implementation will be good communication, coordination and cooperation among all parties involved. That was also true of the successful accomplishment, in 2003, of an improvement plan for the Tokai reprocessing plant in Japan, through which the effectiveness and efficiency of safeguards implementation have been increased.

An IAEA presentation introduced a new safeguards policy for the transfer of spent fuel to dry storage for States under integrated safeguards. It also described a safeguards approach for such transfers involving unannounced inspections to confirm the operator's declarations of spent fuel activities. The approach also covers maintaining continuity of knowledge during the transfer to dry storage through unannounced inspections, unattended instruments or continuous observation by inspectors.

Canada presented the integrated safeguards approach that it has proposed for transfers of spent fuel at multi-unit CANDU generating stations, developed under a Canadian support programme task and successfully fieldtested by the IAEA in 2004. Also presented were safeguards concepts for transfers of spent fuel from wet storage to on-site dry storage in Germany, where recent legislation had triggered the construction of on-site dry storage facilities at reactors. The safeguards concepts involve sealing, optical surveillance and radiation monitoring.

#### 3.3. Improving the collection and analysis of safeguards information

Presentations in sessions 4, 7 and 10 demonstrated that information collection, analysis and evaluation are central to modern, information driven safeguards. Although the information related methodology continues to evolve, challenges remain in areas related to data, tools, skills, methods, processes and resources. The IAEA Safeguards Information System Reengineering Project (IRP) is crucial to enabling the IAEA to transform diverse data into available, lasting knowledge. Sustained support is required for this multi-year project with a multi-million dollar price tag.

Presentations illustrated that the safeguards relevant information required from States has changed significantly since the early days of safeguards, giving rise to new challenges. Fresh approaches are being developed to address the accuracy and reliability of information, to enhance the quality of information obtained from States, to provide States with software support and to offer them training in performing quality control.

The IAEA has developed an integrated information portal to integrate web data, data streaming and visualization tools, and to provide easy access from almost any location. The European Commission recently overhauled its nuclear material accountancy system, which provides a common system for EU Member States and a common contact point with the IAEA. Brazil is developing a new State-wide nuclear material accountancy system that will link facility operators, State authorities, the Brazilian-Argentine Agency for Accounting and Control of Nuclear Materials (ABACC) and the IAEA in order to provide more reliability, security and efficiency. A presentation described the implementation of safeguards in Bangladesh, which is being carried out through the regulatory body of the Bangladesh Atomic Energy Commission.

Open sources of information are highly relevant to strengthened safeguards. Current research focuses on such challenges as the variety of formats in which information appears, on non-English language information sources, on 'grey literature' and on the filtering of duplicate information. The

indicators and signatures that guide searches and evaluations need to be kept up to date. Issues being addressed are information overload, open versus closed societies, continuous contextual awareness and responding to urgent information requests.

The IAEA is developing a tool ('n-VISION') to meet the needs of advanced information analysis. Major challenges are the large volume of information involved, distributed databases and the availability of specialized analytical resources. Speakers also reported progress in further developing and improving information systems, in training and in Member State commitments pertinent to safeguards relevant information. Note was taken that the IAEA is developing an improved system for analysing nuclear trade related data, which will take account of the varying information formats, languages, security needs and data storage in both structured and unstructured formats. The system will also provide user enhanced information extraction mechanisms, including visualization and analysis tools.

An overarching theme was that, both now and for the long term, the IAEA is committed to better, broader and deeper information collection and analyses of safeguards relevant information. Human expertise should continue to play an indispensable role in all these domains.

#### 3.4. Advances in safeguards techniques and technology

Presentations in sessions 5, 8, 11, 13, 14, 17, 19 and 20 addressed advances in safeguards techniques and technology. Strengthened safeguards have enabled a wide range of analytical sciences to make greater contributions to achieving safeguards objectives. The IAEA continues to benefit from technological progress in computing power and software, cost effectiveness, miniaturization and portability.

Clearly, environmental sampling has become a cornerstone of international safeguards. Improvements were reported in the high standards already achieved by the IAEA Network of Analytical Laboratories, located in Member States, and in further developing analytical techniques. These included multitechnique approaches that allow for several kinds of analysis to be carried out on a single particle, and evaluation methodologies such as cluster analysis that can be used to determine if particles in different samples have the same origin.

Other presenters discussed advances in safeguards equipment. The next generation of unattended and remote monitoring equipment, and also containment and surveillance devices, will have enhanced integrity and authenticity against high threat levels (e.g. through secure tamper indicating enclosures and devices) and also additional instrument functionality (e.g. location stamped information). The development of laser surface technology

for item authentication, using a low cost scanning laser to rapidly read the equivalent of a natural 'fingerprint' on the surface of any item, was reported as a breakthrough in security technology with potential application to safeguards.

There were reports on the development of improved verification techniques for enrichment plants and plutonium handling facilities. These include a laser item identification system that continuously tracks the flow of  $UF_6$  cylinders around an enrichment facility and 'intelligent' data evaluation packages that integrate the network of verification and monitoring systems used at reprocessing plants. Such systems will require the highest levels of reliability.

Commercially available satellite imagery is increasingly being used in safeguards implementation. Enhancements were reported through object based analysis and the use of thermal infrared and hyperspectral imagery. Note was also taken of the potential for better interpretive aids for the detection, classification and monitoring of nuclear facilities and for automation of analysis.

In the area of destructive analysis (DA), development work is directed towards obtaining more information on the nature and history of samples through the analysis of characteristic parameters (e.g. impurities, isotope abundance, microstructure). It was noted that the analysis of microparticles requires highly skilled analysts and state-of-the-art equipment. In particular, the analysis of metallic impurities in nuclear material could provide more information about the history of a sample. For data interpretation, the further development of databases containing parameters from materials originating from known processes is vital.

Speakers described advances in non-destructive assay (NDA) methods and advanced verification tools. Examples were given of advanced verification tools for spent fuel in wet storage, including the digital Cerenkov viewing device (DCVD) and the safeguards MOX python (SMOPY) that can distinguish between spent mixed oxide (MOX) fuel and spent LEU fuel and confirm burnup. Improved NDA equipment can help the IAEA with regard to complementary access and in investigations related to illicit trafficking in nuclear material.

The Novel Technologies Project provides a mechanism to help the IAEA to identify innovative technologies with potential application to safeguards. A promising example is optical stimulation luminescence, which would use the radioluminescent qualities of building materials to identify locations where radioactive materials have been stored.

#### **3.5.** Future challenges

Looking to the future, presentations in session 15 addressed how the international community might support the expanded, peaceful uses of nuclear energy, consistent with non-proliferation objectives. In this context, the main goals and benefits of the proposed GNEP were described, including how the concept could be applied to nuclear weapons States, in particular the USA. Such initiatives could have a fundamental impact on the future expansion of nuclear energy and would incorporate, by design, both reduced proliferation risk and enhanced verification ability. The role of the international community in such initiatives should be considered.

Still on the theme of proliferation resistance, the integration of pertinent features into the facility design at the prototype MONJU fast breeder reactor was described, including the use of real-time remote process and system monitoring. Another presentation discussed how the integration of proliferation resistance systems with facility designs might be analysed for vulnerabilities, noting that extrinsic features such as regulation and management controls are also required.

A presentation on clandestine procurement networks and trade in sensitive equipment and technologies suggested solutions to these phenomena, but acknowledged that there could be no complete guarantee of the absence of such clandestine activities. On this theme, the IAEA presented the goals and functions of the Nuclear Trade Analysis Unit (NUTRAN), located within the Department of Safeguards.

Good progress was also reported on the IAEA's implementation of a comprehensive quality management system (QMS) in the Department of Safeguards, based on the ISO 9001:2000 standard. The process approach being followed under the departmental QMS will contribute to soundly based safeguards conclusions and thus to credible assurances to the international community that States are complying with their safeguards obligations.

#### 4. CLOSING PLENARY

The closing plenary of the symposium (session 21) included presentations by J. Carlson, in his capacity as Chairman of SAGSI; J. Cooley, Director of the Department of Safeguards, Division of Concepts and Planning, at the IAEA; and R. Schenkel, Director General, Joint Research Centre of the European Commission. Closing remarks were given by O. Heinonen, Deputy Director General, Head, Department of Safeguards, IAEA.

J. Carlson presented the SAGSI perspective on the 'safeguards revolution' of recent years, a term he emphasized was not an exaggeration. SAGSI supports moving away from traditional safeguards implementation towards State level integrated safeguards approaches tailored to individual States.

The broadening of available verification measures, including activities directed at detecting undeclared nuclear material and activities, requires greater adaptability at the implementation level. Efficiencies can be achieved in routine inspection by optimizing the use of skilled inspectors for those activities of greatest verification value. Reducing inspections should not be an aim in itself, and SAGSI underscores the essential contribution of inspector presence and observational skills to safeguards effectiveness. SAGSI recommended for further study the unpredictable, occasional use of intensive inspections are needed, and the building up of a group of specialist inspectors who would be drawn upon to supplement routine inspection activities.

J. Cooley reviewed the evolution of the strengthened safeguards system, including the new legal authority under the additional protocol; the expanded technological capabilities such as environmental sampling, satellite imagery and remote monitoring; the vital importance of broader information collection and analysis; and the role of State level approaches to safeguards implementation and integrated safeguards.

Current challenges to safeguards implementation being addressed include implementing additional protocols in a rapidly increasing number of States, drawing the broader safeguards conclusion and moving to integrated safeguards for additional States, and safeguarding large, complex facilities. Actions by the international community to further strengthen the safeguards system could include the conclusion and implementation of comprehensive safeguards agreements by all non-nuclear weapon States, the full implementation by States of all existing safeguards obligations under safeguards agreements and additional protocols, the fulfilment by States of their voluntary reporting commitments, the modification of existing SQPs in line with the Board's 2005 decision, and the conclusion and implementation of additional protocols by all States. She stressed that safeguards maintains an essential forward looking momentum, with the aim of being able to meet all future challenges.

R. Schenkel presented his perception of the highlights of the symposium. There was consistent recognition that the nuclear non-proliferation regime is at a crossroads but that the IAEA safeguards system has shown the capacity to react and adapt when confronted with challenges and should continue to do so. In the changed political and non-proliferation landscape of our times,

multilateral approaches and robust verification mechanisms are crucial to the resolution of nuclear proliferation related problems. It was widely accepted that the additional protocol, together with a comprehensive safeguards agreement, should become the verification standard under the NPT.

With the expected future expansion of nuclear energy, safeguards must 'stay ahead of the game' through a combination of traditional and strengthened safeguards and verification activities, technological development and appropriate training. Perhaps the most challenging task is to develop and maintain highly qualified and motivated inspectors and analysts who can cope with the new challenges of an information driven safeguards system.

O. Heinonen agreed that the non-proliferation regime is being tested and has to stay ahead of the major trends related to nuclear non-proliferation - notably, the increased dissemination of nuclear technology, the desire of a few States to acquire nuclear weapons technology and the existence of clandestine procurement networks. Key priorities are:

- Implementation of new safeguards approaches;
- Optimization of safeguards technology;
- Pursuit of novel technologies;
- Enhancement of environmental sampling and satellite imagery capabilities;
- Intensified information collection and analysis;
- Maintenance of an efficient and secure information infrastructure.

He stressed the importance for the IAEA of the continued support and engagement of its Member States and the safeguards community. He noted that the symposium had been an excellent contribution to these ends and thanked all those involved.

## **OPENING PLENARY**

(Session 1)

### Chairperson

**O. HEINONEN** IAEA

**Technical Secretary** 

**J. HILLERMAN** IAEA

#### ADDRESSING VERIFICATION CHALLENGES

#### M. ElBaradei

Director General, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna

It is my pleasure to welcome you to our tenth major safeguards symposium, held in cooperation with the Institute of Nuclear Materials Management and the European Safeguards Research and Development Association. Our last symposium was held in October 2001, and I am sure you are all aware of the many changes that have taken place since that time and the new challenges that we are facing.

Safeguards activities are probably the most difficult task entrusted to an international organization. To determine all the details of a country's nuclear programme is a daunting challenge that raises a number of questions: What level of assurance do you need? How do you draw assessments from the facts? How do you distinguish between technical data and future intentions? These are difficult issues that we have been grappling with, particularly in the past few years.

We are seeing an increase in nuclear power around the globe as a result of shortages of energy and concerns about energy independence and climate change. On the one hand, this is good, because without energy there is no hope for development, and nuclear energy can certainly play an important role in the lives of the 2.4 billion people who currently have no access to modern energy systems. On the other hand, it means that nuclear know-how and nuclear technology will continue to spread to more and more countries, and that there will be an increasing number of nuclear engineers, nuclear physicists and radio-chemists. The knowledge that is available can be applied for both peaceful and, unfortunately, non-peaceful purposes.

We are still investigating the clandestine network discovered a few years ago. While we now understand most of that network, we still have to determine exactly who received what, when and where. The fact that designs for centrifuges and possibly even weapons can be contained on a CD-ROM makes our challenge much more difficult. In my view, over reliance on export control is not a viable option.

We have also seen an increase in the number of countries interested in developing nuclear fuel cycle capabilities: sensitive fuel cycle activities, reprocessing and above all enrichment. In some cases, this makes economic sense. In

#### ELBARADEI

others, however, it seems that countries might be hedging their bets in order to have the know-how should they need to develop their own deterrence. This creates many new challenges for both the international community and the IAEA, because verifying enrichment or reprocessing facilities is quite difficult, and the so-called conversion time is extremely short. Thus, we are dealing with what I call 'virtual nuclear weapon States'.

An issue that I have been talking about for a number of years is the need to develop a new international or multinational approach to the fuel cycle in order to avoid a situation with nine nuclear weapon States and another 20 or 30 States having the capacity to develop nuclear weapons in a very short period of time.

Unfortunately, the political environment has not been very secure, and in the past decade or so there has been temptation for countries to develop nuclear weapons. We saw this in Iraq and in the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, and we have now seen a nuclear test in the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK). There seems to be a movement towards countries looking into the possibility of protecting themselves through nuclear weapons.

Why this is happening is obviously a different issue. What we need to remember is the linkage between nuclear disarmament and non-proliferation. Many articles have appeared recently discussing the existing situation, where some countries continue to rely on nuclear weapons, or even try to develop new weapons, while at the same time telling others that such weapons are not for them. The logic of this view is not clear.

Although a Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty has been developed, it has been shelved for the past ten years. Would a legally binding ban on testing have changed the behaviour of the DPRK? Perhaps.

It is also important to remember that safeguards activities, though fundamentally technical in nature, are carried out in a politically charged environment. Indeed, we have seen that verification activities might make the difference between war and peace. This puts the additional responsibility on our — and your — shoulders to make sure that we are providing the results of our verification activities as objectively and impartially as possible.

The security dimension — that is, nuclear terrorism — also presents a new challenge, because State systems of accounting for and control of nuclear material are no longer simply tools for safeguards, but now provide information relevant to physical protection as well.

Obviously, our job is to make sure that countries with comprehensive safeguards agreements are conducting all their nuclear activities exclusively for peaceful purposes. We are probably the only organization that must sit in judgement of its Member States. This relationship is sometimes difficult: although we rely on the financial and political support of Member States, we must stand our ground when necessary. Many of our activities aim at detecting possible undeclared activities, which was not really our focus before 1991, when we uncovered the Iraq programme, but is now a major part of our activities. While we must still be concerned with declared activities, particularly sensitive activities, our key challenge today is detecting possible undeclared activities. This requires that we look at whether we are receiving all the information we need. Unfortunately, in many respects we are not.

For example, we do not receive systematic information from the Nuclear Suppliers Group on exports and imports, which constitutes an obvious a gap in the system. Moreover, we do not always have all the access we need. Although the additional protocol does allow us increased access, such protocols are in force in only 78 of the over 180 countries that are party to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT). And that is nearly a decade after the model protocol was agreed. Without the protocol, as I have said, we are hampered in our ability to detect undeclared activities. To give you an example, right now in the Islamic Republic of Iran, without the protocol we cannot look into R&D activities that do not directly involve nuclear material, although R&D is very important for projecting Iranian capacity building.

Financial resources are another key issue. Our budget is only \$130 million, on the basis of which we are supposed to verify the nuclear activities of the entire world. For comparison, some \$1 billion reportedly was spent by the Iraq Survey Group in that country alone. Our budget, which is comparable with that of Vienna's police department, cannot provide us with the resources required to be independent, or to buy our own satellite monitoring imagery or crucial instrumentation for our inspections. Our laboratories here in Vienna still are not equipped for state-of-the-art analysis of environmental samples.

One of the new issues we are facing today arose in the Islamic Republic of Iran. If you are going to reconstruct the history of a programme that has been undeclared for 20 years, even the measures of the additional protocol are not sufficient. On the one hand, a country is fulfilling the legal dimensions of its safeguards agreement, but on the other hand, we cannot provide the required assurances to the international community. Hence we have been talking about the need for transparency measures in certain situations — for example, interviewing people and having access to documents. Such measures are not strictly required by the additional protocol, but without them we cannot move forward.

Another challenge arises when a country has already begun weaponization activities. How do we verify that weapons have been dismantled, weaponization structures have been destroyed and custody has been taken of weapon design information? We had that kind of involvement in South Africa.

#### ELBARADEI

Later came Iraq (although in Iraq we had a different mandate from the Security Council) and then the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya. And we will certainly face the question in the DPRK.

These are some of the issues that illustrate how important it is for the system to stay ahead of the game. Our focus is on a moving target. We cannot continue to operate on a business as usual basis, nor can we continue with mechanical or mechanistic operations. The safeguards structure is an important tool for peace and security.

We recently moved from a system based on facility verification to a State level safeguards approach. We have also introduced an integrated safeguards approach, which is more cost effective and enables us to provide better assurances. These assurances can never be absolute, both because of the limitations of the system and because of the political dimension. We do not engage in reading the future intentions of countries, because we are not equipped to do so and because future intentions can change. I mentioned the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, which a few years ago was considered to be a country with an undeclared programme. This is no longer the case: it is now regarded to be in compliance with its safeguards agreement.

How we can make sure that we have up-to-date information? Access is the key. Environmental sampling and satellite monitoring are extremely useful tools, but there is no substitute for being on the ground. We have seen how important this is in the many countries where we are physically present, doggedly asking questions until we understand what is really going on.

As I mentioned, environmental sampling and satellite monitoring are new tools that we are now using almost routinely. Moreover, we are continuing to work with you to develop new verification tools. Unfortunately, our modest financial resources require us to rely on Member States for the support programme. While ideally we would have our own programme, we are now taking the initiative and providing you with the specifications of what we need, rather than simply having you tell us what you have, as was the case in the past. Among the exciting and challenging new tools that we are looking at is wide area environmental sampling, which would help us in detecting undeclared activities. On-site sampling and analysis to determine the nature and history of relevant material would be a significant advance for us, as would improved analysis of particles from environmental sampling to derive with precision the history and nature of the material.

Each of the issues I have mentioned presents its own challenges, and I am sure that you will be discussing these issues in depth. We are here this week to explain some of our work to you. More importantly, however, we would like your input and ideas. Are we doing our job well? How can we improve? What do we need to do to make a better system? The large number of participants here is an indication of how much importance the international community attaches to safeguards activities.

Last year, the high level panel established by the UN Secretary-General referred to IAEA safeguards as an "extraordinary bargain". It was gratifying to hear how much we are credited with doing on our limited budget. The Norwegian Nobel Committee referred to our work as being of incalculable importance. Again, this is good to hear. But I always remind my colleagues that we cannot rest on our laurels, and that we must always remember that there is room for improvement. This is the real purpose of this symposium: to determine how we can continue to be effective and relevant, and a valuable instrument to help the international community deal with nuclear weapons proliferation.

I wish you success and a pleasant stay.

#### **OPENING STATEMENT**

#### N.-J. Nicholas

Vice President, Institute of Nuclear Materials Management, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, New Mexico, United States of America

I am delighted to be here representing the Institute of Nuclear Materials Management (INMM), which, along with the European Safeguards Research and Development Association, is cooperating with the IAEA to organize this international safeguards symposium. I know I can speak for everyone in the INMM in congratulating Director General ElBaradei and the entire IAEA for both their tremendous accomplishments and their much deserved recognition by the Nobel Committee. This is an extraordinary achievement, and one in which everyone who labours in the field of non-proliferation can take pride.

Today's security environment is marked by the end of the Cold War and terrorist attacks that have left deep scars in every part of the world. For the international community, working to stem the proliferation of nuclear weapons must rank among the highest priorities in this new environment. As developments in the Islamic Republic of Iran and the Democratic People's Republic of Korea demonstrate, the non-proliferation regime faces enormous pressures. These developments have been balanced by recent successes, notably the proliferation rollback in the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya. To meet current and future challenges, we must first understand the emerging threats, then develop new tools and verification techniques to strengthen the non-proliferation regime, and finally discover new approaches to problems that extend beyond the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons.

The INMM's purpose is to provide a global forum to explore and understand challenges to nuclear materials management in this changing environment. Member of the INMM spearhead advances in nuclear materials management and disseminate best practices in nuclear safeguards and security.

I am proud of the INMM's ongoing cooperation with the IAEA, and I hope to see many of you in Tucson, Arizona, at the next INMM Annual Meeting, to be held from 8 to 12 July 2007.

I am thrilled to be here during one of the events celebrating the 50th anniversary of the IAEA. I am looking forward to stimulating discussions this week. As we take up these heightened challenges to verification, I hope we can sharpen our focus more than ever on strengthening international safeguards.
# **DEVELOPING A NON-PROLIFERATION CULTURE**

# J. Joly

President, European Safeguards Research and Development Association, Nuclear Defense Expertise Division, Institut de radioprotection et de sûreté nucléaire, Fontenay-aux-Roses Cedex, France

## 1. INTRODUCTION

The European Safeguards Research and Development Association (ESARDA), which was created in the late 1960s, has been actively involved in developing and promoting safeguards for more than 35 years. We are therefore pleased to be cooperating with the IAEA and the Institute of Nuclear Materials Management in the organization of this symposium.

## 2. NON-PROLIFERATION CULTURE

I would like to propose the development of a 'non-proliferation culture' as a key principle. I define a non-proliferation culture as the characteristics and attitudes of organizations and individuals that: (i) relate to the protection against the diversion and theft of nuclear material and the provision of information about research and development related to the nuclear fuel cycle; and (ii) receive the attention warranted by their significance.

#### 3. UNIVERSAL FEATURES

The non-proliferation culture has three universal features: (i) policy commitments at the State level; (ii) the organizational framework and commitments; and (iii) the attitudes and behaviour of the staff members of these organizations. These aspects should be considered as a whole, and they should demonstrate transparency with respect to States' exclusively peaceful nuclear activities and contribute to establishing confidence among States and regions of the world.

## 3.1. State level commitments

Government legislation is the highest level at which a non-proliferation culture should be based, since it is the State that establishes non-proliferation policy. Comprehensive safeguards agreements, additional protocols and export controls on dual use goods are proactive contributions to non-proliferation. The State develops the legislative and regulatory framework, establishes a competent authority and clearly specifies responsibilities.

## 3.2. Organizational commitments

The second feature of a non-proliferation culture relates to the organizational framework and commitments. The high level policies of an organization determine the working environment and the attitudes and behaviour of individual staff members. In this context, organizations should make their responsibilities well known and understood through non-proliferation policy statements; they should set objectives, express management involvement and provide orientation to the staff regarding non-proliferation issues.

Managers have a specific role to play in this regard. They should establish practices in accordance with well defined policies and objectives, and identify responsibilities for defining and controlling working practices.

## 3.3. Individual behaviour and attitudes

The third feature of a non-proliferation culture concerns the staff members of an organization and their attitudes and behaviour relative to nonproliferation. For example, staff members should adopt a rigorous and careful approach to work and maintain constant vigilance and an interrogatory attitude.

#### 4. SYNERGIES

The cultures of nuclear non-proliferation, security and safety interface with one another and are mutually supportive. These cultures exhibit strong similarities: they are based on similar principles, similar types of organization are involved and each of these cultures requires commitments at both the State level and at the level of top management within organizations. While it is not possible to combine the cultures of non-proliferation, security and safety into one culture, they should coexist and be mutually supportive.

# 5. CONCLUSIONS

Synergy between the cultures of nuclear non-proliferation, security and safety should be developed. Each of these cultures represents a key principle and, as such, can help to establish confidence among States and regions of the world. To the public, these cultures should represent professionalism, competence and responsibility by all parties involved.

# STRENGTHENING SAFEGUARDS: A DEVELOPING COUNTRY PERSPECTIVE

## A.S. Minty

Deputy Director General, Ambassador and Special Representative for Disarmament and NEPAD, Department of Foreign Affairs, Pretoria, South Africa

It is indeed a pleasure for me to address this symposium on the important issue of international safeguards. My presentation today will provide a perspective from South Africa as a developing country and should not be interpreted as the definitive position of developing countries on the issue of safeguards. At the same time, it should also be noted that many academics, politicians, civil society formations as well as some governments in the developed world share the views and concerns of South Africa and other developing countries concerning these matters.

For all of us, and for developing countries in particular, the IAEA remains an important vehicle, in accordance with its objectives, presented in Article II of its Statute, to "seek to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world". At the same time, we recognize and accept that this potential contribution of atomic energy should not be used "in such a way as to further any military purpose".

It is therefore not surprising that the development of safeguards has been one of the central activities of the IAEA since its inception almost 50 years ago. I am sure that we would all agree that the most significant development in this area in the past half century has been the negotiation and adoption of the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) during the late 1960s and early 1970s, which brought about a new legal foundation for the implementation of safeguards by the IAEA in the States party to the Treaty.

Much progress has been made in the universalization of this treaty. However, 36 years after its entry into force, a number of States party to the NPT have yet to take the first basic step in concluding a comprehensive safeguards agreement with the IAEA, as required under Article III of the NPT. In addition, a few have also opted not to join the NPT.

Non-nuclear-weapon States party to the Treaty, the majority of which are developing countries, benefit from the NPT in two important ways. First, the threat posed by the further proliferation of nuclear weapons is constrained. Second, under Article IV of the NPT there is a promise of the promotion of

#### MINTY

nuclear energy for peaceful uses and of the transfer of technology, materials and equipment to those countries that could greatly benefit from its use. Many interpret Article IV to be about the promotion of nuclear power. This is certainly true, but the requirements for developing States are in many instances more basic — the peaceful use of nuclear energy in health, agriculture and industry has the potential to affect and improve the situations of millions of people. However, South Africa believes that this potential is underutilized and that the only sustainable way forward is to focus on transforming the budget procedure of the IAEA to incorporate the technical cooperation fund into the regular budget and to enlarge its allocation.

There is increasing concern, especially among developing countries, at the growing resort to unilateralism and unilaterally imposed prescriptions. For all of us, multilateralism and multilaterally agreed solutions, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, provide the only sustainable method of addressing disarmament and international security issues. In this regard, developing countries believe that the multilateral mechanism established by the IAEA is the most appropriate way to address verification and safeguards issues and challenges.

Developing countries have consistently emphasized that the IAEA is the sole competent authority in the field of nuclear safeguards and verification. It is therefore our duty to fully support the IAEA in fulfilling this mandate. South Africa attaches great importance to the role, authority, impartiality and integrity of the IAEA and would not wish to do anything that would reduce or undermine its solemn responsibilities. We believe it is imperative that the IAEA be permitted to undertake its verification work without undue pressure, hindrance or interference of any kind.

Notwithstanding the view of some that the IAEA's budget should reflect zero real growth, we have the shared responsibility to ensure that we allocate sufficient resources to enable the IAEA to implement its ever increasing safeguards mandate. As this is a shared responsibility, we should not resort to voluntary funding of safeguards and related activities, as doing so could diminish our collective approach to safeguards and impact on the multilateral nature of the IAEA.

Developing countries believe that the basic and inalienable right of all States to develop research, production and use of atomic energy for peaceful purposes should be without any discrimination and in conformity with their respective legal obligations. Therefore, nothing should be interpreted in such a way as to inhibit or restrict the right of States to develop atomic energy for peaceful purposes. Developing countries also believe that States' choices and decisions in the field of peaceful uses of nuclear technology and their fuel cycle policies must be respected. Just like developed countries, developing countries also have a sovereign right to make their own decisions consistent with their national priorities and interests.

In terms of exercising the inalienable right to the peaceful use of nuclear technology, States party to the NPT have undertaken to pursue nuclear programmes for peaceful purposes only, in conformity with their obligations under Articles I–III of the NPT. In verifying the non-diversion of nuclear energy from peaceful uses to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices, non-nuclear-weapon States must conclude INFCIRC/153 type safeguards agreements with the IAEA. It is the responsibility of the IAEA, as the competent authority, to verify, in accordance with these types of agreement, the fulfilment of the obligations assumed under the NPT by these State parties.

With the experience gained from the implementation of the safeguards system, we should be prepared, as in the past, to deal with all identified short-comings that place a constraint on the effective implementation of this system. In this regard, through the 'Programme 93 + 2' negotiations, we agreed to strengthened safeguards as a result of our experience with the IAEA's verification work undertaken in Iraq.

An Advisory Committee on Safeguards and Verification has been established by the Board of Governors to consider further improvements to increase the effectiveness and efficiency of the safeguards system. The mandate of this Committee provides us with an opportunity to evaluate and possibly agree on recommendations that could improve the safeguards system. We should all cooperate with the Chair of the Committee, Ambassador Taous Feroukhi, to enable the Committee to successfully conclude its work.

The focus of the IAEA's investigation is not to provide arguments or reasons for punitive actions to be taken. The focus is rather to facilitate a process whereby corrective action can be taken, within a reasonable time, to enable the IAEA to verify non-diversion.

The global non-proliferation and disarmament regime faced some serious challenges during the 1990s. The end of the Cold War and the revelations about the existence of secret nuclear weapons programmes and illicit procurement networks provided the drive for strengthening the IAEA's safeguards system. This acknowledgement of the limitations inherent in the traditional safeguards system led to an extensive review and strengthening of the system. We can therefore confirm that the IAEA, today, possesses greater capabilities to detect the diversion of nuclear materials to non-peaceful purposes and clandestine activities.

With regard to the assurance of non-diversion of nuclear material to military uses, developing countries have stated their strong conviction that the total elimination of nuclear weapons is the only absolute guarantee against the use or threat of use of nuclear weapons. This obvious truth does not seem to

#### MINTY

have an impact on the thinking of major nuclear-weapon States who, notwithstanding the agreement reached at the 2000 NPT Review Conference that unlinked general and complete disarmament from the elimination of nuclear weapons and that specifically provided a road map to eliminate these weapons, have since continued to insist on retaining a role for nuclear weapons in their military doctrine. This position is wrong and dangerous. Indeed, it is this position that is creating a serious crisis for the NPT. It is also undermining the strengthened review process that we all agreed to in 1995 in exchange for the indefinite extension of the NPT.

South Africa's position on the mutually reinforcing processes of nuclear non-proliferation and nuclear disarmament is widely documented and shared by developing countries. The total elimination of all nuclear weapons is our common objective, and therefore the issues of nuclear disarmament and nuclear non-proliferation are inextricably linked to each other. Our concerted efforts to prevent the proliferation of nuclear weapons should be matched by a concurrent effort to eliminate, in a verifiable and irreversible manner, all nuclear weapons and to achieve universal adherence to the NPT.

South Africa recognizes and supports the legitimate right of all States to utilize the atom for peaceful purposes. At the same time, we are of the view that having capabilities that could also be utilized to develop nuclear weapons places on those States concerned a special responsibility to build confidence with the international community that would remove any concerns about nuclear weapons proliferation. South Africa believes that such States need to ensure that the IAEA is able to verify that these capabilities are being used for peaceful purposes only, including through the mechanisms available under the additional protocol for strengthened safeguards.

In our view, the additional protocol remains an important instrument to build confidence and to provide assurances regarding the continued peaceful application of nuclear energy.

South Africa therefore strongly supports universal adherence to IAEA safeguards agreements. South Africa not only destroyed the nuclear explosive devices developed by the previous government and closed its dedicated facilities, but also gave the IAEA free access to information, materials, facilities and staff on an 'any time, any place' basis, which is more than is legally required under the additional protocol. South Africa further participated in the scheme approved by the IAEA Board of Governors in 1993 for the voluntary reporting of the export and import of specified equipment and non-nuclear material, similar to that which was later provided for in Annex II of the additional protocol.

The additional protocol signed by South Africa on 13 September 2002 has indeed placed an extra burden on the country in terms of the comprehensive information to be submitted and kept up to date. This is quite an onerous obligation to discharge. However, South Africa believes that this additional burden is far outweighed by the advantages in terms of strengthening the goals of nuclear disarmament and nuclear non-proliferation.

For many developing countries, particularly those with very limited or no nuclear facilities, the added burden of implementing a protocol additional to their safeguards agreements is indeed a complicating factor that needs to be carefully considered by this symposium. A central question in this regard is whether the additional burdens that may be imposed through the strengthened safeguards system are commensurate with the potential non-proliferation benefits that can be derived from it and proportional to the country's nuclear capabilities and the potential threat of diversion to non-peaceful activities.

The illicit transfer of nuclear and nuclear related dual use technology and materials that could be used in the development of weapons of mass destruction remains of serious concern to the international community and poses a serious threat to the nuclear non-proliferation regime. Delegates may be aware that the South African Government, in cooperation with other countries and the IAEA, undertook an investigation with regard to the contravention of South Africa's Non-Proliferation of Weapons of Mass Destruction Act, 1993 (Act No. 87 of 1993) and Nuclear Energy Act, 1999 (Act No. 46 of 1999). These investigations were undertaken in the context of the so-called Khan network, as well as information obtained following the announcement by the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya of the abandonment of its nuclear weapons programme. As a result of these investigations, a number of individuals have been arrested and charged with contravening South African legislation by importing, exporting, possessing and producing certain controlled items without the necessary permits or authorization.

During the course of our investigations, shipping containers were found at one company containing components of a centrifuge uranium enrichment plant, as well as related documentation. These containers were sealed by the South African Police Services and transported to a secure site, where they were also placed under IAEA seals. The investigation has been concluded, and the matter is currently before the courts.

The experience of the illicit trade in nuclear technology to manufacture nuclear weapons presents a serious challenge to the NPT, as the Director General reminded us at that time. It is of course important to tighten controls over nuclear material, technologies and equipment to prevent nuclear weapons proliferation and illicit trafficking. However, experience has shown that no control regime, no matter how comprehensive, can fully guarantee against abuse. The success of such controls remains dependent on the following:

- Information sharing and cooperation among the relevant parties;
- Information sharing and cooperation with the IAEA by all parties.

This does not mean, however, that we should not continue to focus on and improve controls and legislation governing nuclear material, equipment and technology. But critical in this context are the issues of penalties for contravening such legislation and the unequal treatment of offenders in different countries. We need to initiate a process to work towards the harmonization of our respective penal clauses to ensure a more universal and consistent approach that is commensurate with the nature and scale of the offence.

At the same time, our investigations have illustrated the great and indispensable value of the IAEA in terms of verifying our own assessment, securing the relevant equipment and supporting documentation, and providing support to the investigative process.

It is important to focus on the capacity to detect illicit activities as well as the necessary investigations. This capability is not reflected in the formal legislation or regulations but relies on the availability of resources as well as training. This requires the necessary political will and prioritization, which normally emanates from multilateral discussions and negotiations, which can often be a long process. Like democracy within countries, it creates a holistic democratic and inclusive global society.

In conclusion, what we should strive for is not to place further limitations on the peaceful application of the atom by those who have already committed themselves not to pursue the nuclear weapons option.

Exactly a year ago, the Nobel Committee in Oslo awarded the Nobel Peace Prize to Dr. Mohamed ElBaradei and to the IAEA. We rejoiced at the time, but we also recognized the importance of the award for the work of the IAEA and the integrity and professionalism of its Director General.

Recently, we concluded the 50th Regular Session of the IAEA General Conference, inspired by the original concept of 'atoms for peace'. Our challenge now is to realize a world with 'atoms only for peace'.

# THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION AND THE GLOBAL VERIFICATION CHALLENGE

# A. Piebalgs Commissioner for Energy, European Commission, Brussels

First and foremost, let me thank the organizers for giving me the opportunity to address you here today. Permit me also to wish the IAEA a happy 50th anniversary on behalf of the Euratom Community, which will celebrate its own 50th anniversary next year. The Euratom Community was founded by the European Atomic Energy Treaty, more commonly known as the Euratom Treaty, which is one of the founding treaties of the European Union (EU). Its Preamble calls upon the Community to associate other countries with its work and to cooperate with international organizations concerned with the peaceful development of nuclear energy. Almost 50 years on, this sentiment remains as apt now as it was then.

## 1. INTRODUCTION

The IAEA and the Euratom Community have several objectives in common, among which are the promotion of research, the dissemination of technical information, the establishment of safety standards to protect the health and safety of workers and the general public, and, of particular relevance to this symposium, the safeguarding of nuclear materials. I hope that you would agree with me that these subjects remain topical today.

In fact, the current geopolitical situation in the energy field resembles that which existed when the Euratom Treaty and the IAEA's Statute were being drafted. The issue of security of energy supplies is once again high on the agenda. We are witnessing an international race to secure energy supplies. The EU and the many States that share the EU's concerns have embarked upon reviews of their energy mixes. The development of low carbon energy sources, the adoption of new energy technologies and the improvement of older technologies could all contribute to the mitigation of existing concerns. In this context, the European Commission recently published a Green Paper intended to provoke a far reaching debate in Europe on energy generation and energy needs.

#### PIEBALGS

Having provided you with a brief overview of the current energy situation, I will move on to examine the role of the Euratom Community in meeting future energy challenges, first at the European level and then at the international level, with an emphasis on the importance of international cooperation. I will then focus on cooperation between the IAEA and the Euratom Community, before addressing safeguards and the broader issues of nuclear security and nuclear non-proliferation.

## 2. NUCLEAR DEVELOPMENT IN EUROPE

Today, nuclear energy produces one third of the EU's electricity. However, nuclear energy can only supply a greater part of Europe's - and the world's - energy demand if concerns relating to safety, security and non-proliferation can be satisfactorily addressed.

One key element of our policy is the safe closure and decommissioning of reactors that are at the end of their operating lives, or that cannot be upgraded to an appropriate level of safety. The Commission intends to publish a recommendation to the Member States of the EU to ensure that sufficient funding is available for the safe and secure decommissioning of such reactors.

The EU enlargement of 2004 was accompanied by an agreement supported financially by the Community for the early shutdown of less reliable plants, such as in Slovakia with the closure of two units in Bohunice, and in Lithuania with the shutdown of Ignalina. Bulgaria, a future EU Member State, has also taken on reactor closure commitments for Kozloduy during the negotiation of its Treaty of Accession.

The sustainable management of radioactive waste and spent fuel forms another key element of our policy, which responds to the public's concerns about the management of nuclear waste. The Euratom Community, in collaboration with industry, is developing a broad approach to the scientific and technical challenges posed by the management of long-lived, high level waste and spent fuel.

The Euratom Treaty provides the framework for legislation on radiation protection in the EU, chiefly through the Directive on basic safety standards, the next update and strengthening of which is in the process of being prepared by the Commission for 2007. I would also like to report that the political commitment made with regard to the IAEA Code of Conduct on the Safety and Security of Radioactive Sources has been translated into European law by the Directive on the control of high activity sealed sources, enacted in 2005.

#### **OPENING PLENARY**

# 3. EURATOM INTERNATIONALLY

The drafters of the Euratom Treaty recognized that the Euratom Community would be an actor on the international stage and accordingly included provisions that have allowed the Community to become a party to many international agreements. Today I would like to highlight our status in some of the IAEA's major conventions. Euratom is party to both of the major international conventions on nuclear safety — the Convention on Nuclear Safety and the Joint Convention on the Safety of Spent Fuel Management and on the Safety of Radioactive Waste Management. In addition, Euratom will shortly accede to the Convention on Early Notification of a Nuclear Accident and to the Convention on Assistance in the Case of a Nuclear Accident or Radiological Emergency.

The Euratom Community has also been party to the Generation IV International Forum since 2003. This year, Euratom acceded to the Framework Agreement for International Collaboration on Research and Development of Generation IV Nuclear Energy Systems, and the Commission's Joint Research Centre was designated as the implementing agent. Let me also express the European Commission's strong appreciation of the constructive role that the IAEA has played in support of the international fusion research project ITER.

The Community's assistance programmes have long provided practical support for nuclear safety and security in third countries. For well over a decade, the Commission has financed improvements to nuclear safety in the candidate states and the new Member States via its Phare programme. In the wider neighbourhood, during the same period, the Commission has allocated €1300 million to the upgrading of nuclear safety and security in the newly independent states via the TACIS programme. The new external assistance instruments being prepared for the financial period 2007–2013 will continue to support such projects.

#### 4. TECHNICAL COOPERATION WITH THE IAEA

The Commission has a long history of fruitful technical cooperation with the IAEA; this cooperation ought to be maintained or even strengthened wherever international efforts need consolidation. Indeed, in the very near future the IAEA and the European Commission may agree to a sort of charter outlining areas where their cooperation can be enhanced as well as the means for achieving this goal.

The Commission is active in the technical standards committees dealing with the transport of radioactive material, nuclear safety, radioactive waste and

#### PIEBALGS

radioprotection, and is studying the possibility of co-sponsorship of the document proposed by the IAEA setting out the fundamental principles underpinning these four areas. The European Commission is also particularly active in the ongoing review of the Basic Safety Standards.

In the area of safeguards R&D, I believe that I can state without fear of contradiction that the IAEA is very satisfied with the assistance that it receives from the Commission's programme of nuclear safeguards support. The other main beneficiary of this programme is the Commission's own safeguards inspectorate. In fact, much of the support provided to the IAEA under the programme was first pioneered within the EU, where Euratom has long safeguarded the full nuclear fuel cycle. I hope that this cooperation will continue in a way that allows the IAEA inspectors and the Commission's own safeguards inspectors to derive the maximum benefit from it.

# 5. SAFEGUARDS

I have briefly sketched out the contours of the working relationship that exists between the IAEA and the Euratom Community to provide a better perspective on the closest part of the relationship — nuclear safeguards.

Let me also place Euratom safeguards and IAEA safeguards in the European Community in a historical perspective. The Euratom Treaty and the IAEA Statute were drafted around the same time; therefore, it is not altogether surprising to find similarities between the two, not least in the field of safeguards. The Euratom Treaty entered into force on 1 January 1958, and its system of safeguards inspections, executed by inspectors from the Commission, was up and running by 1960. The Commission thus possesses almost 50 years of practical experience in conducting safeguards inspections, across the full nuclear fuel cycle. Euratom safeguards per se have a twofold objective: the Commission shall satisfy itself that civil nuclear materials are not diverted from their intended uses and it shall satisfy itself that obligations assumed by the Community with a third state or international organization are complied with. This twofold objective, though not identical to the IAEA's objectives, also contributes to their achievement.

The Community's safeguards relationship with the IAEA began nearly 30 years ago in 1977, when the Community's Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) safeguards agreement entered into force. As with all NPT safeguards agreements, the State system of accountancy and control - in Euratom's case, the existing supranational system of accountancy and control - and the IAEA are assigned their respective roles by the agreement.

Of course, during the time that Euratom and the IAEA have been working together, one or the other partner has desired, on occasion, to modify its way of working; however, after discussion it has always proved possible to continue working together in an effective partnership. Having carried out safeguards activities for nearly 50 years, it is only natural that the Commission from time to time should seek to adapt its safeguards practices to the prevailing political and technical climate. Indeed, the Commission is currently engaged in an extensive consultation process with the EU Member States and the IAEA with a view to updating the implementation of Euratom safeguards.

Safeguards cooperation with the IAEA has been very fruitful for many years. Building on the complementarities between the two institutions, the Commission intends to further strengthen such cooperation. In this context, I very much welcome the recent intensification of high level contacts between the IAEA and the European Commission, which should result in a substantial strengthening of cooperation between the institutions. I have noted that a technical meeting is also being held in the margins of this symposium with the same purpose. This closer cooperation will be carried out in a spirit of partnership, respecting the existing legal constraints while increasing the effectiveness of our actions.

The EU considers that comprehensive safeguards agreements together with additional protocols constitute the current worldwide verification standard. Within the EU, the additional protocol is in force in all 25 Member States. In addition to the declarations required under the NPT Safeguards Agreement and its additional protocol, the Commission and the Member States also volunteer information outside this legal framework. All this is testament to the EU's commitment to providing guarantees that civil nuclear material is not diverted to military purposes. We are also keenly aware that new proliferation challenges have emerged since the advent of the additional protocol, and therefore the Commission closely follows and fully supports the deliberations of the IAEA's Advisory Committee on Safeguards and Verification.

The primary task facing Euratom and the IAEA is discussing, agreeing on and managing the next stage of our relationship — the implementation of integrated safeguards. Since they started submitting the declarations under the additional protocol, the European Commission and the EU Member States have been doing their utmost to provide the IAEA with access to locations and with the information it needs to be able to satisfy itself of the absence of undeclared materials and activities.

#### PIEBALGS

## 6. THE BROADER PROLIFERATION CHALLENGE

All of us gathered together in this room know very well that safeguards are only one weapon in the armoury for fighting the spread of nuclear explosives. Effective physical protection is another indispensable weapon. Euratom is a party to the Convention on the Physical Protection of Nuclear Material. We believe its recent amendment represents a major strengthening of the international provisions in the area, and I can assure you that the Commission and the Member States of the EU are working on rapidly acceding to it.

Nuclear export controls present an essential barrier to the spread of sensitive nuclear equipment and technologies to those who would cheat on their international non-proliferation commitments. The Commission sets the legislative framework for export controls in the Community and is currently working to update this legislation to increase its effectiveness and to comply with the latest international measures, including those in UN Security Council resolution 1540.

Countries with rapidly rising energy needs cannot be denied responsible access to nuclear energy. How can newly emerging nuclear countries be assisted while ensuring that the transferred nuclear materials, equipment and know-how are used exclusively for peaceful purposes? The Commission has a keen interest in this question owing to its extensive competencies in relation to supply of nuclear material. It thanks the Director General for having organized the recent special session on the subject and looks forward to further elaboration of some of the initiatives presented there. Nevertheless, the Commission recalls that these initiatives should not distort market mechanisms and should allow EU Member States to respect the Euratom Treaty.

The Commission appreciates the IAEA's activities aimed at combating illicit trafficking in nuclear and radioactive materials, including the International Catalogue of Sealed Radioactive Sources and Devices, or Source Catalogue, to which it is pleased to have been able to contribute technically. Illicit trafficking is a global problem, and the Illicit Trafficking Database represents the best means of understanding the true extent of the problem. We are also pleased that the IAEA is associating itself with international collaboration in the field of nuclear forensics. The Commission also wonders whether an international database of the characteristics of nuclear materials, analogous to the Source Catalogue, combined with a new international norm requiring producers to feed the database could constitute a new area for consolidating international efforts in this area.

#### **OPENING PLENARY**

# 7. CONCLUDING REMARKS

In conclusion, the Commission believes that any expansion of nuclear energy in the world needs to be accompanied by a strengthening of the global regimes addressing safety, security and non-proliferation, adding new elements whenever new challenges arise. For its part, the Commission stands ready to shoulder its share of the load.

I would like to close by thanking you for your attention, recalling that the European Commission is fully committed to significantly strengthening its cooperation with the IAEA and will remain fully supportive of any initiative the IAEA takes to render nuclear energy safer, more secure and more acceptable to the public at large. With this in mind, I wish you a fruitful exchange of views during the remainder of this symposium.

# THE ISSUE OF FURTHER STRENGTHENING IAEA SAFEGUARDS ACTIVITIES

#### S.I. Kislyak

Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Russian Federation, Moscow, Russian Federation

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I would like to thank you for the invitation to address this timely forum. We look forward to the benefits to be derived from discussions at the technical and political levels that will take place during this symposium. In particular, we welcome new ideas, creative thinking and possibly new proposals on how to address the challenges we all face. In my brief presentation, I would like to focus on existing challenges, rather than offer ready-made solutions, since no State can claim to have a 'magic wand' and the ability to formulate a panacea for all problems.

We have entered the 21st century with the nuclear non-proliferation regime (and the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) on which it is based) under stress. The regime has been challenged both politically and physically. The issue of the lack of full compliance by States with their safeguards obligations has been looming. Much of the discussion of nuclear non-proliferation issues has been politicized and, as far as we are concerned, sometimes overly politicized. In his presentation, Ambassador Minty addressed the views of a number of countries on the so-called decoupling of nuclear disarmament from the non-proliferation issue. Looking at the issue from the perspective of authorities in Moscow, we do not view this in the same way, since, even as we speak, nuclear disarmament is taking place and armaments are being destroyed, especially in my country. Certainly more could be done, but these issues should be discussed at forums other than this symposium, which offers opportunities to focus on ensuring that all States that have made non-proliferation commitments fully comply with these commitments.

New challenges are emerging, such as the threat of nuclear materials and nuclear weapons falling into the hands of terrorists. This challenge could not have been predicted some three decades ago when the NPT was evolving. But the terrorist threat is now very real. Therefore, the issues of how to secure, verify and account for the nuclear materials circulating worldwide are becoming more and more crucial. In this context, the IAEA has a unique role to play, because no State can act alone. Multilateral approaches are the only

#### KISLYAK

way to succeed. We need to keep in mind that those engaged in illicit trafficking and other illicit activities related to nuclear materials and radioactive sources are trying to exploit the dynamics of globalization and are doing so much faster than governments are able to come to grips with the problems and to cooperate in curtailing these illicit activities and preventing future ones. In this context, we acknowledge the IAEA's activities in addressing illicit trafficking issues, which are interrelated with its safeguards activities.

We are also facing a relatively new challenge associated with the black market. Illicit trafficking in nuclear materials and nuclear technologies has become a real trend. The IAEA is doing a good job of trying to better understand the phenomenon and how to combat this trade. However, apart from the non-proliferation verification activities, the scale of these problems is such that we need multilateral approaches and multilateral preparations. The IAEA (and no other organization) is best suited to address these issues.

We believe that the NPT should be the cornerstone of all future efforts. The Treaty provides the legal and structural basis for implementing all the steps needed to combat 'traditional' non-proliferation challenges as well as new challenges. There has been much discussion, especially in academia, about doomsday scenarios for the NPT within the next few years. We take exception to this, because the choice we have to make is simple: either we actively build upon the NPT and the verification system it has created, or we all face degradation of predictability and security in the world. Should there be a lack of controllability with respect to a political–military situation, this could lead to the use of force involving, say, a nuclear weapon or some other instrument of choice to deal with these problems. We believe that the choice of building up the NPT is the only one available for the world community to follow.

Let me now turn to the unique role of the IAEA. The IAEA cannot act as a policeman; it can only help all the States party to the NPT to establish 'confidence building measures' — notably, safeguards agreements and additional protocols that States enter into voluntarily. By showing that it has nothing to hide, a State helps to increase predictability and reliability and to engender trust in what it is doing today or what it plans to do in the future. The Russian Federation, as a State and as the current Chair of the G-8, is working together with other G-8 States to make the non-proliferation commitments made pursuant to safeguards agreements and additional protocols the universally accepted norm worldwide. To date, 78 States have acceded to the additional protocol. But while this is a significant number, it is not sufficient. We are working with many States to help in this regard, but often the approaches adopted by the non-nuclear-weapon States are overly politicized on these issues. There are sometimes linkages that are not warranted by realities on the ground. We understand that the IAEA faces financial problems and that it requires additional resources. The individual States that have placed their nuclear installations under the IAEA safeguards and that have opened up their nuclear activities for verification measures under the additional protocol also incur significant financial burdens. But we believe that, overall, any such burden is a small price to pay for securing economic and social development through the provision of reliable nuclear energy. At the same time, when there is a lack of transparency, there are concerns about States' compliance with their commitments under the NPT. The cooperation with States where there are open issues should not be curtailed, and efforts should be made to resolve these issues. We think there is no alternative today to this approach. Nobody has invented a safeguards system for today and for the future. We are all serious about developing nuclear energy worldwide.

One of the central issues discussed at the recent St. Petersburg summit of the G-8 was energy security. Nuclear energy was an important topic in these discussions. It was agreed that fossil fuels are exhaustible and that nuclear energy will be a source of development for many States, developed and developing. Therefore, the use of nuclear energy is likely to increase over the next few decades. Currently, nuclear power is generating energy in more than 30 States; over the next 20 or 30 years, that figure could double or even triple. The question is, Is the IAEA safeguards system ready for that level of expansion? As members of the United Nations and of the IAEA, what are we, as States, doing to help the IAEA to meet current challenges and to prepare for future challenges?

A key issue to be considered is that over the period 2020–2040 there could be 800–900 reactors in operation, rather than the approximately 400 reactors that are under the safeguards system today. The Director General has spoken on the issue of resources, and it is important that the Member States address this issue. The IAEA must have the resources to conduct the verification activities that Member States want it to, and new approaches are therefore needed to address this issue. There are various options. One such option has been dealt with here at this symposium — namely, implementation of integrated safeguards, which can help the IAEA to reduce expenditures.

A second option relates to the use of future, advanced technologies. What kinds of reactor should be phased in over the next 10–20 years? We need to focus on those reactors that would provide more security and fewer proliferation risks, and that are 'safeguards friendly'. The IAEA is exploring several possible developments, including the proposal from my country regarding future reactors. In this context, we hope that the requirements for safeguarding new generations of nuclear reactors will be a prime focus of discussion at this symposium.

#### KISLYAK

There is yet another important issue that concerns not only future nuclear energy development but also the role of the IAEA safeguards system relative to nuclear fuel cycle technologies. Currently, there is debate of political importance concerning the issue of uranium enrichment which is being discussed at the IAEA. When looking at the world and trying to forecast the nuclear energy structure of the next few years, we see that many States have a desire for independent nuclear fuel cycle capabilities. Why? One possible explanation is that often there is a lack of certainty that fuel will be available when needed, and that it is essential to ensure that the supply of fuel does not become an instrument of political pressure. These arguments are often advanced regarding the wisdom of developing nuclear fuel cycle capabilities throughout the world. We think that a much better approach can be developed, and in this context we are grateful to Dr. ElBaradei, who initiated discussion of this issue several years ago. This is not a particularly new discussion; it began at the IAEA some 20 years ago with the International Nuclear Fuel Cycle Evaluation (INFCE) programme that, among other things, analysed the nuclear fuel cycle from the point of view of non-proliferation. But maybe the international approach is something that one can adopt now. The time has come for careful consideration of these ideas.

As far as the Russian Federation is concerned, we are willing to play a pioneering role in this field. The President of the Russian Federation has proposed the creation of a multilateral fuel cycle centre in the country. We have already selected a site in Angarsk, where we are ready to build a multilateral centre that would be open to States interested in obtaining enrichment services. Implementation would not be a simple task. There are a number of financial, legal and practical organizational matters to be discussed, one of which is verification. From the outset, it was decided that the centre would be entirely under IAEA safeguards, and we hope that the IAEA will help us to develop this concept more fully. Several States have already expressed an interest in working with us on this issue, and we hope that this will be a future trend for developing nuclear fuel cycle services. We are not asking for a monopoly, nor are we are calling for a monopoly. We are offering a centre that would provide multilateral approaches, in order to ensure that fuel services would be available to interested States on a non-politicized basis. We are looking to the IAEA for assistance as the sole multilateral body concerned with nuclear energy.

To sum up, we envisage the future renaissance of nuclear energy worldwide; this will be healthy for the environment. The Russian Federation is among those States that would support safe, predictable and reliable cooperation in this field. At the same time, the expansion of nuclear energy will bring new challenges to the IAEA, because the further development of nuclear energy requires the concurrent development of a predictable and reliable IAEA safeguards system to help ensure that nuclear energy is being used exclusively for peaceful purposes. These issues need to be addressed, and we are looking forward to the discussions during this symposium. The Russian Federation will certainly continue to assist in the IAEA's safeguards efforts, particularly through the provision of the services of our laboratories and training courses.

# MULTILATERAL VERIFICATION: A WORKING REMEDY FOR PROLIFERATION

## R. Ekéus

Chairman, Governing Board, Stockholm International Peace Research Institute, Solna

All parties to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) have undertaken not to provide fissionable material to any non-nuclearweapon State (NNWS), unless the material is subject to IAEA safeguards. From the outset in 1970, the safeguards, which constitute a form of verification, were designed based on the understanding that all NNWSs party to the NPT were entering the Treaty with the best of intentions. Thus it was taken for granted that no State having signed and ratified the NPT would try to circumvent the basic provisions of the Treaty, whether as a recipient or provider of nuclear material. Accordingly, the verification system (i.e. the safeguards provisions) was designed to build confidence and to be carried out under the presumption of innocence. Not even US President Ronald Reagan's cautionary dictum "Trust, but verify" applied fully during these early years, although it was recognized that the two notions were mutually reinforcing.

The strengthening of the idea and principles of non-proliferation was initially promoted in essential harmony and progressed rapidly during the 1970s and 1980s, with France and China joining the NPT, and well into the 1990s, after the dissolution of the Soviet Union. During most of the 1970s and 1980s, and even up until the indefinite extension of the NPT in 1995, the differences among the participating States primarily concerned the matter of vertical proliferation, in other words, the implementation of Article VI. Non-nuclear-weapon States, especially among the non-aligned countries, expressed concern and disappointment about the development of new weapons and the slow pace of nuclear arms reduction as carried out by the nuclear-weapon States (NWSs). Even States outside the NPT — India and Pakistan — underlined the discrepancies between the rights and duties of the NWSs and those of the NNWSs as a rationale for not joining the Treaty.

# 1. THE CASE OF IRAQ AND SECURITY COUNCIL ENGAGEMENT

The relative harmony and confidence in the practice and safeguarding of the commitment not to proliferate broke down when it became known in 1991 that Iraq, a State party to the NPT and hitherto a country in good standing with the safeguard regime, had violated its commitments under the Treaty over a number of years. The IAEA, with its credibility shaken, reacted with commendable speed by quickly developing the Model Additional Protocol. This must be counted as a considerable achievement. Iraq's action had demonstrated a basic flaw of the NPT: without formally violating the provisions, a NNWS could acquire fissionable material and, under the umbrella of credibility provided by NPT membership, assemble sensitive components for a nuclear weapon in order to exercise its formal right to withdraw from the Treaty and to emerge with a nuclear weapons capability. The Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK) has taken this route, and there are those who fear that the Islamic Republic of Iran may follow in these footsteps.

Following Iraq's aggression against Kuwait in 1991, the Security Council adopted resolution 687 (1991), which constituted the provisions for the ceasefire between Iraq and the international coalition for the liberation of Kuwait led by the United States of America. This resolution and the follow-up resolutions, especially resolutions 707 and 715, created the framework for a new set of verification arrangements of unprecedented sharpness and precision to be carried out by the United Nations Special Commission (UNSCOM) and the IAEA. Resolution 1284 (1999), establishing the United Nations Monitoring, Verification and Inspection Commission (UNMOVIC), further enhanced the rights of the international weapons inspectors. It can be argued that, with the combined IAEA/UNSCOM/UNMOVIC verification regime, optimal verification of compliance with the disarmament and non-proliferation obligations of States has been achieved.

Last spring the US investigation of Iraq's weapons of mass destruction (WMD) programme, carried out by the Iraq Survey Group, reached the conclusion that, in essence, all prohibited WMD and related items had been identified and eliminated under the control of UNSCOM and the IAEA during the period from 1991 to 1998. In the political turmoil following the publication of this report, especially the indignation and criticism directed against the US administration for having overstated the WMD threat prior to the conflict in Iraq in 2003, the good news was generally overlooked, namely, that the United Nations attained a near 100 per cent success rate in its task after the liberation of Kuwait, with the complete disarmament of Iraq and the establishment of a watertight monitoring system.

#### **OPENING PLENARY**

# 2. VERIFICATION OF IRAQ'S COMPLIANCE

According to the disarmament plan outlined by the Security Council, Iraq was obliged to declare all its holdings of WMD and related items, including production and research facilities. It fell upon UNSCOM and the IAEA to verify the correctness of the declarations. However, from the outset, Iraq did not declare in full its holdings. In response, the weapons inspectors developed methods and techniques to detect and identify the reality behind the smokescreen of false and misleading declarations, a task made more difficult as the Iraqi regime chose to block and harass the inspectors. The Security Council responded by providing the inspectors with additional rights and intrusive authority (inter alia, Security Council resolution 707 (1991)). Thus the original task of the inspectors, to verify Iraq's declarations and inspect *declared* assets, had to be expanded to an investigation, search and detection mode with a focus on undeclared activities and facilities. This constituted a challenge to Iraq's sovereignty. The Council addressed that problem by limiting the authority of designation of undeclared sites to UNSCOM, a subsidiary organ of the Council, thus stressing the technical and non-political character of the IAEA inspections.

Because of repeated efforts by the Iraqi authorities to hide capabilities, the United Nations inspectors had to make use of a wider range of verification tools than normally applied. Among the verification methods applied in Iraq were investigation of banking documents and other documentary evidence to identify the money trail concerning the procurement of prohibited items and names of foreign suppliers, a tailor-made export–import mechanism, a mobilized international network of high quality laboratories, and access to high resolution satellite and aerial surveillance imagery through U-2 high altitude reconnaissance aircraft as well as close range photographs from helicopters, both of which had been put at the disposal of United Nations inspectors.

Efforts by the Iraqi authorities to block or deny the inspectors access to designated sites were overcome through reactions by the Security Council in statements warning of "serious consequences", commonly understand as direct military action. The frequency of Iraqi challenges decreased when UNSCOM introduced modalities for immediate unconditional and unrestricted access for inspectors while taking into account legitimate Iraqi concerns for its sovereignty and security.

# 3. TREATY BASED VERIFICATION

Iraq is an example of verification and compliance measures imposed by the Security Council. Such measures are designed to respond to the specific character of a given situation. In contrast, treaty based verification and monitoring provisions (as in the Chemical Weapons Convention, the Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty (CTBT) and, of course, the NPT) are intended to give all parties to a treaty equal treatment. Treaty verification aims at creating a level playing field in treaty compliance bodies. Dialogue, consultation, clarification/baseline inspections, routine monitoring inspections, challenge inspections and fact finding missions are tools of a treaty executive body, ultimately supported by the final option of referring serious instances of non-compliance to the Security Council for enforcement. Thus the compliance structure of disarmament treaties covers the whole political spectrum from cooperative verification to the adversarial mode of verification imposed by the Security Council, as in the case of Iraq.

For a State that has concluded that it has no interest in acquiring nuclear weapons, it is natural to join the NPT, both to strengthen the general principle of non-acquisition and to encourage other State parties to stay with the Treaty and those States that are not party to the Treaty to join it. This is also an element of the efforts aimed at strengthening the idea of non-proliferation as an international norm with an impact also outside the Treaty membership. The purpose of the accompanying safeguards agreements, in this context, is to enable State parties to make judgements about compliance with Treaty provisions and to create confidence in the principles reflected in the Treaty. This implies, however, that if there were a violation of the Treaty and the nonproliferation regime, as we now have experienced in the case of the DPRK, it could have ripple effects, especially in the regions concerned. This could weaken the trust in and support for the regime. The examples of the DPRK and the network of A.Q. Khan demonstrate that States or State authorities can be major proliferators. The economy of the DPRK has all the characteristics of that of a failed State. This means that the normal controls are not in place and cannot function, and as such a government is unwilling or unable to prevent the misuse of its facilities or of territory under its jurisdiction. Regarding the DPRK, it is difficult to see how any verification system other than one developed on the basis of the UNSCOM/IAEA model in Iraq could be effective.

#### **OPENING PLENARY**

# 4. NON-STATE ACTORS, PROLIFERATION AND NON-TREATY NORMS

Multilateral arms control treaties are increasingly being supplemented and supported by other measures. These measures generally lack symmetry, reciprocity and universal participation. However, they are responses to new developments in the security environment, such as the actions taken by Iraq, mentioned previously, and more recently by the DPRK. A major recent concern relates to the emergence of new non-State actors. International terrorism has moved from narrowly defined targeting to existential attack aiming at massive destruction. Nuclear weapons would be ideal in this respect - the ultimate instrument for mass terrorism. Terrorists have no return address, and deterrence is not effective against suicidal threats. When fighting terrorism involving WMD, a primary concern must be achieving selective denial of access to technologies and materials that could be used by non-State groups for acts of mass terrorism. Failed or rogue States may allow terrorists to acquire nuclear weapons. However, it is also possible that in other countries with lax control, nuclear weapons such as sub-strategic or tactical weapons, or major components thereof could be bought or stolen. Crude nuclear designs may be partly accessible in the open literature and on the Internet or bought from a network like that of A.Q. Khan. There may even be a possible market for nuclear weapons scientists and technicians who are without gainful employment. However, even if the design elements can be assembled by a terrorist network, the acquisition of fissile material would constitute a major obstacle in the acquisition of nuclear weapons. It is difficult to imagine that even a well-funded terrorist organization would be able to set up a centrifuge enrichment facility without the help of government structures. Terrorists would have to search for possible material, preferably highly enriched uranium, on the black market. Thus the defence against nuclear terrorism must begin with the protection of nuclear weapons and materials in every country and every facility that has them. Substantive strengthening of the non-proliferation regime could be achieved by setting restrictions on the acquisition of the nuclear fuel cycle. Instead, arrangements guaranteeing the reliable supply of fuel to civil nuclear reactors must be made. As a board member of the Nuclear Threat Initiative (NTI), I would like in this context to remind you of NTI's offer in support of Director General ElBaradei's proposal of an independent, non-discriminatory nuclear fuel bank to be run by the IAEA. This would help to ensure that civilian nuclear energy programmes could not be exploited for military purposes. Also, States that are not party to the NPT should undertake the same obligations as all the members of the Nuclear Suppliers Group, namely, to restrict deliveries of all weapons sensitive material.

With its resolution 1540 (2004), the Security Council has created a normative umbrella over these policies by deciding that all States should refrain from providing any form of support to non-State actors that attempt to develop, acquire or use WMD and related means of their delivery. However, the resolution is not supported by verification arrangements and mechanisms for evaluating the effectiveness of States' measures or for helping States to implement their obligations, such as monitoring and controlling sensitive technologies, materials and equipment within their territories. This reflects the insistence by many States that denial of access to dual use technology should only be sought when the technology concerned is very likely to be misapplied.

# 5. ARTICLE VI AND DISARMAMENT

It must not be overlooked that for the general health of the nonproliferation regime, the many restrictions undertaken by or imposed on the NNWSs through the NPT should be matched with respect to the NWSs. Little could be more harmful to the regime than if NWSs such as China, the Russian Federation or the United States of America were to make real plans for the development, production and deployment of new types of nuclear weapon. Maintaining a moratorium on nuclear testing is therefore indispensable. A return to treaty based arms control should not be delayed. First of all, and increasingly urgent, is the entering into force of the CTBT, where a US initiative in the form of ratification would be indispensable. The United States of America could also reduce the strain imposed on the non-proliferation regime by its proposed strategic nuclear partnership agreement with India by insisting that India sign and ratify the CTBT.

Leadership by the NWSs is missing regarding the concrete negotiations in the Conference on Disarmament aiming at the conclusion of a Fissile Material Cut-off Treaty (FMCT).

Such a return to treaty based efforts to strengthen the policies and principles of non-proliferation through the careful application of verification measures would be sustainable and restore trust in verified non-proliferation within the international community, making it possible to stop the march towards the weaponization of civil nuclear technology, a technology much in demand as a remedy to energy insecurity and the supposed coming era of global warming.

# JAPANESE INDUSTRY'S COOPERATION WITH IAEA SAFEGUARDS

## T. Ito

Executive Vice President, Chubu Electric Power Co. Nagoya

## Y. Matsuo

Managing Director, Japan Nuclear Fuel Limited Tokyo

Japan

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Japan experienced two atomic bomb attacks — at Hiroshima and Nagasaki — at the end of World War II. On the one hand, Japan is a country that understands the disastrous effects of atomic bombs to be a matter of the greatest importance. On the other hand, not long after the bombings, Japan became aware of the huge potential of nuclear energy.

In 1955, Japan began nuclear research and development (R&D) activities. In the same year, the Atomic Energy Basic Law was concluded, which limits all research to peaceful purposes only.

In the early stages of its nuclear programme, Japan imported technologies and materials from Canada, France, the United Kingdom and the United States of America. Japan accepted IAEA safeguards inspections under the bilateral cooperation agreements set up with each country.

Today, under the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT), Japan receives the strengthened safeguards on all nuclear facilities based on the comprehensive safeguards agreement and the additional protocol. The civil nuclear industries — such as utility companies, nuclear fuel manufacturing companies and nuclear fuel cycle operators, such as Japan Nuclear Fuel Limited (JNFL) — completely accept the strengthened safeguards. At the same time, they cooperate towards more effective safeguards application. We are confident that Japan's record of the peaceful use of nuclear energy could be a model for the IAEA's intended goals.

This paper briefly summarizes the history and the current status of the use of nuclear energy in Japan in conjunction with the IAEA safeguards system.



FIG. 1. Nuclear power generation since 1970.

## 2. JAPAN'S NUCLEAR POWER PROGRAMME

## 2.1. History of nuclear power in Japan

In 1955, Japan began R&D activities aimed at the peaceful use of nuclear power. The research, development and utilization of nuclear science and engineering are strictly limited to peaceful purposes by the Atomic Energy Basic Law of Japan.

In 1966, Japan's first commercial nuclear power plant — the Tokai-1 (GCR), imported from the United Kingdom — began operation. Today, 55 commercial nuclear power plants are in operation, with a total generating capacity of 49.58 GW(e). Nuclear power supplies about 30% of the country's total electricity demand. Japan also has various research reactors, such as JRR-3, JRR-4, JMTR, HTTR, JOYO and MONJU.

#### 2.2. Increase of nuclear power generation

Figure 1 shows the increase of nuclear power generation since 1970.

# 2.3. Nuclear power plants in Japan

Figure 2 shows the locations of nuclear power plants in Japan. All of the plants are located on the coast.

#### **OPENING PLENARY**



FIG. 2. Nuclear power plants in Japan.

# 2.4. Energy self-sufficiency of countries

Figure 3 shows the energy self-sufficiency of selected countries around the world.

## 2.5. Japan's greenhouse gas emissions

Figure 4 shows Japan's Kyoto Protocol target for 2008–2012: the target is a 6% reduction of the base emissions in 1990.

## 2.6. Forthcoming LWRs

Two nuclear power plants based on light water reactors (LWRs) are under construction, totalling 2.285 GW(e). Another four plants are being reviewed by the regulatory authority, totalling 5.844 GW(e). An additional seven nuclear power plants are planned, totalling 9.101 GW(e).



FIG. 3. Energy self-sufficiency of selected countries.



## 3. JAPANESE PLUTONIUM RECYCLING

## 3.1. Nuclear programme based on recycling

As Japan is short of domestic energy resources, its nuclear power programme has been based on plutonium recycling. More than 7000 t of spent



FIG. 5. LWR spent fuel scheduled to be reprocessed.

fuel has been sent to Europe for reprocessing. Approximately 1000 t of spent fuel has been reprocessed at the Tokai reprocessing facility. At Rokkasho, a commercial reprocessing plant with a rated capacity of 800 t/a, tests using actual spent fuel have begun.

# **3.2. LWR spent fuel to be reprocessed**

Figure 5 shows the LWR spent fuel that is scheduled to be reprocessed.

# 3.3. JNFL reprocessing plant

The JNFL reprocessing plant at Rokkasho has a capacity of 800 t U/a (with spent fuel storage of 3000 t U). Its construction costs were approximately \$19.9 billion (2.19 trillion yen). No separate pure plutonium exists at the plant (PuO<sub>2</sub> is recovered as a mixture with UO<sub>2</sub>). Figure 6 illustrates the process used at the Rokkasho reprocessing plant.

# 3.4. Master plan of test operation of the reprocessing plant

Figure 7 shows the master plan of the test operation of the JNFL reprocessing plant at Rokkasho.
#### ITO and MATSUO



FIG. 6. Process used at the Rokkasho reprocessing plant.



(\*) Construction was started in Apr. 1993.

FIG. 7. Master plan of test operation of the Rokkasho reprocessing plant.

## 3.5. JNFL mixed oxide fuel plant

A commercial mixed oxide (MOX) fuel plant to serve Japanese electric power companies, with a maximum capacity of 130 t HM/a, is planned. The fuel plant will be located adjacent to the Rokkasho reprocessing plant. The MOX



FIG. 8. Process outline of the JNFL MOX fuel plant.



FIG. 9. Plutonium balance in Japan.

powder is to be transferred through an underground tunnel from the reprocessing plant to the MOX plant. The MOX plant has been undergoing a safety evaluation by the regulatory authority since April 2005. The start of operation is planned for April 2012. Figure 8 illustrates the process to be used at the MOX plant.

# 3.6. Total scheme of plutonium balance in Japan

Figure 9 illustrates the plutonium balance in Japan.

#### ITO and MATSUO

# 4. APPLICATION OF THE IAEA INTEGRATED SAFEGUARDS SYSTEM IN JAPAN

## 4.1. History of safeguards in Japan

The first IAEA inspections of Japan's nuclear research reactors and facilities took place in 1964. In 1976, Japan ratified the NPT, and one year later Japan and the IAEA concluded a comprehensive safeguards agreement under the NPT. In 1999, the additional protocol took effect in Japan. In 2004, the integrated safeguards system was applied at those of Japan's LWRs without MOX fuel and at spent fuel storage facilities, research reactors and critical assemblies. In 2005, this system was expanded to include LWRs with MOX fuel and low enriched uranium fuel fabrication facilities.

## 4.2. Integrated safeguards for Japan

The integrated safeguards for Japan include the provision of information concerning 250 facilities and 5000 accountancy reports. The safeguards are based on the additional protocol and include complementary access and broader access.

The safeguards conclusion for 2005 was as follows:

- All nuclear material in Japan was being used for peaceful activities.
- There was no indication of undeclared nuclear material or activities.
- There was no indication of undeclared production/processing of nuclear material at declared facilities.
- There was no indication of diversion of declared nuclear material.

# 5. IAEA SAFEGUARDS TECHNOLOGIES APPLIED AT THE ROKKASHO REPROCESSING PLANT

For Japan to be internationally recognized to reprocess the spent fuel and to reuse the recovered plutonium as MOX fuel in reactors, these activities should be verified as being for peaceful purposes only.

## 5.1. Transparency

'Full scope' IAEA safeguards have been applied at the plant. These were validated by the IAEA during plant construction: the IAEA confirmed that the plant was constructed in accordance with the design documents. The plant has



FIG. 10. On-site laboratory with mass spectrometry. (Photo courtesy of the Nuclear Material Control Centre.)

24 h/d inspection by resident IAEA inspectors. Inspectors independently collect and evaluate the operator's data regarding plutonium and are given access to all parts of the plant for inspections. The IAEA conducts independent analysis using the on-site laboratory (see Fig. 10).

## 5.2. Safeguards measures

The following state-of-the-art safeguards technologies are applied at the JNFL reprocessing plant:

- A solution measurement and monitoring system (SMMS) that uses liquid levels, densities and temperatures in the tanks;
- A plutonium inventory measurement system (PIMS) that detects neutrons emitted by plutonium powder;
- A non-destructive assay (NDA) system: a waste crate assay system (WCAS), the Rokkasho hulls monitor system (RHMS) and a vitrified canister assay system (VCAS);
- Integrated containment and surveillance (C/S), with monitoring by cameras and radiation detectors;
- An on-site laboratory used by inspectorate analysts for sample analyses (e.g. mass spectrometry).

## 5.3. Japanese fast breeder reactor design

The fast breeder reactor (FBR) design used in Japan has the following characteristics:

- -1.5 GW(e) with only two loops;
- Reactor vessel and building smaller than that of MONJU;
- Na-cooled MOX fuel;
- -12 Cr steel for shorter piping;
- Intermediate heat exchanger (IHX) combined with primary pump;
- Double tube steam generator (SG);
- Oxide dispersion strengthened (ODS) ferrite steel cladding for high burn-up;
- Demonstration with smaller size in 2025;
- Feedback from MONJU and JOYO;
- More competitive than advanced LWRs.

# 5.4. Japanese fast breeder reactor cycle design

The operation of the FBR should be well coordinated with the fuel cycle design. Advanced and simplified aqueous reprocessing and fuel manufacturing technologies with higher proliferation resistance include:

- Aqueous method based;
- Crystallization for uranium recovery;
- Simultaneous extraction of uranium, plutonium and neptunium;
- Lower DF without purification;
- Recovery of MA for burning in the FBR core;
- Uranium to plutonium content ratio adjusted in the nitric acid;
- MA added to the MOX pellet;
- More economically competitive than PUREX for LWRs.

# 6. CONCLUDING REMARKS

From the viewpoints of energy security and the prevention of global warming, the peaceful use of nuclear power has been and will continue to be very important. The nuclear fuel cycle is crucial to maintaining Japan's nuclear power generation. Regarding nuclear non-proliferation, transparency is critical for Japan's fuel cycle. We are aiming to be a model of the peaceful use of nuclear technologies.

#### **OPENING PLENARY**

To date, a large number of research projects have been conducted and considerable financial and human resources have been invested to develop the very effective safeguards system and non-proliferation technology. Today the results of these efforts are applied at the Rokkasho reprocessing plant. The IAEA's experience in applying a safeguards system at a large scale nuclear fuel cycle business in Japan would be helpful and instrumental to the future practices in the world.

# TECHNICAL PLENARY

(Session 2)

Chairperson

J. COOLEY IAEA

**Technical Secretary** 

**A. HADFIELD** IAEA

# INTERNATIONAL SAFEGUARDS: CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

#### A.M. Scheinman

Assistant Deputy Administrator for Nonproliferation and International Security, Department of Energy/National Nuclear Security Administration, Washington, D.C., United States of America

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Good afternoon and thank you for the introduction. I would like to use my time today to discuss challenges to the IAEA safeguards system and actions that the United States of America is taking to help address them. The challenges arise from: (i) safeguards non-compliance by a handful of States, (ii) the spread of sensitive nuclear fuel cycle capabilities and (iii) the rising demand for nuclear energy as a carbon free source of power.

In considering international safeguards against these challenges, we should be guided by at least two goals: to pursue strategies that lower the risk of a future safeguards failure and to preserve the ability to adapt safeguards to a changing international environment. Meeting these goals is essential if we are to retain confidence in the safeguards system over the next half century. I will address each challenge.

### 2. SAFEGUARDS NON-COMPLIANCE

The vast majority of States abide by their safeguards commitments. A few States have not. Clearly, improvements to the IAEA's ability to uncover safeguards violations must be a priority. The additional protocol to safeguards agreements serves a critical purpose in this regard, and its universal acceptance and full implementation should be pursued vigorously. This goal was given expression by US President George W. Bush in his 11 February 2004 speech to the National Defense University, and it is shared by the IAEA Director General and many others represented here today.

President Bush also called for a new IAEA committee to "strengthen the capability of the IAEA to ensure that nations comply with their international obligations". We are encouraged by the Board of Governors' decision to

#### SCHEINMAN

establish such a committee and welcome the opportunity it provides to recommend safeguards enhancements.

As a broad goal, we should aim for a culture of compliance. Those States party to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) that have not done so should bring into force a comprehensive safeguards agreement as required under the Treaty. The additional protocol should be universally applied. The United States of America is prepared to assist any State in this regard.

## 3. THE SPREAD OF SENSITIVE FUEL CYCLE CAPABILITIES

In his 2004 speech to the National Defense University, President Bush also called on the international community to take effective action to guard against the possibility that States party to the NPT could acquire and put sensitive fuel cycle facilities to illegitimate use. This challenge is almost as old as the nuclear age itself. Facilities for enriching uranium or reprocessing spent fuel can be used for weapons. To address this concern, the United States of America proposes restricting transfers of enrichment and reprocessing technology and equipment beyond those States already in possession of them. For States that decide not to pursue enrichment and reprocessing, the United States of America proposes that suppliers provide reliable fuel assurances.

These recommendations are under discussion internationally, for example, in the Nuclear Suppliers Group, the Group of Eight (G8), and at the IAEA, including the recent IAEA Special Event on assurances of supply and non-proliferation held in Vienna. It is noteworthy that all the fuel assurance proposals on the table address concerns over the uncontrolled spread of enrichment and reprocessing capabilities. Each presumes and seeks to enable an expansion of the use of nuclear power worldwide.

#### 4. NUCLEAR ENERGY RENAISSANCE AND SAFEGUARDS

Nuclear energy is the most mature non-fossil technology capable of generating power on a scale needed to sustain global economic growth. But in a world of increasing nuclear energy use, the risks of its misuse could increase with it.

To facilitate nuclear energy's renaissance, the United States of America proposes the Global Nuclear Energy Partnership (GNEP), which is a comprehensive strategy to restructure the fuel cycle. It is designed to reduce proliferation risks in the nuclear fuel cycle by introducing new, proliferation resistant fast reactor and fuel cycle technologies and by consolidating spent fuel and reducing stocks of separated civil plutonium. The GNEP also proposes new small and medium sized reactors tailored for the electricity grids of developing economies and made robust against nuclear terrorism, as well as a framework for fuel supply and spent fuel take back as an alternative to the high cost of producing and managing the disposition of nuclear fuel. Among the stated goals of the GNEP are the development and deployment of the most advanced international safeguards technologies and systems. We recognize that investments in this area are needed and likely overdue.

The GNEP can help to catalyze this investment in safeguards. Through the GNEP, we anticipate pursuing cutting edge systems for nuclear material measurement, process monitoring, modelling, and containment and surveillance, which would allow for robust, reliable unattended and remote monitoring. This work should complement IAEA methods and practices.

An expanding safeguards technology base can also help to address anticipated increases in the demand for IAEA safeguards resources, for example, as a result of a number of new enrichment plants; India's commitment to place a broad list of civil nuclear facilities under safeguards; and eventually the wider distribution of nuclear reactors to many more countries. The GNEP facilities in the United States of America would be made eligible for IAEA safeguards.

Building the safeguards systems and requirements for GNEP facilities is not something the United States of America can accomplish alone. We have no monopoly on the world's nuclear energy systems. We anticipate, therefore, working in partnership with other technology holders and with the IAEA to design facilities to accommodate safeguards and to develop safeguards technology for use by the IAEA. This cooperation will take advantage of several mechanisms, including the US Program of Technical Assistance for Safeguards, to which the United States of America contributes over \$14 million annually, and the existing or new safeguards cooperation arrangements that we maintain with roughly a dozen foreign partners.

#### 5. TOWARDS A BROADER VIEW OF SAFEGUARDS

Safeguards enhancements, as a principle, are needed to improve confidence that non-proliferation obligations are being met. In safeguards terms, confidence implies accuracy and completeness, but also timely warning of non-compliance. Early warning is essential to pre-empt major instances of non-compliance, preferably before domestic political decisions to proliferate are rendered or significant capabilities are acquired.

#### SCHEINMAN

This poses a challenge for traditional safeguards, which by definition and practice link non-compliance determinations to evidence of nuclear material diversion or of undeclared nuclear activities. Certainly, the additional protocol, together with, for example, analysis of commercial satellite imagery and open source information, provide the IAEA with a more complete picture of activities within a State.

Modest proposals for the international community include: (i) more formalized sharing of information between the export control regimes and the IAEA Secretariat; and (ii) IAEA consultations with suppliers if inspections reveal items that may have been illicitly acquired or appear on watch lists circulated by nuclear suppliers.

In addition, better integration of safeguards and export control information, which to a limited extent is already under way, can provide indications of illicit intent before a diversion or a clandestine plant is discovered. This would also be consistent with the shift in safeguards emphasis from strict material accounting to the evaluation of information from many sources and for the State as a whole.

#### 6. CONCLUSION

As a final note, a major strength of the safeguards system is its capacity to adapt and evolve. Using the experiences accumulated over the past decade and a half, significant safeguards advances have been achieved — but always in response to crisis. An even stronger safeguards system should to do more — it should help to avoid a crisis. That is our goal and our challenge. Thank you.

# PRINCIPLES IN SAFEGUARDS: A CANADIAN PERSPECTIVE

## L.J. Keen

President and Chief Executive Officer, Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

### 1. INTRODUCTION

To begin, I would like to thank the IAEA for organizing this symposium. I also would like to salute the European Safeguards Research and Development Association and the Institute of Nuclear Materials Management for their cooperation in bringing about this event.

In fact, this symposium comes at an important time in the life of the IAEA, since we are about to mark the 50th anniversary of the creation of the IAEA, in July 2007. Over that time, the IAEA has taken on many responsibilities. One of the most significant of these — and the one that brings us here today — is the responsibility to verify that States are in compliance with their respective safeguards obligations, thereby providing the international community with an independent conclusion concerning the peaceful, non-explosive use of nuclear energy.

### 2. HEADLINES

Of course, the safeguards and verification environment is constantly evolving. This symposium is taking place at a time when the international community is responding to the challenges presented by the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK) — challenges that are giving rise to questions relating to the IAEA's safeguards mandate.

### 3. OVERVIEW

This afternoon, I would like to offer a Canadian perspective on safeguards and verification - as we see the situation now, and as we see the work ahead. I will also discuss Canada's strong commitment to the Treaty on

the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) and our safeguards agreement, including the additional protocol.

I will begin with some thoughts on international safeguards, given questions that have arisen as a result of the DPRK's test. Then, I will comment on good practices as they relate to the international safeguards system at the global level and at the State level. Keeping in mind the subject of this symposium, I would like to discuss three principles that are essential to the success of the safeguards system: effectiveness, efficiency, and openness and transparency. My last major topic will be the recent broader safeguards conclusion that was attained by Canada and how it links to my country's next steps. I will conclude with a few ideas about the need for continuous improvement of safeguards.

### 4. THE SAFEGUARDS SYSTEM WORKS

My view is that the safeguards system works. Why, given the current situation, do I say this? Because the DPRK had to choose explicitly to leave the safeguards system to pursue its nuclear ambitions; it had to turn away from the entire international community and from the kind of commitment, accountancy and transparency that is the basis of the system. This is an important point, as there is some criticism, often just implied, that the safeguards system is ineffective because it does not do things for which it has neither the capacity nor the authority.

The system enables States to demonstrate that they are meeting their obligations concerning the peaceful use of nuclear energy, including reporting of nuclear materials under their jurisdiction. If they choose to end those obligations, they do so before the community of nations. That choice and the safeguards system in general both help to provide early warnings to the international community about potential problems. They signal situations that deserve more attention and deeper analysis.

The safeguards system makes it possible for information - and cases where there is a lack of information - to become visible. And it is then up to the relevant authorities to use that information to determine how best to respond.

#### 5. MODELLING GOOD PRACTICES

I know that I do not need to describe the details of the safeguards system to this audience. However, I do want to underscore some elements of the

system — elements that are particularly relevant to our discussions. In particular, through the safeguards system, the international community and individual States have a vehicle to determine and demonstrate that nuclear materials are being used in peaceful activities, and this enables awareness of situations where that might not be the case or where gaps exist.

One of the most important evolutions in the IAEA's safeguards system in recent years has been the emergence of the State level perspective in safeguards implementation and evaluation. This is an excellent example of innovation. By utilizing a State level perspective in drawing its conclusions, the IAEA has recognized that many States have coherent systems for dealing with nuclear issues — and that a State level approach can be both more efficient and more effective.

That same spirit of innovation is shown when we are alert to good practices that enable the IAEA or national regulatory agencies to achieve our goals more effectively and efficiently, and with openness and transparency. For this reason, the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission (CNSC) is committed to developing advanced safeguards equipment or techniques aimed at strengthening the effectiveness and efficiency of safeguards implementation generally, but with a priority of achieving improved safeguards implementation in Canada.

Now, let me comment on each of the three principles in detail.

#### 6. EFFECTIVENESS

Effectiveness is the first principle that I would like to mention — one focused on doing the right things and doing them well. This is particularly relevant to the IAEA safeguards system, because we all want and need it to be effective. And there is room for continuous improvement. For example, we see the need to map out the processes that underlie the safeguards conclusions.

Clear processes have to be involved in determining annual implementation plans, ensuring that those plans are effectively implemented, undertaking State evaluations and reporting on each of these elements. Continued progress in that direction would build on the recognized importance of effectiveness within the IAEA in general and the Department of Safeguards in particular.

I note that the Director General's Standing Advisory Group on Safeguards Implementation (SAGSI) has done a great deal to promote the use of quality management principles within the Department of Safeguards, which is critical to the achievement of effectiveness.

## 7. EFFICIENCY

Efficiency is the second principle of a system with integrity that I would like to discuss in relation to safeguards. As those of us in regulatory agencies know, you cannot be everywhere, all the time. An efficient organization is one that recognizes risk and allocates its resources and priorities accordingly, on the basis of a sound assessment of those risks. This is even more pressing for nuclear regulatory agencies when rising concerns about the potential for terrorism have meant much greater attention to nuclear safety and security.

At the national level, States must have effective regulatory frameworks that are responsive to the risks associated with the use of specific nuclear materials at specific locations. We cannot treat all situations in the same way. The scale and pace of our regulatory efforts have to depend on the level of risk, which is the case in Canada. The IAEA must do the same if it is to achieve the effective and efficient implementation of its verification mandate.

This would not be a new direction for the IAEA. Risk assessment was inherent in the traditional safeguards approaches. Assessments of the nature and quantity of nuclear material influenced the frequency and intensity of verification efforts.

The IAEA must now do the same as in the context of State level assessments. The IAEA has a relatively fixed level of resources for its safeguards efforts. It makes sense to apply the concepts of differentiation and adaptability in establishing truly risk informed approaches to the best use of those resources. It makes sense to show the international community that the IAEA is focusing its verification efforts where the potential risks are greatest.

This becomes even more important at a time when the nuclear industry is poised for growth around the world. With plans in the works for new electricity generating facilities in many countries, for example, now is the time to ensure that the owners and operators of those facilities know what we expect from them. Good communication of our expectations today will enable those operators to respond efficiently to our requirements and those of the IAEA tomorrow.

## 8. OPENNESS AND TRANSPARENCY

The final principle that I would like to raise this afternoon is actually a linked pair of concepts: openness and transparency. For our part in Canada, the CNSC strives to be as transparent as possible in our work to regulate Canada's nuclear industry. Openness and transparency promote public understanding of the decision making process, which is particularly important in a field with the profile that the nuclear industry has.

Importantly, a transparent, open approach demonstrates the nondiscriminatory nature of the decision making process. It promotes greater acceptance of the decisions and conclusions of regulators. The same is true for the IAEA. Openness and transparency are necessary elements of the IAEA's safeguards system. It is essential that we all understand the basis on which the IAEA draws its safeguards conclusions. It is equally essential that the processes underlying those conclusions are non-discriminatory. This becomes particularly important as the IAEA increasingly introduces qualitative consideration into the evaluation process.

We are pleased to note that steady progress is being made in this regard, particularly through the evolution of the Safeguards Implementation Report. We are also pleased to note the emphasis that the IAEA is placing on the need for openness and transparency on the part of States in order for the IAEA to effectively implement its safeguards system and draw safeguards conclusions.

But let us be clear that the need for openness and transparency extends well beyond regulatory agencies or the IAEA. In particular, we should expect the nuclear industry to be ready to deal with citizens and stakeholders in an open manner to meet the expectations of citizens and communities.

## 9. THE CANADIAN APPROACH TO REGULATION

The three principles that I have just described — effectiveness, efficiency, and openness and transparency — are ones that are strategic objectives in the organization that I lead, the CNSC. Canada has a large nuclear programme over which the CNSC has regulatory authority in many areas. The Government of Canada has assigned four mandates to the CNSC:

- Regulation of the development, production and use of nuclear energy in Canada;
- Regulation of the production, possession, use and transport of nuclear substances, and the production, possession and use of prescribed equipment and prescribed information;
- Implementation of measures respecting Canada's international nuclear commitments, which takes place in collaboration with Canada's Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade and includes the responsibility to implement the safeguards agreements between Canada and the IAEA;

 Dissemination of scientific, technical and regulatory information on the CNSC and on nuclear substances.

Our broad scope for action and our role as the sole nuclear regulator in Canada means that we are able to bring a holistic approach to all this work. In working to fulfil our vision of being one of the best nuclear regulators in the world, we also have the benefit of a modern legislative and regulatory framework, the Nuclear Safety and Control Act, which came into effect in 2000 and which specifically addresses safeguards.

The timing of the new legislation was important, as we are seeing substantial growth in all areas of the Canadian nuclear industry, with plans now under way for new nuclear power plants, new mines, possible new refineries and new facilities to deal with nuclear waste.

## 10. THE CANADIAN CONCLUSION

While we have a wide-ranging set of responsibilities, the one of importance here today is our specific responsibility to implement the safeguards agreements between Canada and the IAEA. We were pleased that, in September 2005, the IAEA drew the broader safeguards conclusion for Canada that all nuclear material remains in peaceful activities. Our primary challenge now is to ensure that the IAEA can maintain this broader safeguards conclusion annually. I say this because it is not clear how much effort will be needed.

What we do know is that it took a considerable effort on the part of the CNSC, the IAEA and Canadian industry over a five year period to achieve the broader safeguards conclusion. We also know that we would not expect to see the same level of effort required to maintain it.

There will be substantial work ahead as the CNSC works with the IAEA and Canadian industry to implement a State level integrated safeguards approach in Canada. This is an important undertaking, and one that must proceed on the basis of an agreed approach that establishes implementation priorities and reflects existing available resources.

The CNSC sees the need to go beyond this by strengthening our capability to draw an independent conclusion for Canadians that nuclear material in Canada is appropriately accounted for and is solely in peaceful, non-explosive use. Our creation of the Directorate of Security and Safeguards is a step forward in integrating the various elements of our security mandate in our operational programme. Part of that work, which is already a domestic priority, is better placing the CNSC to act on our national security mandate. We

#### TECHNICAL PLENARY

have a base there with initiatives such as new security regulations related to nuclear facilities and our work on controls of radioactive sources.

## 11. CONCLUSION: MOVING FORWARD

I would like to conclude my remarks with a few final comments. I noted that next year will mark the 50th anniversary of the IAEA. We all appreciate that the work of ensuring the peaceful, non-explosive use of nuclear energy exists now in a more complex world, with more complex technologies and more facilities to regulate than was the case in 1957. This goes well beyond situations like the one in the DPRK, as notable as it is. For example, in that era there was little thought that non-State actors would pose nuclear threats.

The different and changing world of today underlines the importance and relevance of the safeguards system. It is not enough to put the onus for improvement of the safeguard system solely on the IAEA. It is critical that States do their part to continually improve their regulatory frameworks to achieve effectiveness, efficiency, and openness and transparency, both in terms of national audiences and to demonstrate engagement in, and support for, the safeguards system.

For that interplay of national and international progress to take place, the IAEA and States need to be able to respond to the lessons learned from our previous verification experiences and to identify new technologies that will achieve better results, whether at the national or the international level.

I can say that Canada is moving towards strengthening our own national capability in the verification field. The CNSC intends to ensure that Canada has a robust integrated regulatory compliance approach that includes a national verification system. Ensuring the effectiveness of that approach, whether in one country or internationally, depends on a focus on effectiveness with objective, risk informed decision making, as well as efficient, transparent, well defined processes through which conclusions are drawn and regularly and appropriately reported to stakeholders.

Greater transparency can only help us in that regard. National regulatory authorities responsible for safeguards and verification need to be as effective and as efficient as possible. There are several ways that this can be achieved. Benchmarking good practices that are in use by others and self assessment on the basis of the IAEA guidelines for a State system of accounting for and control of nuclear materials — the relevant international standard — are two means that will undoubtedly bear fruit.

As well, the Secretariat's recently established advisory service for a State system of accounting for and control of nuclear material (SSAC) represents an

#### KEEN

important contribution. This international peer review process enables SSACs to receive expert advice and recommendations for improvement. In this regard, I note that Canada intends to take advantage of this service at an appropriate time.

Progress on these and other challenges will enable the IAEA to do more and do it better for the benefit of people around the world as it prepares for the next 50 years of ensuring 'Atoms for Peace'.

## **DEFINING THE SAFEGUARDS MISSION**

#### J. Carlson

Director General, Australian Safeguards and Non-Proliferation Office, Canberra, Australia

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The IAEA's comprehensive safeguards system has been in operation for some 35 years. After this time, it might be thought that all issues regarding the safeguards mission have been clarified. However, issues continue to arise, for example, with respect to the IAEA's inspection authority, its safeguards objectives and the scope of its conclusions. Any uncertainty in these areas could have a detrimental effect on the IAEA's safeguards operations and even its credibility.

The nature of the IAEA's safeguards mission — what the safeguards system is seeking to achieve — can be considered at a number of levels: What is required under the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT)? What is required under safeguards agreements? What are the expectations of the international community?

The safeguards mission is defined both by the relevant agreements and instruments, and by the practice of the Board of Governors, the Secretariat and States in implementing them. The four basic instruments describing safeguards and setting out the objectives of the safeguards system are (i) the IAEA's Statute, (ii) the NPT (see Ref. [1]), (iii) the model comprehensive safeguards agreement (INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) [2]) and (iv) the Model Additional Protocol (INFCIRC/540 (Corrected) [3]). The interrelation of these instruments is critical, especially the relationship between the NPT and the IAEA's safeguards system. Here, it should be noted that the application of these instruments is not static but is subject to Board and State practice, which evolves over time.

There are differences between the terms of the Statute, the NPT and safeguards agreements, which could affect the scope of safeguards activities and hence the IAEA's ability to draw conclusions, including determinations of non-compliance. This highlights a key issue, namely, whether the apparent divergence between provisions of the NPT and safeguards agreements indicates that safeguards are intended to cover something less than the nonproliferation commitments provided for in the Treaty. While there is no doubt that activities by a non-nuclear-weapon State (NNWS) party to the NPT aimed at the development of nuclear weapons - including those described as 'weaponization activities' - constitute non-compliance with the Treaty, the IAEA's authority to investigate weaponization activities absent some 'nexus' to nuclear material has been questioned.

A further issue of fundamental importance concerns the nature of the conclusions the IAEA is able, and can be expected, to draw. Does the IAEA have to show that a nuclear programme is non-peaceful? Conversely, is the IAEA able to establish definitively that a nuclear programme is for exclusively peaceful purposes?

# 2. DEFINING THE SAFEGUARDS MISSION: THE BASIC DOCUMENTS

Under the NPT, NNWSs undertake inter alia not to manufacture or otherwise acquire nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices (NPT Article II [1]). They also undertake to accept safeguards:

- In accordance with the IAEA's safeguards system;
- For the exclusive purpose of verification of the fulfilment of its obligations assumed under this Treaty;
- With a view to preventing diversion of nuclear energy from peaceful uses to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices. (NPT Article III.1 [1].)

Thus the NPT foresees a broad mission for IAEA safeguards: the verification of obligations assumed under the Treaty, particularly not to divert nuclear energy to nuclear weapons.

The NPT then refers to matters that safeguards are to cover:

- "Procedures for the safeguards required by this Article shall be followed with respect to source or special fissionable material ...";
- "The safeguards required by this Article shall be applied on all source or special fissionable material in all peaceful nuclear activities within the territory of such State ...." (NPT Article III.1 [1].)

This focus on nuclear material is understandable — after all, the manufacture of nuclear weapons requires nuclear material. Nuclear material is readily categorized and quantified, and lends itself to the accountancy based verification approaches that had already become well established by the late

#### **TECHNICAL PLENARY**

1960s. The prevailing view at that time was that an attempt to manufacture nuclear weapons would necessarily involve diversion of declared nuclear material and/or the misuse of declared nuclear facilities. Hence it was thought the NPT objectives could be met through verifying declared nuclear material and facilities.

Accordingly INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) [2] was drafted in terms of safeguards procedures to be applied to nuclear material. The "Basic Undertaking" in paragraph 1 of INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) refers to the "undertaking by the State to accept safeguards ... on all source or special fissionable material in all peaceful nuclear activities within its territory ...". However, the process of paraphrasing Article III.1 of the NPT introduced an apparent divergence from this Article. As discussed, under Article III.1, the purpose of verification is not limited to nuclear material, but encompasses "the fulfilment of [the State's] obligations assumed under this Treaty" relating to diversion of nuclear energy to nuclear weapons.

Not too much should be made of this apparent difference. Clearly, nuclear weapons cannot be manufactured without nuclear material, so Article III.1 sets out the basic requirement that safeguards procedures should apply to all the nuclear material in the State. This means an obligation to declare all nuclear material so that safeguards procedures can be applied on it. It does not mean that safeguards procedures are limited to nuclear material. As will be discussed, verification also needs to encompass relevant non-nuclear materials and items in order to be able to draw conclusions about the absence of undeclared nuclear material.

INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) itself defines the IAEA's safeguards mission, albeit in the context of that document's focus on nuclear material. The document provides that the IAEA has the right and obligation to ensure safeguards are applied on all nuclear material in the State to verify that such material is not diverted to nuclear weapons or nuclear explosive devices (Ref. [2], paragraph 2). This basic statement is elaborated further in the description of the "objective of safeguards", namely:

"... the timely detection of diversion of significant quantities of nuclear material from peaceful nuclear activities to the manufacture of nuclear weapons or of other nuclear explosive devices or for purposes unknown ...." (Ref. [2], paragraph 28.)

#### CARLSON

## 3. THE SAFEGUARDS MISSION: A PROCESS OF EVOLUTION

The interpretation of INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) [2], in terms of safeguards implementation and the expectations of the international community, has evolved over time, and continues to do so.

From the terms of the NPT, it is clear that INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) does not represent the full extent of the IAEA's verification mandate. Under the NPT, the State has accepted "the IAEA's safeguards system". This is an evolutionary system, a system whose content is under continuing development — as shown by the fact that when the NPT was concluded INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) did not exist, in signing on to the NPT States accepted a commitment to a system that was then undefined.

To find major elements of the safeguards system it is necessary to go outside INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) — upwards, to decisions of the Board of Governors, and downwards, to the IAEA's Safeguards Manual, safeguards criteria, the integrated safeguards conceptual framework and associated documentation, and so on. The point is that there is considerable flexibility in the IAEA's safeguards system, and the Board of Governors and the Secretariat are able to adapt the system to meet changing circumstances. This adaptability is a key strength, essential to maintaining and improving the effectiveness of the safeguards system.

Until the 1990s, the principal task of safeguards was generally seen as being to confirm the correctness of States' declarations. As noted above, it was thought that any undeclared nuclear material/activities would be revealed through diversion of declared nuclear material or misuse of declared facilities. Hence the focus of safeguards agreements was on nuclear material, nuclear accountancy and regular inspections.

Since the early 1990s, following the discovery of Iraq's clandestine nuclear weapons programme, the emphasis has turned to detection of undeclared nuclear material/activities, referred to as confirming the completeness of States' declarations. It is now recognized that if a State has undeclared nuclear material/activities, it is quite likely there will be no obvious links between these and the declared nuclear programme.

One expression of this broadening of focus — of fundamental importance in the evolution of the safeguards system — was the development of the Model Additional Protocol (INFCIRC/540 (Corrected) [3]). With INFCIRC/540 (Corrected), the IAEA and Member States have recognized that, in order to make the safeguards system more effective, the IAEA's verification authority needs to go beyond the application of safeguards procedures to nuclear material. INFCIRC/540 (Corrected) has extended the IAEA's authority into a number of areas where nuclear material would not normally be present, such as the manufacture of centrifuge components, heavy water, nuclear grade graphite and shielded flasks, and the construction of hot cells. The rationale for this is clear: the IAEA can — and should — look at broader information that strengthens the IAEA's ability to verify and draw conclusions regarding nuclear material in the State concerned. This encompasses procedures to find indicators of undeclared nuclear material and nuclear activities, or indicators of diversion or proposed diversion of nuclear material.<sup>1</sup>

In parallel with the introduction of INFCIRC/540 (Corrected), the IAEA has been developing a new range of verification methods and technologies, including information collection and analysis, environmental analysis, use of satellite imagery and so on. Information analysis now has a central place in the evaluation of States for safeguards purposes and consequent decision making, looking at questions such as: What are the acquisition paths available to a State? What are the possible indicators of undeclared nuclear activities? What is the optimal safeguards strategy for detecting such activities?

With the emphasis now being given to undeclared nuclear activities, the safeguards system is reflecting more closely the intent of the NPT, that verification should have a view to preventing diversion (NPT Article III.1 [1]). Of course, safeguards as such cannot prevent diversion, except through the deterrent effect of the risk of detection. Prevention is likely to require the intervention of the international community, but effective intervention depends on timely warning. The IAEA's duty to the international community is, where possible, to provide warning before, not after, a nuclear weapons programme has proceeded beyond the point where intervention can be effective.

## 4. NUCLEAR WEAPONIZATION<sup>2</sup>

Issues concerning the scope of verification and timely warning are directly relevant to the issue of weaponization. 'Weaponization' is shorthand for the range of activities, in addition to the acquisition of fissile material, necessary for the manufacture of a nuclear weapon or nuclear explosive device. The manufacture of nuclear weapons obviously requires nuclear material, but many preparatory activities do not. Some relevant non-nuclear materials and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In contemporary practice the term 'diversion' includes both removal of nuclear material from safeguards and failure to declare nuclear material.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For a more detailed discussion of this topic, see Ref. [4].

#### CARLSON

activities are 'dual use', that is, taken in isolation they do not necessarily indicate an intention to manufacture a nuclear weapon. While such an activity may be ambiguous, however, it may be less so in the context of other information about the State (e.g. the discovery of undeclared nuclear material/ activities).

Whether the State is known to have direct use material, or the capability to produce it, is an essential aspect of assessing the significance of apparent weaponization activities — but it should not be overlooked that weaponization activities may themselves be an indicator of the existence of undeclared nuclear material/activities, as yet undetected.

The Secretariat has suggested that "absent some nexus to nuclear material the Agency's legal authority to pursue the verification of possible nuclear weapons related activity is limited" [5]. What is a sufficient nexus? Clearly, development of nuclear weapons must at some stage involve nuclear material. The conduct of certain activities by a State may be a clear indication of intent to misuse nuclear material. The IAEA has a responsibility to provide timely warning of diversion of nuclear material to nuclear weapons, and so cannot ignore activities that indicate preparation for diversion, or indeed that diversion involving undeclared nuclear material/activities may have already occurred without detection.

In considering the IAEA's rights and responsibilities in this area, it is important to distinguish between the following:

- The IAEA's legal authority its right of access to locations in a State to investigate possible weaponization activities and its responsibility to draw conclusions.
- The IAEA's detection capabilities detection of some of these activities could be very difficult. This should not be confused with the right to investigate, but it can affect the level of assurance the IAEA is able to provide in this area.

By their nature, many weaponization activities will be difficult to detect. Here, there are two issues: how to identify specific locations for investigation and how to detect indicators at such locations. A further difficulty is that even after investigation the activity may remain ambiguous — the outcome may be inconclusive. Because of the inherent difficulties, the international community must accept that the IAEA may not be in a position to resolve particular suspicions, and also that it might miss indications of certain activities. In most cases the IAEA will not be in a position to provide absolute assurance of the absence of weaponization activities — although also in most cases State evaluation should show there is no reason to believe such activities may exist.

#### **TECHNICAL PLENARY**

The difficulties in detecting weaponization activities need to be taken into account in drawing safeguards conclusions. Absent unusual circumstances, safeguards non-compliance should be regarded as a strong indicator of proliferation intent.

## 5. SAFEGUARDS CONCLUSIONS AND THE STANDARD OF PROOF

The detection of wholly undeclared nuclear material/activities is much more of a challenge than confirmation of the correctness of declarations. As already mentioned, it has been necessary to develop a new range of verification methods and technologies. Although these techniques can be viewed as being 'technical' in nature, decisions on which measures should be applied and the intensity of their application — how much is 'enough' to fulfil the safeguards mission — involve qualitative judgement. Safeguards implementation requires a judgement on what is required to be done, which needs to be guided by a clear understanding of the safeguards mission. This in turn can be guided by an understanding of the kind of conclusions the IAEA is able to reach.

The IAEA reports in the annual Safeguards Implementation Report (SIR) whether it found any indication of diversion or any indication of undeclared nuclear material/activities. The results of the IAEA's activities are then used to support conclusions.

Traditionally, the IAEA expressed its conclusions in terms of declared material:

"All the information available to the Agency supports the conclusion that the nuclear material and other items placed under safeguards remained in peaceful nuclear activities or were otherwise adequately accounted for."

Once the IAEA began to implement safeguards measures under the additional protocol, however, there was an expectation that it would also draw a conclusion about the absence of undeclared nuclear material/activities. The IAEA did this for the first time in the SIR for 2000, when it reported:

"In 2000, for seven States, each of which has a comprehensive safeguards agreement and an additional protocol in force or being provisionally applied, the Agency concluded that *all nuclear material in those States had been placed under safeguards and remained in peaceful nuclear activities or was otherwise adequately accounted for.* This conclusion is based on the evaluation of all information acquired in implementing safeguards

#### CARLSON

agreements and additional protocols and of all other information available to the Agency for each of the above States. In the course of that evaluation, the Agency found no indication of diversion of nuclear material placed under safeguards or of the presence of undeclared nuclear material or activities in these States" [emphasis added]. [6]

It is essential that the IAEA's conclusions on the absence of undeclared nuclear material/activities are credible. The international community must be confident that the absence of indicators does not simply reflect an inadequate or ineffective verification effort. The IAEA is devoting considerable effort to the development of verification methods that will provide a credible result. In this regard, credibility will depend on a number of factors: that the verification methods are appropriate, that they are implemented appropriately in each case (which involves issues of quality assurance) and that the IAEA's practices are adequately understood by the international community.

It is essential for States to understand what the IAEA means by a conclusion on the absence of undeclared nuclear material/activities. Such a conclusion is not unqualified — it is important not to confuse credible assurance with certainty. It is never possible to prove a negative with absolute certainty. For at least the past 30 years, the IAEA has recognized that it is necessary to draw its conclusions on the balance of probabilities. There has been a substantial effort to ensure the credibility of the conclusions drawn, but it is recognized that seeking higher levels of assurance rapidly falls victim to the law of diminishing returns.

One aspect of conclusions about undeclared nuclear material/activities concerns the significance of the detection of such material/activities, and whether their existence constitutes diversion. Is it sufficient for the IAEA to show a failure to declare nuclear material or nuclear activities, or is something more required, such as evidence of nuclear weapon intent?

It is most unlikely that inspectors will catch a State red-handed, for example, by finding a nuclear weapon or nuclear material in the form of nuclear weapon components. It is more likely that a State facing exposure in such an obvious way would deny access, preferring to argue whether lack of cooperation constitutes non-compliance, and to be able to maintain some ambiguity about its actions. For this reason, the reference in INFCIRC/153 (Corrected), paragraph 28 [2], to diversion to "purposes unknown" is very important. The framers of INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) realized that the standard of proof should not be set unrealistically high.

Further, INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) provides that the Board may report to the United Nations Security Council if it finds that the IAEA is not able to verify that there has been no diversion to nuclear weapons (Ref. [2], paragraph 19). Broadly speaking there are two possible scenarios here:

- Inspectors find that nuclear material is unaccountably missing (and selfevidently, the purpose for which the nuclear material may be being used is not known).
- Inspectors find undeclared nuclear material, without satisfactory explanation; that is, the reason (purpose) for the failure to declare is not known.

In either case it is essential for the Board to have the opportunity to consider the matter without delay.

This understanding of what it is the IAEA needs to demonstrate should help to guide what the IAEA needs to do in its verification activities — in other words, to clarify the IAEA's safeguards mission. To 'prove' the existence of a nuclear weapon programme is too demanding — detection of weaponization activities will be very difficult, or if they are detected their purpose may be ambiguous. Depending on the circumstances, the existence of undeclared nuclear material/activities should raise a presumption of diversion — especially if direct use material, enrichment or plutonium separation is involved. The more additional information the IAEA can gather, the better; this will help to make the judgement of whether a weapon purpose is plausible in the circumstances. Detection and investigation of apparent weaponization activities need to be part of the IAEA's remit, but are not essential to support a finding of diversion/non-compliance.

## 6. CONCLUSION

The NPT reflects the expectations of the international community as to compliance with the non-proliferation obligation and verification of this compliance. The NPT provides that the safeguards system is to verify fulfilment of the obligations assumed under the Treaty "with a view to preventing diversion of nuclear energy to nuclear weapons". Accepting safeguards procedures on nuclear material is an essential mechanism for demonstrating compliance with the non-proliferation obligations, but it is by no means the full extent of these obligations. With the adoption of INFCIRC/540 (Corrected) [3], both the IAEA and Member States now appreciate that, for the IAEA to fulfil its mandate, safeguards procedures cannot be limited to nuclear material, but need to encompass related matters that support conclusions about nuclear material.

#### CARLSON

It is essential to avoid unrealistic expectations. On the one hand, States should be made aware of limitations in safeguards capability, especially since, notwithstanding good progress, the development of capabilities to detect undeclared nuclear activities is still at a relatively early stage. On the other hand, if the international community does not investigate matters of serious concern to States — such as indications of weaponization — this will adversely affect credibility. Apparent weaponization activities may indicate preparation for diversion, or that diversion (including activities involving undeclared nuclear material) has already occurred but not been detected. This is a matter the IAEA cannot afford to neglect.

It is also important that the standard of proof for safeguards conclusions not be too high. The framers of INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) [2] were realistic in their use of language such as "purposes unknown" and "not able to verify". The responsibility to provide timely warning and a requirement for certainty could well be mutually exclusive: by the time certainty is established, it may be too late.

Whether governments have confidence that a State's nuclear programme is exclusively peaceful is a matter of judgement made, not on the basis of certainty, but on the balance of probabilities. The situation is more likely to be one of ambiguity, rather than conclusive evidence. Once inspectors find they are unable to verify that there has been no diversion to nuclear weapons — or that there has been diversion to purposes unknown (which includes use of nuclear material in activities whose purpose is uncertain) — it is for the Board of Governors and governments to consider the implications and what is necessary to rebuild confidence.

For the safeguards system to be credible, a close correlation is needed between safeguards outcomes and the expectations of the international community. It is essential to all parties that the safeguards system is able to provide confidence about a State's performance of its peaceful use commitments — or to provide timely warning if there are grounds for concern. A shared understanding of the safeguards mission — the objectives of the safeguards system — is essential to avoid misunderstandings and failure.

#### **TECHNICAL PLENARY**

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/140, IAEA, Vienna (1970).
- [2] The Structure and Content of Agreements between the Agency and States Required in Connection with the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/153 (Corrected), IAEA, Vienna (1972).
- [3] Model Protocol Additional to the Agreement(s) between State(s) and the International Atomic Energy Agency for the Application of Safeguards, INFCIRC/540 (Corrected), IAEA, Vienna (1997).
- [4] Carlson, J., et al., "Nuclear weaponization activities: What is the role of IAEA safeguards?", Proc. 47<sup>th</sup> Ann. INMM, Nashville, 16–20 July 2006 (2006).
- [5] Implementation of the NPT Safeguards Agreement in the Islamic Republic of Iran, GOV/2006/15, IAEA, Vienna (2006), paragraph 52.
- [6] IAEA Board reviews record of safeguards implementation, IAEA Press Release 2001/14, IAEA, Vienna (2001) http://www.iaea.org/NewsCenter/PressReleases/2001/prn0114.shtml

# STRENGTHENING THE SAFEGUARDS SYSTEM: SIDE EFFECTS OF THE SAFEGUARDS MEASURES

## L.A. Vinhas

Representative for International Affairs, Comissão Nacional de Energia Nuclear, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The IAEA safeguards system has an indispensable role to play in the field of nuclear non-proliferation and the peaceful uses of nuclear energy. However, safeguards implementation should not be considered the main objective of nuclear energy or an end in itself. The central objective of nuclear energy is to improve the quality of life of the population and to contribute to sustainable development in States through the use of nuclear energy and its application for food and agriculture, human health, medicine, industry, water resources management, protection of the environment and generation of electricity. The objective of the IAEA safeguards system is to provide credible assurances to the international community that States are honouring their commitments to use nuclear energy exclusively for peaceful purposes. Therefore, safeguards implementation must not be an obstacle to the development of nuclear energy and its applications, and should have as a permanent goal to minimize impacts on the operation of nuclear facilities.

However, over the past several years measures have been adopted to strengthen the IAEA safeguards system that have focused mainly on the enhancement of the effectiveness of the system. Less attention has been given to assessing the costs of these measures and their impact on the States and on nuclear facility owners and operators. Also, the impact of these measures on the IAEA safeguards system, in terms of human and financial resources, appears not to have been comprehensively evaluated.

This paper seeks to raise the discussion of safeguards measures, taking into account alternative views and considering political, financial and technical aspects, with the expectation that this discussion will contribute to further strengthening the effectiveness and efficiency of the IAEA safeguards system. In this regard, this paper describes specific 'side effects' of safeguards measures and policies in order to stimulate the discussion.

## 2. EXAMPLES OF SIDE EFFECTS

The development of measures for strengthening the effectiveness and the efficiency of the safeguards system is a continuous process. Thus, this paper does not intend to criticize initiatives for strengthening the system. Rather, it aims to point out the importance of analysing the possible impact of a new proposed safeguard measure or policy from a broad perspective that includes technical, legal, political and diplomatic aspects, since these aspects are all relevant to safeguards. It is also necessary to take into account the legal framework for non-proliferation and safeguards – specifically, the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT), the Structure and Contents of the Agreements between the Agency and States Required in Connection with the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (INFCIRC/153 (Corrected)), and the Model Protocol Additional to the Agreement(s) between State(s) and the International Atomic Energy Agency for the Application of Safeguards (INFCIRC/540 (Corrected)). These legal instruments contain several constructive ambiguities, allowing for different interpretation.

#### 2.1. Non-discriminatory safeguards implementation

The adoption of further measures to strengthen the safeguards system, which are usually applied only to non-nuclear-weapon States (NNWSs) party to the NPT, has increased the gap between the safeguards measures applied in these States and those applied in the other States.

Side effect: One side effect of safeguards measures is the intensification of the discriminatory character of the NPT and the safeguards system. Consequently, difficulties arise with respect to the acceptance of these additional measures by the public and by the political authorities — particularly by members of congressional bodies, who frequently express concern about why the State should continue to accept additional obligations derived from the treaties or agreements that it signed while other States remain free of any obligation.

The universal and non-discriminatory application of comprehensive safeguards and the adoption of concrete and irreversible steps towards nuclear disarmament and fissile material cut-off are measures that would help to reduce or eliminate this side effect and to eliminate the discrimination in safeguards implementation that currently exists between NNWSs party to the NPT and other States.

#### TECHNICAL PLENARY

#### 2.2. Quantity of information and the analysis system

Article 8 of INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) established that "The Agency shall require only the minimum amount of information and data consistent with carrying out its responsibilities under the Agreement. Information pertaining to *facilities* shall be the minimum necessary for safeguarding *nuclear material* subject to safeguards under the Agreement". The Model Additional Protocol (INFCIRC/540 (Corrected)) reinforces this concept in paragraph 4 of the Preamble: "Whereas the frequency and intensity of activities described in this Protocol shall be kept to a minimum consistent with the objective of strengthening the effectiveness and improving the efficiency of the Agency safeguards".

However, some members of the international community have the incorrect perception that the more information the IAEA receives, the more effective it will be with respect to verification and safeguards. There is a general belief that the IAEA needs to receive or obtain more and more information to be able to fulfil its safeguards responsibilities.

Following the trends described above and considering that information analysis has a central role to play in the safeguards State evaluations, a vast quantity of information has been supplied to or obtained by the IAEA that must be analysed.

Side effect: A second side effect of strengthening measures is the overloading of the IAEA information analysis system and the concurrent need to enhance its analysis capabilities, albeit at a prohibitive cost.

It would be more effective and efficient if the IAEA were to receive or obtain more qualified and relevant information, rather than large quantities of information. The establishment of criteria to select the information to be analysed, based in the criteria of quality and relevance, would contribute to increasing the effectiveness and the efficiency of the information analysis system.

#### 2.3. Safeguards at sensitive facilities and proliferation risks

The development or improvement of safeguards approaches applied to sensitive nuclear fuel cycle facilities, particularly centrifuge enrichment facilities, to strengthen the safeguards system could include broader access of inspectors to information and places in such facilities.

Side effect: These measures could increase the risks of proliferation and the risks associated with the preservation by the facility of its technological secrets and strategic and commercial information.
### VINHAS

To minimize these risks, the facility operator could identify what information effectively needs to be protected, and the IAEA could restrict its request to this minimum information and its access to that necessary for fulfilling its responsibilities. In this context, it would be possible to negotiate safeguards approaches and procedures that would allow the IAEA to apply effective and efficient safeguards and allow the State and the facility operator to protect the technological secrets and strategic and commercial information.

## 2.4. Safeguards on less relevant nuclear material and facilities

The rigidity in the safeguards implementation associated with the new policies regarding conversion facilities could imply the application of increasing safeguards to nuclear material and facilities considered less relevant from the standpoint of proliferation risks.

Side effect: A side effect of these measures could be the unnecessary increase of the costs of safeguards implementation.

These additional costs could be reduced with the adoption of more flexible safeguards criteria, to allow for the concentration of the safeguards measures on relevant nuclear material and facilities, thereby providing for a more efficient use of scarce resources.

## 2.5. IAEA initiatives to mitigate side effects

Over the past several years, the IAEA has taken several initiatives, such as the use of advanced technologies, the development of new safeguards approaches, the implementation of integrated safeguards and State level integrated safeguards approaches, that have helped to reduce the impact of the side effects on the State and facility operators.

For example, the use of environmental sampling, satellite imagery and unattended and remote monitoring systems has helped to reduce the side effects concerning increased proliferation risks and the preservation of technological secrets. These technologies have also helped to reduce the costs and impacts of measures on States, nuclear facility owners and operators, and have allowed the IAEA to obtain the information necessary to apply effective and efficient safeguards.

## 3. CONCLUSION

During the development of a new safeguards measure or policy and before it is proposed, it is very important to analyse the possible impact(s) of

the measure on States, facility operators and owners, and on the IAEA safeguards system. This should be done from a broad perspective that includes technical, legal, political, diplomatic and cost-efficiency aspects, in order to avoid undesirable side effects.

# NUCLEAR SAFEGUARDS CHALLENGES FROM THE POINT OF VIEW OF A DEVELOPING COUNTRY

## A. Djaloeis

Special Advisor to the Chairman, Nuclear Energy Regulatory Agency, BAPETEN, Jakarta, Indonesia

### 1. INTRODUCTION

First of all, let me express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to the IAEA, in particular to the organizing committee, for having extended an invitation to me to speak at this symposium on such an important topic, namely, international nuclear safeguards. It is indeed an honour and a privilege for me personally to speak in front of such a distinguished and honourable audience.

I shall take this opportunity to briefly present my personal views and thoughts, both as an Indonesian and as a person from a developing country, on challenges facing nuclear safeguards today as a vital component of the worldwide efforts towards nuclear non-proliferation and disarmament, with a fervent hope for the total elimination of nuclear weapons in the foreseeable future. This vision was eloquently and compassionately expressed by the 'founding father' of the IAEA, US President Dwight D. Eisenhower, in his famous 'Atoms for Peace' address in 1953.

My comments and conclusions are expressed in my own personal capacity and are based on my observations and previous experience, first as an experimental nuclear physicist and university lecturer in Europe, and later as Deputy Chairman of Indonesia's National Nuclear Energy Agency (BATAN), and then as Chairman of the Nuclear Energy Regulatory Agency (BAPETEN), a position I held until last year. The latter two appointments constitute two of the key posts for the development, application and control of the nuclear energy programme in Indonesia. During my career in the Government, I have also had opportunities to interact with many nuclear leaders in both developing and technologically developed countries, on either a bilateral or a multilateral basis, such as within the framework of the intergovernmental forum of the Regional Co-operative Agreement (RCA) in the Asia–Pacific region under the aegis of the IAEA.

### DJALOEIS

## 2. NUCLEAR ENERGY: WEAPON OR PLOUGHSHARE?

The deployment of nuclear weapons by the United States of America during World War II served, in my view, as a spectacular — and hopefully unique — milestone in the history of human civilization. In 1945, for the first time in history, a small group of scientists and engineers succeeded in developing and applying a technology to unleash the awesome power of nuclear energy in the form of a weapon with immense destructive power. Also for the first time in the history of humankind, a small group of people at the top level of a national government decided to deploy such a terrible weapon of mass destruction to defeat their enemy, with devastating results. The enormous heat and the tremendous nuclear radiation released by the explosions devastated both of the target cities of Hiroshima and Nagasaki, and posed serious risks to human health and the environment for many years to come. As a result, the Japanese Government was left with no choice but to submit an unconditional surrender to the Allied Forces, thus putting a sudden end to World War II.

Looking back 53 years in history, to 1953, Eisenhower, then the President of the most powerful country on earth, the United States of America, startled the whole world, friends and foes alike, with his visionary, moving and compassionate address to the 470th Plenary Meeting of the United Nations General Assembly in New York, which later became known as the 'Atoms for Peace' speech. In this address, Eisenhower stated that: "The United States would seek more than the mere reduction or elimination of atomic materials for military purposes. It is not enough to take this weapon out of the hands of the soldiers. It must be put into the hands of those who will know how to strip its military casing and adapt it to the arts of peace". As a great soldier and seasoned army general with proven success on the battlefield during World War II, Eisenhower was gravely concerned about the proliferation of nuclear weapons among the victorious countries - France, the Soviet Union and the United Kingdom. This trend, if unchecked, could pose a serious threat to humankind and the earth as a whole. He expressed his sincere desire, not only for the total abolition of nuclear weapons, but also for the use of nuclear energy solely for the prosperity of humankind. This desire is reflected clearly in his closing words: "...the United States pledges ... to devote its entire heart and mind to finding the way by which the miraculous inventiveness of man shall not be dedicated to his death, but consecrated to his life". These are strong words and a clear message. Indeed, in my view, Eisenhower was a great man of extraordinary character, a soldier of courage but full of human love, a leader with a great vision and mission, a shining example that should be followed by all those holding powerful leadership positions in the world today!

How does the 'nuclear world' look today from the point of view of a developing country, 53 years after the famous 'Atoms for Peace' address? On the peaceful development side, I dare believe that Mr. Eisenhower would approve of the progress that has been achieved since 1953. In his address Eisenhower said: "Experts would be mobilized to apply atomic energy to the needs of agriculture, medicine and other peaceful activities. A special purpose would be to provide abundant electrical energy in the power-starved areas of the world".

Following his proposal, the IAEA was established in 1957. Knowledge and the application of nuclear energy for peaceful purposes have increased rapidly, pushed primarily by intensive scientific research and technology development conducted mainly in wealthy and technologically advanced countries. Today, about one sixth of the world's electricity is generated by nuclear power plants, with remarkable increasing trends in the Asia-Pacific region and encouraging signs of a renaissance on the American and European continents. Through bilateral and multilateral international cooperation, especially through technical assistance and cooperation programmes with the IAEA, many countries in the developing world have also derived increasing benefits from the application of nuclear energy in solving their national development problems, such as in the areas of food and agriculture, human health, industrial processes, environmental care and water resources management. Indeed, in this respect, despite the many difficulties and shortcomings, nuclear energy has brought considerable blessings to many parts of the developing world. Nevertheless, in my view, the IAEA and the developed world should still do a lot more to assist these countries to strengthen their efforts towards sustainability, especially in ensuring their long term national energy supply security, in parallel with environmental care. Important issues such as public information and education about the benefits and risks of nuclear energy, nuclear and radiological safety and security, dissemination and preservation of nuclear knowledge, and national capacity building in terms of human resources and scientific facilities need to be adequately addressed and existing problems must be properly solved.

On the non-peaceful side — the military applications of nuclear power — I have reason to believe that Mr. Eisenhower would not be as satisfied with the developments of the past half century. In fact, he would likely be anguished at what some of the powerful world leaders are doing today, including those in his own country, the United States of America. Fifty-three years have passed since Eisenhower announced his noble vision and mission to the assembly of world leaders at the United Nations. In essence, he wanted more than just a world free of nuclear weapons, he wanted to see the world's scientists and engineers working to develop ways and means so that nuclear energy, "this greatest of

### DJALOEIS

destructive forces can be developed into a great boon, for the benefit of all mankind". His message is one of universal fellowship and the desire for fairness, justice and prosperity for all. But today's world is still far from achieving Eisenhower's dream, as forthrightly expressed by one leader from the developing world, Tun Dr. Mahathir Mohamad, former Prime Minister of Malaysia:

"We are still living in a primitive world. We still subscribe to the killing of people as an instrument of policy. We have descended so low that even a blatant assassination is acceptable. The great powers are spending huge sums of money on perfecting and perfecting again their instruments of murder even as they decry the innovation in their attacks against those who terrify them....There is presently no New World Order, only the Old World Order where might is right and the Devil takes the hindmost". [1]

Against the background of Eisenhower's address and the comments of Tun Dr. Mahathir Mohamad, let me now, again from the viewpoint of a developing country, look at the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT), which is a legal basis of the IAEA's international nuclear safeguards system. In its spirit at least, this treaty, with its three pillars - disarmament, peaceful utilization of nuclear energy and non-proliferation elegantly encapsulates the noble wish, vision and mission of Eisenhower. If rigorously implemented by all States party to it, with the genuine intention of eliminating nuclear weapons, the achievement of a world free of nuclear weapons surely would not be unrealistic. If all existing nuclear weapons could be turned into 'ploughshares' and, at the same time, the concept of possessing nuclear weapons as a military instrument could be rendered obsolete or irrelevant, the peaceful use of nuclear energy would then serve as the central, and finally the sole, pillar of the NPT for the benefit of humankind worldwide. This, in my view, should be the true spirit and the ultimate mission of the NPT, as seen and expected from the perspective of a developing country.

Unfortunately, the noble spirit of the NPT has not materialized in either words, as expressed in the text of the treaty, or deeds, as seen in its implementation. On the basis of the world's nuclear weapon situation on 1 January 1967, the NPT divided the world into two groups: those that already had nuclear weapons, better known as the nuclear-weapon States (NWSs) — China, France, the Soviet Union, the United Kingdom and the United States of America — and those that did not, the non-nuclear-weapon States (NNWSs), constituting the rest of the world. From the beginning, the NNWSs, including almost all the world's developing countries, have been required to give up their sovereign

right to develop nuclear weapons, and yet no binding obligations have been imposed on the NWSs to eliminate theirs.

The NPT requires the NNWSs to conclude comprehensive safeguards agreements (CSAs) with the IAEA within 18 months of becoming a Party to the NPT. Under the banner 'Trust, but verify', these States, in accordance with the IAEA specifications, are obliged to submit initial and annual comprehensive reports, which are later subjected to independent verification by the IAEA. Soon after the discovery of clandestine nuclear weapon activities in Iraq, the CSA was complemented by the additional protocol (AP), which essentially gives the IAEA additional rights to information and inspection access to ensure the correctness and completeness of the States' reports. In parallel, the verification methodology and technology and other related techniques are continually improved and implemented, with the aim of creating 'air tight' blocks to prevent the NNWSs from possessing nuclear weapons.

But what progress has been made in disarmament? Can the 'nuclear genie' be put back into the bottle? Mr. Srinivasan, former Chairman of the Atomic Energy Commission and former Member of the Planning Commission of the Government of India, writes:

"In recent times, there is weariness to talk about universal nuclear disarmament, dismissing this goal as utopian. Sadly some of the recent actions of the sole super power, the United States, suggest that use of nuclear weapons is contemplated under certain circumstances. Development of new nuclear weapons with special features is being pursued. Recent events have shown that the United States can achieve its global agenda using extremely sophisticated and formidable conventional military prowess". [2]

Considering this comment together with the 'Atoms for Peace' address by Eisenhower and the sentiment of Tun Dr. Mahathir Mohamad, it would not be surprising if some were to interpret the current situation as being one where the NPT and the increasingly sophisticated safeguards verification system are being used by NWSs to retain their nuclear weapon hegemony.

## 3. NUCLEAR ENERGY AND DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

To get a better understanding of the perspective of the developing world, particularly with respect to nuclear weapons and nuclear safeguards, let me briefly describe some of the basic issues faced by developing countries, in

### DJALOEIS

general, in their efforts to develop and apply nuclear sciences and technology. Nuclear scientists and engineers in the developing world are still generally regarded as belonging to an esoteric group. Their scientific facilities and working environments are generally still far from being adequate, despite the fact that their activities must be performed in a competent manner to reduce the associated safety and security risks to a tolerable level, in accordance with the required international standards. Thus, in my view, the creation and maintenance of an environment conducive to the healthy growth of nuclear energy activities is one of the basic tasks for the strategic thinkers in the developing world. In this context, there are at least three fundamental issues that need to be adequately addressed by developing countries: general nuclear awareness, national political will and government commitment, and national nuclear capacity.

Within developing countries, awareness of the benefits and risks of nuclear energy is generally still confined to those working in government nuclear research institutes or agencies. In Indonesia, for example, the term 'nuclear energy' generally has negative connotations, presumably owing to widespread spread information on the catastrophic consequences of the explosions in Hiroshima and Nagasaki in 1945 and the severe accident at the Chernobyl nuclear power plant in 1986. Thus, the foremost challenge for a nuclear energy programme in a such a country is to effectively and efficiently communicate the benefits and risks of nuclear energy, not only to the public, but also, and more importantly, to the top decision makers in the executive branch (i.e. relevant government sectors) and the legislative branch (members of the central and local parliaments), to the academic community and to potential user groups in the government and the private sector. Here, the bilateral and multilateral cooperation with the IAEA and with technologically advanced countries plays an important role, as experts assigned by these foreign institutions are generally regarded as authoritative, impartial and credible sources of information and expertise.

Inadequate nuclear awareness in the executive (government) and legislative bodies, as in the case of Indonesia, generally leads to hesitation in declaring the firm political will and national commitment that are required. Frequent changes in the social, economic and political environment often lead to changes of national development focuses and priorities, which in turn make it difficult to formulate a consistent set of policies, strategies and programmes on nuclear energy, and to implement them with the required level of funding.

In the case of Indonesia, for example, despite 30 years of intensive and tireless efforts by the BATAN to push the Government to prepare for the introduction of nuclear power, the country so far has not demonstrated the firmness of political will or the commitment required to send an unambiguous signal, together with concrete practical implications, as to whether or not it will go nuclear! This experience clearly demonstrates that without strong nuclear awareness, it is hardly possible to achieve the required political will and national commitment, which in turn makes it difficult to obtain the necessary political and financial support. The second challenge, therefore, is to persuade the government and legislative bodies to give their political will and support to a long term national nuclear energy programme, and then consistently implement it with adequate political and financial support.

In my view, the most difficult challenge is to develop and use the necessary national nuclear capacity to advance nuclear sciences and technology, on the one hand, and to utilize the acquired or developed technologies, to ensure their nuclear and radiological safety and security, to train and educate the human resources, and to disseminate relevant information to the stakeholders, on the other hand. To accomplish those goals, the country needs to develop adequate legislation, institutions, facilities and human resources.

Based on my experiences and observations in Indonesia, despite intensive technical cooperation with the IAEA and technologically advanced countries, the three challenges mentioned above seem to be still too complex to be successfully overcome in the near future. This is primarily due to the fact that higher priority is constantly being given to other national development programmes as dictated by the social, economic and political situation in the country. Despite many years of efforts spearheaded by nuclear institutions such as the BATAN and BAPETEN, nuclear awareness, political will, and national commitment and support are still far from satisfactory. But without long term planning and a clear vision, followed by a consistent set of policies, strategies and programmes implemented in an integrated and concerted national effort, where the relevant government and legislative agencies, academic and educational institutions and user community consistently work hand in hand for an extended period of time, it is difficult to see how a developing country could succeed in developing and implementing a major nuclear energy programme - such as for the generation of electricity, with its associated supporting industries – on a sustainable basis.

With respect to nuclear weapons, the official policy and strategy of Indonesia have been and remain focused on the achievement of a single mission, namely, to realize the commitment to eliminate nuclear weapons entirely from the earth. As the country with the largest Muslim population in the world — friendly to the Muslim world, to the East and to the West — and as an active member of the Non-Aligned Movement, Indonesia is in principle surrounded by friends. The country thus does not feel any need for such a terrible weapon of mass destruction. In addition, as is generally the case in the developing world, it would also make no sense for Indonesia to have a nuclear

### DJALOEIS

weapon programme, because such a programme would entail enormous costs and efforts, and, in view of the IAEA safeguards, would be very difficult to keep secret.

For these reasons, Indonesia, as a developing and peace loving country, has demonstrated from the beginning its commitment to the genuine spirit and vision of the NPT by setting a shining example with its compliance as a State party to the NPT. It is worth noting that in August 2003, after four years of hard work in cooperation with the IAEA inspectors, Indonesia became one of the first three countries in the world to conclude integrated safeguards with the IAEA. Surely this example should be followed by all other peace loving countries.

# 4. INTERNATIONAL NUCLEAR SAFEGUARDS AND CHALLENGES

Having briefly presented a view of the global progress of human efforts to promote peaceful uses of nuclear energy and to eliminate nuclear weapons, and having briefly described the nuclear energy situation in Indonesia as one typical of a developing country, let me now turn to specific issues concerning international safeguards and the challenges of today. I shall take the viewpoint of Indonesia as an independent and sovereign developing country.

In contrast to the wealthy and technologically developed countries, most countries in the developing world are former colonies that became independent after World War II. They continue to struggle desperately to provide the basic necessities for their people, such as adequate food, clothing, housing and health care. It is also worth pointing out that the majority of the world population, today over 6 billion, lives in this developing part of the world – in Africa, Asia and Latin America. These people still live in poverty, some even in extreme poverty, with average incomes that are only a small percentage of those in the developed world – despite the fact that many of these countries are endowed with an abundance of natural resources. Political independence alone is apparently not a sure ticket to the expected blessings of justice and prosperity. From the start, the leaders of the newly born countries have been confronted with enormous challenges, both internal and external, in ever tougher and more complex regional and international competition.

Viewed from this perspective, the reason why the leaders of a developing State or non-State actors would want to possess nuclear weapons is not clear. I am convinced that these countries or individuals, in their own thinking and logic, must have very strong reasons for doing what they are doing. I am convinced that the motivation for the possession and reckless use of nuclear or radiological weapons will remain as long as humankind fails to adequately address and eliminate the root causes of the extreme actions of those State or non-State actors. In this context, strengthening security and safeguards worldwide would involve huge costs and efforts, but would surely fall short of accomplishing the mission.

In the above context, it should be added that, since a greater number of nuclear weapons increases the chances of their inadvertent or reckless use by a small group of people in power, it is indeed difficult to understand why the majority of people in any country, in the developing or developed world, would continue to tolerate their government's developing or clinging to these terrible weapons. Indeed, nuclear weapons and nuclear weapon material should be eliminated without delay, as this would also give an absolute assurance that they would never fall into the wrong hands.

## 4.1. First challenge: Shifting the prevailing unfair paradigm

For nuclear weapons and nuclear safeguards, the first, and most difficult, challenge, in my view, is to identify how world leaders can replace the prevailing paradigm — "nuclear weapons only for the few, not for others" — with a new one based on Eisenhower's vision, namely, "ban nuclear weapons from the planet earth, and turn existing ones into ploughshares". There should be a new emphasis on 'win–win' approaches undertaken in a genuine spirit of fair play, for the common safety, security and prosperity of all human beings. In my view, the challenge of shifting the prevailing paradigm to one that is more fair needs to be addressed first and urgently, as this is crucial for the sustainable success of other efforts.

## 4.2. Second challenge: Removing or reducing the prevailing discrimination

In principle, the NPT places heavier moral burdens on the shoulders of the NWSs. These States are morally obliged to dismantle all existing nuclear arsenals (i.e. disarmament), in addition to the universal requirement to refrain from nuclear proliferation, horizontal and vertical. Had humankind acted rigorously in this spirit, the world could have been free of nuclear weapons a long time ago.

The reality, both in words and in deeds, so far has not reflected the true spirit of the NPT. The NNWSs, in my judgement, have been discriminated against in two ways. First, with respect to non-proliferation, these States are obliged to accept inspections on all their nuclear installations, whereas the 'nuclear haves' are exempted from this obligation. Second, with respect to

### DJALOEIS

nuclear disarmament, the NWSs are left to their own discretion, without a time frame, without a watchdog, without transparency or means of verification.

Increasing pressure has been placed on the NNWSs to become party to the NPT and conclude the complete package of safeguards agreements with the IAEA (a CSA and an AP), and more and better methodologies and techniques are being developed and applied to ensure non-proliferation in these NNWSs. At the same time, however, complaints and proposals from the NNWSs on implementation of disarmament, as reflected inter alia in the previous NPT Review Conferences, have not succeeded in effecting significant changes in the attitude of the NWSs.

The related challenge to the international nuclear safeguards would be, in my view, to find ways and means to provide the IAEA, with all the resources available to it, with the mandate to serve as the 'global non-proliferation watchdog'. The motto "Trust, but verify" under the same or similar terms and conditions of the CSA and the AP should apply equally to NNWSs and NWSs. On the non-proliferation issue, this would put the NNWSs and the NWSs on the same footing and, at the same time, would constitute a credible, competent and independent mechanism to prevent both horizontal and vertical proliferation. Furthermore, it would also be highly desirable to give the IAEA, as a start, a mandate to take stock of existing nuclear weapon arsenals. This information could then serve as a concrete and transparent basis for a complete and time-bound disarmament under the 'watchful eyes' of the IAEA.

## 4.3. Third challenge: Universalizing the CSA and the AP

Correct and complete information on the absence of 'nuclear weapon activities' in any Member State can only be acquired through the IAEA safeguards verification mechanisms after the State in question has concluded a CSA and an AP with the IAEA. In this connection, there are, in my view, two basic challenges to international nuclear safeguards. The first is persuading all the States party to the NPT to conclude a complete package of safeguards agreements with the IAEA – that is, both a CSA and an AP. One constructive way would be for the IAEA – preferably with the help of the NWSs – to apply a 'carrot and stick' strategy. Special for the developing world, those countries demonstrating good compliance could, for instance, be granted extra assistance in their nuclear power programmes by the IAEA. The second challenge would be to find attractive incentives to get those countries that are still outside the NPT, with or without joining the NPT, to conclude a CSA and an AP or similar arrangements with the IAEA.

# 4.4. Fourth challenge: Further improving the detection and verification technology

Last but not least, it is obvious that new ways of improving the existing methodology and technology of detection and verification should be continuously sought. However, in view of the rapid progress in science and technology, the increasing sophistication of information technology, and the changing focus and priorities in the economic, political and defence interests of countries or blocs of countries in the international arena (e.g. as reflected in the reversal of the US policy towards India), improvements in the detection and verification techniques and instrumentation alone will not suffice to effectively curb nuclear proliferation on the global scale. History teaches a good lesson: just as some countries have succeeded in developing nuclear weapon arsenals from the expertise acquired from NWSs, other countries or non-State groups could, in principle, acquire nuclear weapons from those that already have them. The world seems to be getting smaller every day, and the boundaries between countries have practically disappeared. Consequently, as long as the motivation of State or non-State actors to possess nuclear and radiological weapons remains strong, illicit trafficking of nuclear material, technologies and other related materials and equipment is bound to take place, despite the expected worldwide improvements in export and import controls. The reason is very simple: in the words of an old Minangkabau proverb, "The gun may be improved and polished indefinitely, but if it is not used by the right person with the right intent, the thieves can flee in glee".

## 5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

In conclusion, along with the vision of President Eisenhower, let me quote the words of Mr. Tadatoshi Akiba, the Mayor of Hiroshima: "The abolition of nuclear weapons is no less important than the abolition of slavery....We are fighting the idea that a small group of men should have the capacity to launch Armageddon....Our immediate objective is the elimination of nuclear weapons, but our long-term vision is a 'spiritual home for all people'. We need this planet to be filled not with weapons of mass destruction but with compassion" [3].

## DJALOEIS

# REFERENCES

- [1] MAHATHIR, M., Islam, Knowledge and Other Affairs, MPH Group Publishing Sdn Bhd, Selangor Malaysia (2006) 24.
- [2] SRINIVASAN, M.R., View from India, IAEA Bull. 45 (2) 36.
- [3] AKIBA, T., City mayors on the march, IAEA Bull. 45 (2) 38.

# THE ADDITIONAL PROTOCOL AND INTEGRATED SAFEGUARDS: IMPLEMENTATION IN THE EUROPEAN UNION – THE EXPERIENCE OF THE IAEA

K. Murakami, H.-J. Schreiber, J. Vidaurre-Henry, Y. Abushady, B. Rens

Department of Safeguards, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Derived from the IAEA Statute, the purpose of IAEA safeguards is to verify that States are complying with their commitments made under safeguards agreements with the IAEA. To this end, the IAEA draws independent, timely and soundly based conclusions about the non-diversion of declared nuclear material and, if an additional protocol is in force or being otherwise applied, about the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities in the State as a whole. As reported in the Safeguards Statement for 2005, as of 31 December 2005, 70 States had both a comprehensive safeguards agreement (CSA) and an additional protocol in force or being otherwise applied. Twenty-five Member States of the European Union (EU) were among the 70 States. Fifteen of the non-nuclear-weapon States (NNWSs) in the EU had acceded to the multilateral safeguards agreement with the European Atomic Energy (Euratom) Community and the IAEA, and two European nuclear-weapon States (NWSs) had a voluntary offer safeguards agreement and an additional protocol in force. Eight of the accession States of the EU still had a CSA with an additional protocol in force that was concluded bilaterally with the IAEA. Table 1 shows the status of the safeguards agreement in force for each of the EU Member States as of 31 May 2006.

Under a CSA pursuant to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT), the IAEA has the right and obligation to ensure that safeguards are applied, in accordance with the terms of the agreement, to all source or special fissionable material in all peaceful nuclear activities within the territory of the State, under its jurisdiction or carried out under its control anywhere, for the exclusive purpose of verifying that such material is not diverted to nuclear weapons or other nuclear explosive devices in contravention of the safeguards agreement [1].

#### MURAKAMI et al.

# TABLE 1. STATUS OF SAFEGUARDS AGREEMENTS CONCLUDED IN EU STATES (AS OF 31 MAY 2006)

UKINFCIRC/2632004Not yet drawnNWSFranceINFCIRC/2902004Not yet drawnNWS13 EU NNWSs1INFCIRC/1932004Not yet drawn SLAs are underNNV	S, NS S, NS VS, ria, und and
FranceINFCIRC/2902004Not yet drawnNWS13 EU NNWSs1INFCIRC/1932004Not yet drawn SLAs are underNNV	S, NS VS, ria, und and
13 EU NNWSs <sup>1</sup> INFCIRC/193 2004 Not yet drawn SLAs are NNW under Aust	VS, ria, und and
preparation Finla at different Swee stages in each NS, o State are s lette	len are others ide r States
Estonia INFCIRC/193 2005 Not yet drawn SLA under AS, I preparation	NNWS
Slovakia INFCIRC/193 2005 Not yet drawn SLA under AS, I preparation	NNWS
Hungary INFCIRC/174 2000 2002 Dec 2004 AS, I NS	NNWS,
Slovenia INFCIRC/538 2000 2002 Nov 2005 AS, I NS	NNWS,
Poland INFCIRC/179 2000 2003 Jan 2006 AS, I NS	NNWS,
Lithuania INFCIRC/413 2000 2003 SLA under AS, I preparation NS	NNWS,
Latvia INFCIRC/434 2001 2003 SLA under AS, I preparation NS	NNWS,
Czech Republic INFCIRC/541 2002 Not yet drawn SLA under AS, I preparation NS	NNWS,
Cyprus INFCIRC/189 2003 Not yet drawn SLA under AS, I preparation SQP	NNWS, , NS
Malta INFCIRC/387 2005 Not yet drawn SLA under AS, I preparation SQP	

**Note:** AP = additional protocol, AS = EU accession State, NNWS = non-nuclearweapon State, NWS = nuclear-weapon State, NS = non-side letter State, SIR = Safeguards Implementation Report, SLA = State level approach, SQP = small quantities protocol.

<sup>1</sup> Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Greece, Italy, Ireland, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Sweden.

For a State to meet its obligation under a CSA with an additional protocol in force, the IAEA must be able to draw the conclusion that all nuclear material in the State remained in peaceful activities. This so-called broader conclusion is reached by drawing conclusions regarding the non-diversion of declared nuclear material and the absence of undeclared nuclear material or activities in the State as a whole. To this end, the IAEA carries out a comprehensive evaluation of the results of its verification activities under the relevant safeguards agreement and additional protocol, and of the findings from its analysis of all information available about a State's nuclear and nuclear related activities. The conclusion relating to the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities can be drawn for a State only when these activities have been completed and the IAEA has found no indication that, in its judgement, would give rise to concern regarding possible nuclear proliferation.

Once the IAEA has drawn this broader safeguards conclusion for a State, its activities under the CSA and additional protocol are streamlined, and a State level integrated safeguards approach is established and applied. Such an approach is developed on a non-discriminatory basis, using safeguards verification objectives common to all States with a CSA and an additional protocol in force. The approach also takes State specific features into account, such as the effectiveness of the State (or regional) system of accounting for and control of nuclear material (SSAC/RSAC) and the features of the State's nuclear fuel cycle.

# 2. LEGAL FRAMEWORK FOR IAEA SAFEGUARDS IMPLEMENTATION IN THE EU: A CHRONOLOGY

In 1957, in Rome, six European States (Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg and the Netherlands) signed the Treaty Establishing the European Atomic Energy Community (Euratom). In particular, Euratom was established mainly to promote research and development (R&D) in the use of atomic energy for non-military purposes and to ensure that nuclear material would not be used to manufacture nuclear weapons. In the 1970s, Denmark, Ireland and the United Kingdom joined Euratom. In 1973, the NNWSs of the European Community and Euratom concluded a safeguards agreement with the IAEA pursuant to the NPT (INFCIRC/193 [2]). This agreement provides that the IAEA, Euratom and the NNWSs party to the Treaty shall cooperate to facilitate the implementation of safeguards while avoiding duplication of safeguards activities. To this end, the agreement has a protocol that deals with several aspects of cooperation between the IAEA and Euratom. The agreement came into force in 1977. The two NWSs — the United Kingdom and

France — concluded separate voluntary offer safeguards agreements with Euratom and the IAEA (INFCIRC/263 [3] and INFCIRC/290 [4], respectively). In 1981, Greece became the tenth member of Euratom, followed by Spain and Portugal in 1986 and by Austria, Finland and Sweden in 1995; the Euratom membership then comprised 15 States.

In 2004, the addition protocol for the 13 NNWSs entered into force, as did the modified additional protocol for France and the United Kingdom. (Additional protocol measures applied in a NWS focus mainly on information provided with respect to nuclear material and activities that have linkages to NNWSs.) In December 2005, Estonia and Slovakia acceded to the safeguards agreement (INFCIRC/193), as did Slovenia in September 2006. The additional protocols and the safeguards agreement (INFCIRC/193 and additions) for 16 NNWSs and that for all other EU Member States are the legal basis for implementing safeguards in the EU.

As provided for in the text of the additional protocol for the EU Member States, ten of the NNWSs have delegated implementation of certain provisions of the additional protocol to the European Commission of the European Communities (EC) through side letters ('side letter States'), whereas three other 'non-side letter States' (Austria, Finland and Sweden) have not done so. In 2004, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Slovakia and Slovenia also joined the EU. At the time of joining, all ten accession States had in force individual CSAs with the IAEA, seven of them including an additional protocol. Eventually, all of the EU accession States will accede to the safeguards agreement (INFCIRC/193) and will exercise the option to delegate, or not delegate, certain responsibilities regarding provisions of the additional protocol to the EC.

In 2002, the IAEA drew the broader safeguards conclusion for Hungary and Slovenia and in 2003, for Poland, Lithuania and Latvia. In 2004, it reaffirmed the conclusions for all of these States and began implementing integrated safeguards in Hungary and Slovenia based on their State level approach (SLA). Since March 2006, an SLA has been in force in Poland. At the end of 2005, all EU Member States had an additional protocol in force, and for five States (Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland and Slovenia) the IAEA had drawn the broader safeguards conclusion for each State prior to its accession to the EU.

Table 1 shows the status with respect to safeguards agreements, additional protocols and the implementation of State level integrated safeguards in the EU as of May 2006.

# 3. IAEA AND EC COOPERATION FOR SAFEGUARDS IMPLEMENTATION FOR NNWSs PARTY TO INFCIRC/193

Negotiations between the IAEA, Euratom and five NNWSs of the then European Community regarding a safeguards agreement pursuant to the NPT began in 1971. Although the agreement (INFCIRC/193 [2]) was signed by both organizations and the five NNWSs in 1973, it entered into force only in 1977 after protracted and difficult exchanges between the IAEA and Euratom.

When the IAEA and Euratom began implementing safeguards in the NNWSs of the then European Community, there was friction between the two organizations and unnecessary duplication of verification activities occurred. In 1979, both organizations agreed to use 'observation' and 'joint team' arrangements for inspecting nuclear installations. It was expected that the joint team regime would obviate unnecessary duplication of work while permitting each organization to reach its goals. In reality, duplication of effort continued because the safeguards agreement required that IAEA inspectors perform independent verification activities while simultaneously observing the activities of the EC inspectors. In practice, both Euratom and the IAEA performed their activities with the aim of verifying States' compliance with their nuclear non-proliferation commitments.

In 1991, a joint Euratom–IAEA working group recommended discontinuing the observation and joint team arrangements and initiating a new partnership approach to enable both the IAEA and Euratom to meet their responsibilities under INFCIRC/193 in the most effective and efficient manner. The group also recommended the re-evaluation of the role of the Liaison Committee that had been created under the agreement and its relationship to its subsidiary bodies. On 28 April 1992, the EC Commissioner for Energy, Mr. Cardoso e Cunha, and IAEA Director General Hans Blix endorsed the recommendations of the working group and signed the New Partnership Approach (NPA).

Through the NPA, the observation and the joint team regimes were replaced by cooperation arrangements, namely, 'one-job, one-person', which would allow each organization to draw its own independent safeguards conclusions. The two organizations also agreed to develop common safeguards approaches, inspection procedures, activities, use of instruments, methods and techniques. In addition, both organizations agreed to share analytical capabilities, R&D resources, the training of inspectors and the common use of technologies — the latter intended to replace, to the extent possible, the physical presence of the inspectors with equipment working in an unattended mode.

Since 1992, the NPA arrangements have served both organizations and the EU well, and the synergies of Euratom and the IAEA, as expected, have

been largely realized. However, during 2004 and through 2005, while Euratom's safeguards approaches (under the Euratom Treaty) were being reshaped, the support from the EC with respect to providing inspection resources and the supply and maintenance of safeguards equipment declined. Unfortunately, there was a noticeable drop in the level of support for the maintenance and replacement of joint use equipment, particularly surveillance systems.

In May 2005, following a meeting held between IAEA Director General M. ElBaradei and A. Piebalgs, Commissioner for Energy of the European Commission, the EC reinstituted its support of IAEA inspection activities. In 2005 and 2006, the IAEA held meetings with the EC at the working level to discuss safeguards approaches for specific facility types and continued consultations on the provision and maintenance of joint use equipment. The IAEA is aware that the safeguards system of the EC continues to be a subject of discussion within the Commission and the EU. However, the IAEA continues to effectively implement safeguards agreements and additional protocols in the appropriate EU Member States without interruption.

In April 2004, the additional protocol came into force simultaneously in 15 EU States and the IAEA had to provide resources within a very short period of time in order to prepare for its implementation concurrently.

Currently, the IAEA is implementing safeguards, including the additional protocol, in EU Member States under the legal frameworks mentioned above. In sum, there are two NWSs with voluntary offer agreements and additional protocols, and 23 NNWSs party to INFCIRC/193, Add. 8, or to individual bilateral CSAs with an additional protocol. There are also States with and without a side letter option for delegating certain responsibilities regarding provisions of the additional protocol to the EC; States for which broader safeguards conclusions have been drawn or have yet to be drawn; and States with and without State level integrated safeguards approaches in place.

# 4. IAEA EXPERIENCE IN ADDITIONAL PROTOCOL IMPLEMENTATION IN THE EU

In accordance with Article 25 of the Protocol of INFCIRC/193 [2], the IAEA/Euratom Liaison Committee reviews the performance of safeguards implementation in the EU on a senior management level (the High Level Liaison Committee) and deals with the details of implementation by assigning this task to the Low Level Liaison Committee. The traditional structure of the two committees, particularly the Additional Protocol Working Group, has

proved important for cooperation with the IAEA in implementing the additional protocol.

Before the additional protocols entered into force in the EU, Finland and the Netherlands volunteered to participate in tests for the preparation of expanded declarations and in conducting complementary access trials at the end of the 1990s. Performance of complementary access activities was simulated on the basis of both 2 and 24 h advance notification. The EC support provided at that time was highly appreciated by the IAEA. A few years later, Finland and Hungary, and more recently also the United States of America, offered support to the IAEA in arranging training for IAEA inspectors on complementary access at nuclear sites and locations in their countries.

In October 2004, the EU Member States party to INFCIRC/193 and the EC submitted their first expanded declarations, under Article 2 of the Model Additional Protocol [5]. The IAEA reviewed the declarations, and analysed and evaluated the information for consistency, correctness and completeness. In addition, the IAEA has reviewed and evaluated the majority of responses to more than 350 of its requests for clarification that were made under Article 2.c of the Model Additional Protocol [5]. In 2005 and 2006, the EU Member States party to INFCIRC/193 and the EC submitted the annual updates of their declarations in accordance with Article 3 of the Model Additional Protocol.

Based on all information collected and analysed, the IAEA performs a safeguards State evaluation. State evaluations are central to the process by which safeguards conclusions are drawn. Safeguards State evaluation and review is a continuous process. Evaluations, conclusions and recommendations for follow-up actions are periodically documented in an internal State evaluation report, which is reviewed by an interdepartmental and multi-disciplinary IAEA committee.

As of the end of 2005, EC inspectors had been present at 45 complementary access visits performed in EU Member States since their additional protocol entered into force. During complementary access, the IAEA made visual observations, utilized radiation measurement devices and took swipe samples. Inspectors from the EC participated in IAEA complementary access activities with no major difficulties, and the EC as well as the EU Member States cooperated closely in providing clarifications. Some issues, such as the use of photography to complement visual observation and inconsistent results of environmental sample analysis for certain nuclear sites and locations, are still being resolved. The IAEA has requested States to provide explanations about past nuclear activities performed at these nuclear sites or locations.

The IAEA will be able to draw soundly based conclusions on the nondiversion of declared nuclear material and on the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities for individual EU Member States as soon as the

### MURAKAMI et al.

analysis and evaluation of all available safeguards relevant information has been finalized. Drawing the broader conclusion that all nuclear material placed in peaceful activities for one of the NNWSs still requires the analysis and evaluation of findings of more complementary access activities that will be performed over the coming years. It is expected that the IAEA will draw the broader conclusion for some of the EU Member States with small scale or no significant nuclear activities by 2007.

## 5. NEW SAFEGUARDS FRAMEWORK IN THE EU

The EC has prepared new safeguards approaches for implementing Euratom Treaty safeguards in the EU. It is hoped that the EC will soon discuss, at an appropriate level, the approaches with the IAEA so that the coordination of activities by both organizations can be established. In April 2006, the EC prepared and distributed to Member States a document entitled "Implementation of the Euratom Treaty Safeguards". The document outlines the new framework for Euratom safeguards, which focuses on the audit of the quality and performance of the system of nuclear material accounting and control used by facility operators, supplemented by reduced and selected on-site verifications. In May 2005, the EC confirmed that it intends to develop new cooperation arrangements with the IAEA but that in the meantime it will continue to be present during each IAEA inspection and provide the necessary support. A revised Cooperation Arrangement, if established, would be a legally binding document, like the NPA, and would have to be approved by the parties to the safeguards agreement. This would help to avoid any repetition of the decline in the EC's participation in inspection activities as well as the deterioration of support for equipment supply and maintenance that occurred during the past two years.

The IAEA cannot revert to a pre-NPA situation. The IAEA's ability to draw independent safeguards conclusions not only at the facility level but also at the State level needs to be maintained and strengthened. The IAEA will use its standard procedures for the resolution of anomalies and for periodic remeasurement of nuclear material kept under successful containment and surveillance (C/S) measures. The IAEA needs enhanced cooperation as well as direct and parallel communication with the facility operators and State representatives. The new framework for Euratom safeguards still requires discussion of important issues between the IAEA and the EC.

#### **TECHNICAL PLENARY**

# 6. IMPLEMENTATION OF INTEGRATED SAFEGUARDS IN EU ACCESSION STATES

In 2005, further progress was made in strengthening the effectiveness and improving the efficiency of IAEA safeguards in several areas, such as the implementation of integrated safeguards, the development of safeguards approaches, procedures and technologies, and cooperation with SSACs/RSACs. On 30 April 2004, when additional protocols entered into force in 15 EU Member States, additional protocols were already in force for 7 of the 10 new accession States. In 2005, the IAEA performed 14 complementary access visits in new accession States. State level integrated safeguards so far have been implemented in Hungary, Slovenia and Poland and will be implemented shortly in Latvia and Lithuania. The savings in inspection effort realized by the IAEA under integrated safeguards compared with traditional safeguards depend primarily on the number and type of nuclear facilities and the inventory and flow of nuclear material in a State.

Arrangements for short notice random inspections (SNRIs), including the setup of a mailbox system for submission of accountancy data, were discussed with each State, and appropriate procedures were established. Measurement systems working in an unattended mode, complemented with surveillance, remote monitoring and remote data transmission options, were taken into consideration to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of IAEA safeguards. Member States of the EU such as Hungary, Poland or Slovenia could serve as models for the implementation of State level integrated safeguards in other EU Member States.

# 7. IAEA VISION OF SAFEGUARDS IMPLEMENTATION FOR NNWSs OF THE EU

The NPA has proved its necessity and should remain in place until the EC, the IAEA and the relevant EU Member States have agreed on revised cooperation arrangements.

The EC's new framework for safeguards should be introduced gradually to ensure that there is no loss of safeguards effectiveness in the EU. Inspectors from the IAEA should be able to carry out the necessary activities as required, in accordance with the IAEA safeguards criteria and guidelines for drawing safeguards conclusions with regard to the non-diversion of declared nuclear material and the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities in each of the NNWSs of the EU. Technical cooperation between the IAEA and the EC should be maintained, particularly with respect to the procurement of safeguards equipment and supplies, and equipment maintenance.

As the IAEA is rapidly moving towards integrated safeguards implementation in all EU States, it will streamline its activities and enhance its safeguards activities through the increased use of safeguards schemes such as SNRIs with mailbox provision of operational data of the relevant facilities, remote monitoring of safeguards data generated by installed C/S systems or measurement devices and complementary access activities. When implementing SNRIs and complementary access, which are essential elements of integrated safeguards, the IAEA will require exceptional flexibility on the part of the EC facility operators and State authorities regarding the scheduling of inspections and the provision of inspectors with prompt access to nuclear sites and other locations. In this respect, direct and parallel communication with the facility operators or facility based safeguards officers will be of high importance in maintaining the IAEA's independence in drawing safeguards conclusions.

For those EU Member States that do not yet have an SLA in force, the process of strengthened safeguards implementation continues. As soon as the broader conclusion can be drawn for an individual EU Member State, an appropriate SLA will be implemented.

## 8. SUMMARY

For the next few years, the IAEA will face the challenge of implementing safeguards in the EU under a variety of legal frameworks. It has the difficult tasks of evaluating States' nuclear programmes (some with a history of intentions towards nuclear weapon development programmes), of drawing soundly based conclusions on the non-diversion of declared nuclear material and on the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities, and of implementing integrated safeguards in all of the (currently) 23 NNWSs of the EU. These processes will also incorporate the evaluation of the information provided by France and the United Kingdom under their additional protocols.

Thus far, the IAEA has experienced no major difficulties in the implementation of additional protocols in the EU Member States, including in the new accession States. It is expected that outstanding issues will be resolved in due course. The quality of the additional protocol declarations has been acceptable. Requests by the IAEA for clarifications and amplifications sent to States have been responded to positively. The States have cooperated in arranging complementary access with 2 or 24 h advance notification and in providing additional information whenever required. Some States have provided assistance and support with respect to IAEA inspector training on complementary access activities. All this has been possible only through close cooperation between the staff of the IAEA and the EC.

However, the implementation of integrated safeguards in EU Member States imposes certain difficulties because of the complex and diverse nuclear fuel cycle structure. In order for the IAEA to be able to draw broader conclusions for individual EU Member States and to annually reaffirm these conclusions under an integrated safeguards regime (including the conclusion regarding the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities in each EU Member State), it is essential to ensure complete independence of the IAEA in conducting its verification activities. In addition, there must be direct and parallel communication with State representatives and facility operators, and flexibility in scheduling routine inspection activities, in particular SNRIs and complementary access.

The IAEA remains ready to discuss possible changes to its cooperation arrangements with the EC, noting that any move away from the NPA should be made only after agreement has been reached on arrangements that would give full consideration to the operational and financial issues necessary for ensuring that safeguards continue to be implemented effectively and efficiently. Integrated safeguards implementation for EU Member States has been possible and successful through the dedicated efforts of the staff of the IAEA and of all parties involved.

## REFERENCES

- The Structure and Content of Agreements between the Agency and States Required in Connection with the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/153 (Corrected), IAEA, Vienna (1972), para. 2.
- [2] Agreement between Belgium, Denmark, the Federal Republic of Germany, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, the European Atomic Energy Community and the Agency in Connection with the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/193, IAEA, Vienna (1973).
- [3] Agreement between the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the European Atomic Energy Community and the International Atomic Energy Agency for the Application of Safeguards in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland in Connection with the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/263, IAEA, Vienna (1978).
- [4] Agreement between France, the European Atomic Energy Community and the International Atomic Energy Agency for the Application of Safeguards in France, INFCIRC/290, IAEA, Vienna (1981).

### MURAKAMI et al.

[5] Model Protocol Additional to the Agreement(s) between State(s) and the International Atomic Energy Agency for the Application of Safeguards, INFCIRC/540 (Corrected), IAEA, Vienna (1997).

# CLOSING PLENARY

(Session 21)

Chairperson

**G. ANDREW** IAEA

**Technical Secretary** 

**T. MORIARTY** IAEA

# THE SAFEGUARDS REVOLUTION: CONTRIBUTIONS AND PERSPECTIVES OF THE STANDING ADVISORY GROUP ON SAFEGUARDS IMPLEMENTATION\*

# J. Carlson

Chairman, Standing Advisory Group on Safeguards Implementation (SAGSI)

> Director General, Australian Safeguards and Non-Proliferation Office, Canberra, Australia

# 1. INTRODUCTION

It is no exaggeration to describe the ongoing changes to the IAEA safeguards system as revolutionary. In the past decade, safeguards have moved from a relatively routine system operating in a seemingly benign environment to a system undergoing radical change, having to reinvent itself to respond to major challenges. The process of revolution needs to be ongoing. The conceptual framework for the new safeguards system has been developed, but this framework has to be consolidated through new implementation practices. There is much more to be done if the safeguards system is to be successful in meeting current and future challenges.

The traditional comprehensive safeguards system was introduced in the early 1970s, following the conclusion of the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT). The rationale underlying the safeguards system then was very different from that of today. At that time it was thought that proliferation would require diversion of safeguarded nuclear material and misuse of safeguarded nuclear facilities. It was considered beyond the capability of most States to establish a wholly clandestine nuclear fuel cycle, independent of safeguarded nuclear material and facilities. Thus it was thought that an

<sup>\*</sup>SAGSI Members for 2004–2006 are as follows: J. Carlson (Chairman), M.G. Albert, J. C.asterton, A. Chabane Sari, Y.M. Choi, J. Eibenschutz, S. Fernández Moreno, R. Howsley, Y. Liu, K. Naito, B. Pellaud, V. Pushkarev, K. Raghuraman, G. Stein, J.W. Tape, D. Tillwick, A. Valseth and L.A. Vinhas. The Scientific Secretary for 2004–2005 was N. Tuley; the the Scientific Secretary for 2005–2006 was E. Haas.

### CARLSON

effective system was a matter of applying suitably rigorous safeguards procedures to declared material and facilities.

During the 1970s and 1980s, the traditional safeguards system developed in conditions of apparent stability, where the main challenge was seen as resource allocation — how to manage a steadily growing workload with a relatively static budget. During this period the traditional safeguards system developed, with emphasis on nuclear materials accountancy and on verifying the correctness of declared nuclear material inventories. The organizational culture developed around the use of quantitative and relatively mechanistic procedures. This culture was reinforced through a particular policy perspective, specifically, that avoiding discrimination required uniformity in safeguards implementation.

Yet this apparent stability proved to be dangerously misleading. Beneath the surface, clandestine nuclear programmes remained unrecognized and undetected. By the time of its discovery, following the 1991 Gulf War, Iraq's clandestine nuclear programme had been growing for over a decade undetected by safeguards. The discovery of this programme prompted a review of the safeguards system to identify ways and means of strengthening it.

Today it is recognized that the greatest single safeguards challenge is the detection of undeclared nuclear materials and activities. In IAEA terms, this is expressed as requiring that safeguards should provide assurance of the completeness as well as the correctness of States' declarations. The development of new methods, approaches and technology — and a new safeguards culture — is needed to respond to this challenge.

In contrast to the previous uniformity, the new safeguards are underpinned by a State level approach (SLA), designing safeguards implementation to address the acquisition paths available to each State and other State specific factors. At the same time, new techniques and detection technologies are being developed. Verification activities directed at the possibility of undeclared activities are being developed, reflecting new ways of thinking. The SLA, coupled with the broadening of available verification measures and techniques, will require greater adaptability at the implementation level more options will be available to inspectors, and there will be less emphasis on routine inspection activities and much more emphasis on observation skills.

A significant revolutionary aspect of safeguards development is the enhanced use of expert judgement in drawing safeguards conclusions. Conclusions about the absence of something (e.g. undeclared nuclear materials and activities) can never be as definitive as conclusions based on quantitative methods applied to a finite problem — the verification of a declared inventory. For the new safeguards conclusions to be credible, a number of conditions need to be satisfied: that States understand the process for looking for indicators of undeclared activities and accept it as appropriate; that States are satisfied that the process is being applied at the requisite standard; and that States are satisfied that judgements are exercised and conclusions drawn in a suitably disciplined, non-discriminatory way. All of this involves new approaches compared with the traditional quantitative system, including analysis of a broader range of information, and a quality assurance system to ensure appropriate standards of implementation and decision making.

The Standing Advisory Group on Safeguards Implementation (SAGSI) comprises a group of safeguards experts - currently numbering 18 appointed by the Director General to advise him on safeguards implementation issues. SAGSI was founded in the mid-1970s, following the establishment of the safeguards system set out in INFCIRC/153. In the early years, among other things SAGSI was instrumental in developing safeguards design parameters such as the 'significant quantity', establishing timeliness goals and developing the format for reporting on safeguards performance in the Safeguards Implementation Report (SIR). Following the 1991 Gulf War, SAGSI, in collaboration with safeguards technical experts both within and outside the Secretariat, helped to develop the strengthened safeguards measures in 'Programme 93+2'. These ideas and concepts for the strengthened safeguards system eventually led to the implementation of the 'Part I' and then the 'Part II' measures of the additional protocol. SAGSI has also played a significant role in working with the Secretariat to conceptualize and develop integrated safeguards facility approaches as well as the SLA.

The sections that follow touch on SAGSI's recent contributions to the safeguards revolution, describe more fully some key concepts that underlie the continuing safeguards revolution and outline SAGSI's views on the further development of the safeguards system.

## 2. SAGSI'S REVIEW OF THE SAFEGUARDS CRITERIA

A major characteristic of traditional safeguards has been uniformity in implementation: essentially the same inspection activities were applied at similar facilities in different States, with limited differentiation between States. As a consequence, inspection efforts were concentrated in those States with the largest fuel cycles. While some considered such a situation to be the price for a technically based, non-discriminatory system, many others considered that the allocation of safeguards efforts that had evolved represented an inefficient use of scarce resources, particularly as none of the States accounting for the greater proportion of the safeguards efforts was considered to pose a significant proliferation risk.

### CARLSON

Though in recent years the concentration of inspection resources in the three States accounting for the largest proportion of these resources has eased, for many the perception remains that traditional safeguards are inherently inefficient, because they do not provide a mechanism for prioritizing safeguards efforts in areas considered to present the highest proliferation risk. The safeguards criteria — which specify the safeguards activities required at each facility — were seen as a major factor contributing to this situation.

The Secretariat has established safeguards criteria for each type of facility under safeguards. Originally the safeguards criteria were developed to assist in the evaluation of safeguards performance; however, over time the criteria came to specify the scope, the normal frequency and the extent of the verification activities needed to achieve the inspection goals for each type of facility. Thus the criteria were used for planning and implementing verification activities as well as for evaluating the results from them. This resulted in a number of rigidities being built into the safeguards system.

In 2003 the Secretariat sought a substantial increase in the IAEA's budget, particularly for the implementation of safeguards. In the context of the debate over this increase, the Board of Governors' Programme and Budget Committee called for: "A review of the modernization and the flexibility and cost-effectiveness of safeguards working methods .... The aim of this exercise shall be to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of the IAEA's safeguards system, while maintaining its credibility."

At the time of the Board of Governors' approval of the budget increase, and in response to the above call, the Director General stated that the Office of Internal Oversight Services would evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of the safeguards programme, while SAGSI would be asked to undertake a specific technical review of the safeguards criteria. The Director General stressed that the primary driving force in the IAEA's verification work must always be effectiveness and objectivity.

Accordingly, the Director General asked SAGSI to review the role, structure and content of the IAEA's safeguards criteria, and to make recommendations for any specific changes that would improve the efficiency of safeguards while maintaining the ability of the safeguards system to provide credible assurance of the non-diversion of nuclear material from declared activities and, as appropriate, the absence of undeclared nuclear activities.

The terms of reference for the review asked SAGSI to focus on light water reactors and on-load reactors — including transfers of spent fuel from such facilities — and research reactors/critical assemblies. In addition, SAGSI looked at storage facilities, with particular reference to spent fuel storage, and fuel fabrication facilities. Collectively, these various facilities accounted for

some 78% of the IAEA's inspection effort (as measured in person-days of inspection).

The review of the role and structure of the safeguards criteria required SAGSI to go beyond the facility types referred to in the terms of reference and to examine a number of generic issues, such as new processes and documentation for integrated safeguards. In addition, SAGSI examined a number of 'cross-cutting' issues, that is, issues affecting a number of facility types.

Although SAGSI focused particularly on efficiency issues, efficiency and effectiveness are not mutually exclusive, and SAGSI has recommended a number of efficiency improvements that would also result in increased effectiveness.

In carrying out its review, SAGSI identified key concepts and principles that should remain substantially unchanged under either traditional or integrated safeguards, areas where flexibility would be possible in appropriate circumstances and factors to be considered in recommending any changes to safeguards criteria/approaches. These concepts and principles include the following:

- Nuclear materials accountancy will remain a safeguards measure of fundamental importance.
- Safeguards measures should cover all plausible acquisition paths.
- Where an acquisition path involves declared nuclear material or facilities, detection of diversion is not to be solely dependent on verification activities relating to the undeclared segments of the acquisition path.
- The benefit of unpredictable (i.e. to the State/operator) inspections and verification activities.
- The importance of the IAEA being able to reach independent safeguards conclusions.

Another key principle is the essential contribution of inspector presence to safeguards effectiveness, which is discussed below.

During the criteria review, SAGSI discussed and debated at length topics ranging from the arcane details of safeguards approaches at specific facility types to new, and in some cases radical, concepts for safeguards planning, implementation and evaluation. It is the new ideas and concepts, and where they might take the safeguards system in the future, that are the focus of the remainder of this paper.

# 3. THE NEW IDEAS: FURTHERING THE REVOLUTION

SAGSI found that the safeguards criteria remained broadly appropriate for the circumstances of traditional safeguards, but recommended a number of efficiency improvements, including:

- Greater use of unattended and remote monitoring technologies;
- Different ways of achieving timeliness, including randomized inspections;
- The importance of unpredictability through random/unannounced/short notice inspections.

SAGSI concluded that a criteria driven approach is not appropriate for integrated safeguards. Instead, the basis for safeguards implementation should be an SLA developed and documented for each State. New processes should take the place of the criteria — SAGSI recommended giving effect to the SLA through an annual safeguards implementation plan, supported by what SAGSI termed 'inspector instructions'.

While the safeguards objectives remain similar for all States, SLAs are intended to reflect the optimal combination of safeguards measures for each State, taking into account State specific factors and adjusting safeguards intensity accordingly, for example, through specifying selected safeguards measures and the facilities to be inspected.

SAGSI recommended against using 'criteria' in integrated safeguards. In place of the safeguards criteria, SAGSI advised the Secretariat to develop an SLA for each State, an annual safeguards implementation plan (AIP) for the State and operational level documents setting out the activities for meeting the verification objectives for facilities selected for inspection (and, where appropriate, providing choices of means of meeting the objectives). In subsequent discussions with the Secretariat, it was agreed that the AIP, giving effect to the SLA, would provide the basis for safeguards planning, implementation and evaluation. The AIP and the operational level documents would serve the function of the inspector instructions that SAGSI had proposed.

SAGSI emphasized that it was essential to avoid carrying over to integrated safeguards the rigidities found in traditional safeguards. Appropriate adjustments must be made for State specific factors; otherwise, safeguards efforts under integrated safeguards will ultimately be determined, as with traditional safeguards, mainly by quantities of material and numbers of facilities.

Although SAGSI highlighted the need to move away from uniform application of safeguards, it also drew attention to the need to ensure IAEA wide standards of effectiveness. Consistency of process is very different from –

and should not be confused with — uniformity of implementation. The traditional safeguards criteria, which specify only one way of applying safeguards implementation parameters, are not appropriate for integrated safeguards, since integrated safeguards involve the optimum combination of measures, requiring selection among possible measures. This, in turn, will require the development of new methodologies for safeguards evaluation, including broadening the range of information that can be taken into account in evaluating nuclear programmes – an area requiring considerable further development.

Since the Criteria Review, SAGSI has continued to work with the Secretariat on the development of the concept and application of the SLA, which has become the foundation for integrated safeguards.

## 3.1. A State level approach is also important for traditional safeguards

For a State under traditional safeguards, the extent to which State level factors can be reflected in the SLA will be more limited than in the case of a State with an additional protocol in force and for which the IAEA has drawn the broader safeguards conclusion. However, SAGSI concluded that the State level factors set out in INFCIRC/153 paragraph 81 should be considered for all States subject to comprehensive safeguards. Recent experience shows that in making adjustments for State specific factors, the safeguards system must be capable of increasing, as well as reducing, safeguards intensity. As States remaining under traditional safeguards will be the exception rather than the norm, an important aspect of the SLA will be assessing the adequacy of the standard facility level safeguards approaches for such States.

Evaluation for integrated safeguards should not be based on implementation criteria. Instead, evaluation should be based essentially on whether and how the verification objectives specified in the SLA were met, as indicated by the results of the activities carried out under the AIP.

Under traditional safeguards, the safeguards criteria had become associated with a rigid approach both to implementation and particularly to evaluation. The 'checklist' approach used for evaluation had also led to a predominantly 'checklist' approach to safeguards implementation. A primary objective of evaluation under integrated safeguards is to ensure that safeguards in the State are implemented in accordance with the SLA and the AIP. SAGSI continues to work with the Secretariat to develop and refine evaluation concepts for integrated safeguards.
#### CARLSON

#### 3.2. Integrated safeguards involve continuing cultural change

The rigidities in traditional safeguards implementation are the result of uniformity - a particular vision of achieving non-discrimination under the conditions of traditional safeguards. Under integrated safeguards, in addition to adaptability in developing SLAs, the broadening of available verification measures will require greater adaptability at the implementation level; more options will be available to inspectors, and there will be less emphasis on routine inspection activities. Verification activities directed at the possibility of undeclared nuclear activities involve new ways of thinking.

Moving from uniform implementation strictly defined by criteria involves moving to a result oriented culture, while upholding non-discrimination values. This will also require greater application of expert judgement and decision making at all stages and levels of safeguards implementation. As discussed, major change is also required in safeguards evaluation.

Achieving substantial change while maintaining the effectiveness, quality and overall non-discriminatory character of safeguards implementation and evaluation is a complex matter that requires the right strategies and management commitment. Change *is* taking place — the IAEA has already made good progress in these directions — but taking the process forward, broadening and accelerating it, will be a continuing challenge.

Reducing inspections should not be an aim in itself. Achieving efficiencies in routine inspection tasks enables prioritization of inspector time, optimizing the use of the skilled inspector resource in activities of the greatest verification value. SAGSI emphasized the essential contribution of inspector presence to safeguards effectiveness. There are many tasks that can be performed effectively only by an inspector, and the observational skills of the inspector are assuming increasing importance.

Achieving efficiencies in safeguards implementation is not only a matter for the IAEA, greater cooperation between the IAEA and States is required. Greater cooperation between the IAEA and State systems of accounting for and control of nuclear material (SSACs) can significantly improve efficiency through cooperative endeavours. In addition to ensuring that SSAC data are timely and accurate, areas for cooperation include the use of unattended and remote monitoring, mailbox approaches for reporting data, the conduct of joint inspections and enabling unannounced/short notice inspection. Many States are already active in these areas, but there is more to be done. SAGSI noted that these activities require a high level of commitment and competence on the part of SSACs.

SAGSI is currently working with the Secretariat to develop new guidelines for SSACs, including a revision of the Guidelines for States' Systems

of Accounting for and Control of Nuclear Materials (IAEA/SG/INF/2), which will be published in the International Nuclear Verification Series as the top level SSAC Guidelines document and supported by a series of other guideline implementation documents, including the Nuclear Material Accounting Handbook and ISSAS Mission Guidelines.

Further efficiencies could come from the concept of infrequent intensive verification, which SAGSI recommends for further study. This concept builds on the advantages of unpredictability in verification. The concept could be used as an alternative to the normally defined level of routine inspections, resulting in net savings. This would involve a trade-off between further reductions in routine inspections and unpredictable but occasional and intensive inspections. The concept could also be used to supplement routine inspections, providing flexibility to introduce more intensive inspections in response to emerging circumstances.

Associated with the concept of infrequent intensive inspection is the concept of a safeguards operational support team (SOST) — also recommended for further study. The SOST would comprise a group of specialist inspectors who could be drawn upon to supplement routine inspection operations. The Secretariat already does this on an ad hoc basis; with SOST this would be established on an ongoing basis.

# 4. FURTHER DEVELOPMENT OF THE SAFEGUARDS SYSTEM

The new ideas and the ongoing revolution in safeguards will continue to develop in a dynamic international nuclear context that may see significant expansion and growth in the use of peaceful nuclear technologies and continued challenges to the non-proliferation regime from a small number of States. The IAEA safeguards system, working on behalf of the international community, must continue to provide confidence in the peaceful uses of nuclear energy. SAGSI expects to continue to contribute to the ongoing safeguards revolution by considering key technical questions surrounding the implementation of IAEA safeguards. Some of these questions are identified in the following paragraphs.

Peaceful nuclear activities are expected to grow overall and, importantly for safeguards, to expand into new regions. The safeguards system will have to keep pace; but it is unlikely that safeguards growth can be linear with the increase in global nuclear activities. The concepts outlined in the SLA, which permit the development and implementation of 'intelligent' safeguards, will be essential to meet the demands to maintain a credible system that is both effective and efficient. Will the Secretariat be able to ensure that the SLA to

#### CARLSON

safeguards implementation and evaluation continues to evolve to reflect experience gained as well as the development of new safeguards relevant equipment and technology? Will the safeguards system remain credible?

Experience to date has shown that greater use of information and advanced technologies are essential elements of the safeguards system, and these can be expected to increase in importance in the future. What expected advances in the fields of information collection and analysis can be employed by the Secretariat? What are the essential technologies needed to strengthen the safeguards system, and how can they best be employed? Given the continuing importance of research and development (R&D) in this area, how can we ensure there is an appropriately structured R&D programme reflecting the needs and priorities of the safeguards system?

Wider acceptance of the additional protocol and more States coming under integrated safeguards will contribute to effectiveness and efficiency gains for the safeguards system. Experience gained in the implementation of integrated safeguards can be expected to improve safeguards implementation, leading to additional gains in both aspects of safeguards. What additional adjustments to safeguards implementation are warranted?

New fuel cycle concepts, such as assured fuel supply, multilateral fuel cycle centres and new partnerships, can all have a major impact on the use of safeguards resources. Until there is further development of these ideas, it is unclear how they might impact on safeguards, but it is clear they must be developed in concert with the safeguards community to ensure the optimal use of safeguards resources. How can we ensure that safeguards considerations have an appropriate influence on the fuel cycle choices facing the international community?

The lessons learned from the proliferation activities of a few States and the revelation of an illicit nuclear trade network have illustrated that the possibility of clandestine facilities and associated undeclared materials and activities are real threats that must be addressed by the safeguards system. How can the safeguards system enhance its ability to detect these undeclared nuclear materials and activities? What are the impacts on the safeguards system of the possibly widespread availability of, for example, centrifuge designs?

In short, what will the safeguards system look like in five or ten years? How can the current system build a sound foundation to support the international nuclear enterprise of 2036, 30 years from now? If history is a useful guide, consider the safeguards implemented in 1976 with those implemented under the current system. The changes have been dramatic, even if the fundamentals are the same. There is every reason to believe that the safeguards system will continue to evolve, with periods like the recent one in which the pace of change can be truly characterized as revolutionary.

# IAEA SAFEGUARDS: ROLLING STONE OR GATHERING MOSS?

# J. Cooley

Department of Safeguards, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna

# 1. INTRODUCTION

For the IAEA safeguards system to remain relevant to the nonproliferation regime, it has to continue to evolve to respond to rising challenges. This presentation will first highlight past challenges and how the safeguards system has evolved to address them to date. Current and upcoming challenges will then be described, including how they are being addressed or how the IAEA is positioned to further evolve the safeguards system to address them.

# 2. SAFEGUARDS STRENGTHENING

Clearly, the past 15 years have seen a major change in the safeguards system. The challenges of the early 1990s, including the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the completeness exercise in South Africa and the discovery of Iraq's clandestine nuclear weapons programme, led to a thorough review of the system and to major changes across the board to strengthen it, particularly its ability to detect undeclared nuclear activities. These strengthening measures can be characterized as (i) new legal authority, (ii) advanced technologies, (iii) broader information sources and (iv) a State level approach (SLA) to safeguards.

# 2.1. New legal authority

The Model Additional Protocol (INFCIRC/540 (Corrected)) has provided the IAEA with the tools to more fully address the safeguards system's objectives of verifying the completeness and correctness of States' declarations so that it can provide credible assurance of the non-diversion of declared nuclear material and the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities. By requiring States to provide information and access on both the front end

#### COOLEY

and the back end of the nuclear fuel cycle, as well as on nuclear related research and development (R&D), manufacturing and exports, the IAEA has the ability to construct as complete a picture as possible of a State's nuclear programme, to ensure consistency of all the relevant information available and to draw the necessary safeguards conclusions.

# 2.2. Advanced technologies

# 2.2.1. Environmental sampling

Environmental sampling is the most important technical measure that the IAEA has introduced to detect undeclared nuclear activities. Since 1996, the IAEA has collected over 5000 environmental samples in connection with inspections, design information verification (DIV) visits and complementary access. To support the environmental sampling programme, the IAEA's Network of Analytical Laboratories (NWAL) has been extended to include 14 laboratories in eight Member States with the capability to perform low level isotopic and radiometric measurements.

# 2.2.2. Remote monitoring

The installation and operation of unattended detection equipment with remote transmission of safeguards data have strengthened effectiveness by providing for continuous inspection coverage and timely data review, and have improved efficiency by reducing inspector time in the field. To date, there are over 125 surveillance and radiation monitoring systems installed in the field, with remote transmission capabilities.

# 2.2.3. Satellite imagery

Satellite imagery is being used as an important information source to effectively plan verification activities in the field, to confirm the operational status of facilities and to resolve questions with minimal expenditure of inspector time and no burden to the State. An imagery unit with professional analysts has been established within the Department of Safeguards, and currently the IAEA has contracts with some ten commercial imagery product suppliers.

#### **CLOSING PLENARY**

#### 2.3. Broader information sources

Also in this time frame, the IAEA started taking full advantage of all the information available on States' nuclear programmes. This includes (i) information provided by States under their safeguards agreements or on a voluntary basis, such as equipment exports under the Voluntary Reporting Scheme, (ii) information derived from the IAEA's verification activities in the field, including inspections, DIV visits and complementary access, and (iii) information from all other sources, including IAEA non-safeguards databases, reports from research institutions, scientific literature, trade publications and satellite imagery.

#### 2.4. A State level approach to safeguards

A State evaluation process has been developed to use all of the information available about a State's nuclear programme to plan, implement and evaluate safeguards activities for the State. This is referred to as 'information driven' safeguards. A comprehensive State evaluation, involving a comparison and assessment of all of the information available, is conducted to provide as complete a picture as possible of a State's nuclear and nuclear related activities. An important element of the State evaluation is identifying issues requiring follow-up. The findings from the evaluation are used as the basis for drawing safeguards conclusions. For a State with a comprehensive safeguards agreement and an additional protocol in force, the objective is to draw a broader conclusion regarding both the non-diversion of declared nuclear material and the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities in the State as a whole. With the broader safeguards conclusion, it is possible to optimize implementation of all safeguards measures available under comprehensive safeguards agreements and additional protocols. This is known as integrated safeguards.

#### 3. RESPONDING TO CHALLENGES

As the Director General said in his opening statement during the Opening Plenary, the IAEA cannot rest on its laurels. The safeguards system has to continue to respond to new challenges, both to the organization and to the implementation of effective safeguards.

# 3.1. Challenges facing the IAEA

Simply put, the IAEA needs a full complement of competent, motivated staff members who have access to the data and equipment necessary for performing all of their verification and evaluation activities within the given budget.

# 3.1.1. Succession planning

On the staffing side, the IAEA has been working hard on succession planning in the context of identifying skills needed in different positions, staff development to attain these skills and timely recruitment in the light of retirement of senior staff members. Specifically, all positions of section head, unit head and senior inspector have been reviewed to identify qualified staff members who could assume these positions through rotation or promotion in the near term as well as recruitment needs. Work plans have been developed for individual staff members to reflect the experience and training required to qualify for these key positions. Skill sets are also being identified for the different level of inspectors (i.e. P3, P4 and P5), so that it is clear to everyone what knowledge and experience are required to be considered for the next level. The aim is a transparent process. In parallel, the Department's training programme is being reviewed and updated to support the development effort.

# 3.1.2. Department reorganization

In terms of working internally more effectively and efficiently, the Department is being reorganized, in particular to implement the SLA concept. Traditionally, the sections within the Safeguards Operations Divisions were organized along facility types, with units responsible for specific facility types (e.g. a group inspecting reactors and a group inspecting enrichment plants). In 2005, the Operations Divisions were reorganized and are now aligned according to States, where the same team is responsible for safeguards implementation for a single State. The IAEA is currently working on reorganizing the Support Divisions to be able to interface effectively with and support the Operations Divisions. The IAEA is aiming to develop the 'one stop shop' approach so that inspectors only have to go to one place/one desk for evaluation support, one desk for inspection equipment, etc.

#### 3.1.3. ISIS Re-engineering Project

In the area of information access, the centrepiece of the development effort is the ongoing IAEA Safeguards Information System (ISIS) Reengineering Project (IRP), a project critical to the future of the Department. Much of the safeguards data and many applications are on a dedicated mainframe system that is over 25 years old. Other databases and applications are on stand-alone systems spread throughout the Department. It has been clear for a number of years that a new, integrated system is needed to effectively and efficiently address all of the Department's data and processes.

The objective of the IRP is to integrate all of the safeguards data and applications and thereby improve access to all necessary data, both at IAEA headquarters and in the field. This is the largest technical project ever undertaken within the IAEA, and while it is a serious challenge, it is obviously a great opportunity for improving effectiveness and efficiency. The project started in July 2005 and is expected to run 3.5 years and to cost approximately \$35 million (half coming from the regular budget, the other half from extrabudgetary funds). During 2006, the focus has been on taking inventory and determining what has to be transferred (e.g. there are many old applications that are no longer needed), on defining architectural standards and IT security requirements (a key issue), and on developing plans for migration (i.e. the order of transfer and how long to run parallel systems). The implementation phase is now starting. Donations for funding this project are still being accepted.

#### 3.1.4. Quality management system

The implementation of a Departmental quality management system (QMS), compliant with the ISO 9001:2000 standard, will improve effectiveness and efficiency across all of the Department's activities and, more importantly, support the provision of soundly based safeguards conclusions. The IAEA has been laying the groundwork for this project since 2001, when QMS awareness training for staff members began. Training has continued, with courses tailored for managers, new and experienced inspectors, and support staff. But it took two reviews of the Department in 2003–2004, one by the Standing Advisory Group on Safeguards Implementation (SAGSI) and one by an external group of experts, both with strong recommendations for implementing such a system, to get things moving. In 2004, quality managers were appointed in each division to work with the Department quality manager. The Departmental quality policy was approved in late 2004, a gap analysis guided by the ISO 9001:2000 standard was completed in early 2005, and internal quality audits and

#### COOLEY

management reviews began in early 2006. To date, four audits have been conducted and continual process improvement working groups have started. All the components are now in place to drive the system forward.

#### 3.2. Challenges to safeguards implementation

A major task for the IAEA is the implementation of additional protocols for more and more States. Currently there are 78 States with additional protocols in force. For those States, the challenges are the drawing of the broader safeguards conclusion and the implementation of integrated safeguards. Currently, integrated safeguards are being implemented for ten States, and concepts and integrated safeguards approaches continue to evolve as experience is gained.

The IAEA is also being challenged to develop and implement safeguards for large, complex facilities as well as for different types of facility. For example, the ten year project to develop a safeguards approach for the Rokkasho reprocessing plant in Japan was completed at the beginning of 2006, and active testing of the facility began shortly thereafter. Most of the safeguards equipment has been installed and is in use, and routine inspections have started. Significant resources will continue to be required for verification activities as well as for maintaining and upgrading the plant specific safeguards instrumentation. Work has started on the development of the safeguards approach for the mixed oxide fuel fabrication plant at Rokkasho (JMOX project); this will also require considerable resources (development effort and installed equipment). In addition, work is expected to resume on the Chernobyl conditioning facility project. Then there are the large gas centrifuge enrichment facilities planned for France and the United States of America, as well as the safeguards activities associated with the agreement between India and the United States of America. To add one more challenge, safeguards implementation for the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK) could resume in the near future, requiring substantial resources.

In the area of new safeguards approaches, the IAEA is working on approaches for pebble bed reactors and for verifying the decommissioned status of facilities. Work has recently started on an integrated safeguards approach for geologic repositories. All of this work is being conducted with the help of Member States through their support programmes.

Another key challenge related more to the State evaluation process is addressing clandestine supply and procurement networks. The Nuclear Trade Analysis Unit (NUTRAN) was established in late 2004 within the Department of Safeguards and is the focal point for the receipt of procurement network related information (e.g. export denials of sensitive equipment, unsuccessful

#### CLOSING PLENARY

procurement attempts, companies/individuals involved). It was set up to investigate, accumulate and analyse this information. Studies are being conducted on specific procurements, individual companies and possible illegal networks. This team supports the State evaluation efforts of the IAEA. This is an area where additional support is being requested from Member States, both for provision of information and for the development of tools and methods.

#### 4. FURTHER STRENGTHENING THE SAFEGUARDS SYSTEM

Specific recommendations for further strengthening the safeguards system can be identified in categories similar to those presented above for the strengthening measures of the 1990s — namely, (i) legal authority, with the conclusion and implementation of existing safeguards instruments, (ii) expanded technical capabilities and (iii) broader sources of information.

# 4.1. Legal authority

With respect to measures associated with the IAEA's legal authority, the goal is simple: to strengthen the safeguards system by making full use of existing legal instruments. All non-nuclear-weapon States are required to conclude a safeguards agreement within 180 days of becoming a party to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT). There are currently 30 States that have yet to comply with this obligation. As noted in the Safeguards Implementation Report (SIR) over the past several years, the IAEA cannot draw a safeguards conclusion for these States. In terms of existing safeguards agreements, examples where States are not meeting all their obligations include the granting of long term multiple entry visas (as called for in subsidiary arrangements or additional protocols) and the timely submission of reports under comprehensive safeguards agreements or of declarations under additional protocols. States are also being requested to fulfil all of their voluntary commitments, such as reporting on exports of separated neptunium and americium.

Another legal instrument that could serve to strengthen the system is the modified small quantities protocol (SQP) to comprehensive safeguards agreements. The original SQP held in abeyance many of the provisions of the safeguards agreement. The Secretariat sought more information and access to strengthen the basis upon which safeguards conclusions could be drawn for States with an operative SQP. In deliberations in 2005, the Board of Governors decided that the SQP should remain part of the safeguards system but should be subject to modification of the standard text and criteria which, among other

#### COOLEY

things, require an initial report of nuclear material holdings and provide for inspections. All States with existing SQPs have been asked to accept the modified standard text; to date, nine States have done so. The Secretariat is providing training seminars and has prepared written guidance to assist States in this regard. Last but not least in this category is a recommendation for all States to conclude an additional protocol. As the Director General has stated repeatedly, it is only with all measures under a comprehensive safeguards agreement and an additional protocol that the IAEA can effectively address the completeness and correctness of States' declarations.

# 4.2. Expanded technical capabilities

# 4.2.1. Environmental sampling

As has been described in the SIR for the past several years and in reports to the Advisory Committee on Safeguards and Verification of the Board of Governors (Committee 25) in 2006, the number of environmental samples collected by inspectors in the field has increased dramatically over the past few years. This high level of environmental samples is expected to continue, due in part to ongoing investigations and in part to the larger number of complementary access activities being conducted. Sample collection and how samples are sent through the NWAL have been optimized as much as possible, but additional capacity is needed, particularly for particle analysis. One recommendation is to expand the NWAL. Specifically, States have been requested to add capacity to laboratories within the existing network or qualify new laboratories as part of it. This is a financial commitment for a State, since the amount the IAEA pays for sample analysis is only a fraction of the actual cost. In parallel, a second recommendation is to expand the capabilities of the IAEA's Safeguards Analytical Laboratory, in particular to turn around high priority samples with timely, high sensitivity analyses.

# 4.2.2. Satellite imagery

A second area for the expansion of technical capabilities is in satellite imagery. The majority of imagery used to date by the Department of Safeguards has been high resolution optical imagery. However, optical imagery alone cannot reveal all the pertinent indicators of possible undeclared nuclear activities. Other types of imagery and analytical tools that would be useful for the Department's analysts include (i) high resolution synthetic aperture radar (SAR), (ii) geographic information systems to allow correlation and analysis of safeguards related information with a geographical dimension stored in various systems, (iii) radar imagery processing techniques and (iv) change detection tools to identify differences between two images over time or between an image and a drawing. The specific recommendation is for Member States to support the IAEA in obtaining these different types of imagery and advanced analytical tools, and to assist with training in imagery analysis and use of the tools.

#### 4.2.3. Novel technologies

A third area for the expansion of technical capabilities is the use of 'novel technologies' by inspectors in the field for the detection of undeclared nuclear activities. Novel technologies are defined as those in which the methodology has not been previously applied to safeguards applications. Techniques based on the detection of emanations associated with nuclear processes are being investigated. These include the sampling and monitoring of specific solid, liquid and gaseous material to provide new methods and approaches for the detection of undeclared nuclear activities from distances ranging from hundreds of meters to many kilometres. On the basis of IAEA priorities and resources, a limited number of projects have been selected and cooperation with Member States has been initiated to develop these technologies for possible use in the field. Among the possibilities being studied are (i) laser induced breakdown spectroscopy (LIBS) to determine the nature and history of compounds and elements found on sites, (ii) optical stimulation luminescence (OSL) to determine whether an undeclared location has been used previously for storing radiological material and (iii) light detection and ranging (LIDAR) to detect the presence and nature of nuclear fuel cycle process activities at suspect locations.

#### 4.3. Broader information sources

The provision of additional information on nuclear material and activities would also contribute to further strengthening the safeguards system. Provision by a State of information on past nuclear activities, upon the request of the IAEA, is for the purpose of clarifying the correctness and completeness of the State's declaration concerning current nuclear material and activities. The need for such information is identified through the State evaluation process. It should be emphasized that the provision of historical information falls within existing legal authority — specifically, it was a Part 1 safeguards strengthening measure approved by the Board in 1995. Other types of information sought from States on a voluntary basis include exports of specific equipment and non-nuclear material, export denials, relevant information from commercial

#### COOLEY

suppliers and information on the disposition of sensitive equipment and components from decommissioned facilities.

Another mechanism that would provide for a more uniform approach would be amendment of the annexes of the Model Additional Protocol. Article 16.b. of the Model Additional Protocol provides that the lists of the annexes may be amended by the Board upon the advice of an open ended working group of experts established by the Board. Any such amendment would take effect four months after adoption by the Board for all States with additional protocols. The Secretariat thinks it is time to consider including some additional activities, technologies and materials relevant to safeguards in the annexes (e.g. use of accelerator driven systems). It is important to recognize and address advances in nuclear technology. For example, the list of specified equipment and non-nuclear material upon which Annex II was based has been updated six times since the Board approved the Model Additional Protocol in 1997.

# 5. CONCLUSION

What has been described in this paper covers only major near term challenges and ongoing work. A brief mention is warranted of some of the longer term issues where the safeguards system is likely to play a key role, namely, (i) multinational nuclear fuel cycle facilities that are currently being discussed in the context of assurances of nuclear fuel supply, (ii) a future role in other disarmament initiatives (e.g. the proposed Fissile Material Cut-off Treaty) and (iii) more nuclear fuel cycle facilities associated with a 'nuclear renaissance'.

Is the IAEA safeguards system 'a rolling stone' or is it 'gathering moss'? It should be clear from the work in progress that the safeguards system is indeed a rolling stone; however, not one that is rolling out of control down a hill or off a cliff. Rather, the IAEA and its safeguards system have direction, conviction and a plan to remain a viable, critical element of the non-proliferation regime for many years to come. And the IAEA counts on support from all Member States in fulfilling that mission.

# **SYMPOSIUM HIGHLIGHTS\***

## **R.** Schenkel

Director General, European Commission — Joint Research Centre, Brussels

# 1. INTRODUCTION

Good morning and thank you for the introduction. It is a great pleasure for me to return to my roots in the area of safeguards. I am glad to see so many partners and friends from previous efforts in safeguards and in R&D to support the IAEA. When I was asked to make this presentation, I was not sure whether I should consider it an honour or a duty. This might be the most important presentation for you, since I offer you a potential blueprint for your mission report. With so much information in this report, your superiors may consider this your most comprehensive report. I leave that judgement up to you.

## 2. CURRENT CHALLENGES TO THE SAFEGUARDS SYSTEM

What were the major messages of the presentations on the first day? Obviously, the nuclear non-proliferation regime is under stress. You can reformulate that message, depending on whether you are an optimist or a pessimist. Another important message is that multilateral approaches, combined with robust verification, are crucial. It was also stated that the real challenge for the IAEA currently is in the area of detecting undeclared nuclear activities. Also, on-site inspections are considered key, but they require information and access. It remains questionable whether the IAEA will be able to obtain all of the necessary information and access.

The IAEA needs to stay ahead of the game. All of the evolution in safeguards implementation that has occurred underscores that we need to anticipate, to be faster and to be better in detecting and tracing indicators. I will say more about that later. In addition, we are encountering the expansion of nuclear technology and nuclear energy, as well as the more intensive use of

<sup>\*</sup> The opinions expressed in this summary — and any recommendations made — are those of the participants and do not necessarily represent the views of the IAEA, its Member States or the other cooperating organizations.

#### SCHENKEL

nuclear energy and the spread of nuclear fuel cycle facilities to more countries. We may be faced with future challenges in these areas. More and more countries are becoming interested in enrichment technology, and if activities in a State were to go undeclared for a time, the additional protocol to safeguards agreements might not be sufficient for confidence building. Additional transparency measures may be called for.

Regarding the development of the peaceful uses of nuclear energy, global trust and respect are essential. The cultures of nuclear non-proliferation, security and safety must coexist, and synergies need to be further developed. Global strengthening efforts to achieve predictable and reliable nuclear safety, security and safeguards systems are under way. I recall, in this context, a special session of the IAEA General Conference held this year (2006).

Safeguards implementation has become more sophisticated in adapting and reacting to changing circumstances. This could be seen in a slide presented this morning. Also, in the presentation by John Carlson, we learned how the interpretation of document INFCIRC/153 (Corrected) [1] could potentially evolve.

Cooperation between States and the IAEA is fundamental to safeguards implementation. Member States now expect the IAEA to be able to draw soundly based conclusions regarding the absence of undeclared nuclear material and activities to supplement conclusions regarding the non-diversion of declared nuclear material.

Regarding the additional protocol to safeguards agreements, undoubtedly this is an excellent confidence building measure and should become, together with a comprehensive safeguards agreement, the verification standard under the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT). A strengthened safeguards system should function as an early warning system and provide sufficient time to react to new circumstances.

# 3. FURTHER STRENGTHENING SAFEGUARDS

What is expected of the IAEA? The IAEA needs to communicate more with its Member States whenever new obligations are introduced, such as the additional protocol to safeguards agreements, and provide a clear explanation of both the requirements and the benefits involved for the community and for safeguards assurances. The IAEA also needs to perform an effective 'baseload' safeguards implementation and deploy some of the resources in recognition of the risks involved.

Regulators and authorities should also model and emulate good practices in a culture of compliance. There was an interesting statement by one presenter that Japan's intent is to become a model of the peaceful uses of nuclear technologies. Another presenter made a very clear statement about Canada's intent to maintain the broader safeguards conclusion that the IAEA drew in 2005, under an agreed State level approach.

Relative to all States, those States that possess the technology usable for nuclear weapons have a special requirement to establish confidence in their nuclear activities. For example, South Africa provided the IAEA with greater access and more information than was required in connection with its nuclear weapons dismantlement programme.

The situation in Europe was also touched upon briefly. Statements were made that the European Commission is adapting its safeguards to meet current conditions, building complementarity with the IAEA, particularly with regard to the introduction of integrated safeguards. The IAEA is also working with Member States of the European Union (EU) to implement the additional protocol and integrated safeguards in a timely manner. The goal is to be able to draw the broader safeguards conclusion for most EU Member States within two years. We at the Joint Research Centre will continue to support the IAEA in the future with R&D.

For the expected expansion of nuclear energy, States and the IAEA should use the lessons learned from early consideration of safeguards in the design and construction of new facilities. It is encouraging to see that many of the new initiatives are actually taking place. The IAEA must begin right now to address future safeguards situations — for example, for the years 2020 and 2030, taking into consideration reactor types, new safeguards approaches and technologies.

How can we meet the current challenges? First, it is important to strengthen the agreements already in place, bringing all the players together, whether large or small, into the nuclear non-proliferation regime. We should learn from past experiences, employing suitable technologies to ensure that the appropriate treaties are adhered to and verifiable. We should develop tools to identify sources of clandestine transfers of sensitive technology and components. As J. Cooley mentioned in her presentation, this is one of the IAEA's major objectives. Furthermore, we need to foster greater awareness and understanding of nuclear non-proliferation and safeguards issues among industry, the public and the various players in the field through education.

As several presenters stressed, information driven safeguards are an important issue. Information collection and evaluation are essential components of modern safeguards, and we need to develop an all-source information collection, analysis and evaluation system.

There was an interesting presentation by the Director of Safeguards of the European Commission about the revised nuclear material accountancy

#### SCHENKEL

system that serves as a common system for EU Member States and a common contact point for the IAEA.

The importance of the IAEA Safeguards Information System (ISIS) Reengineering Project was stressed, since it will allow the IAEA to transform diverse data into available and lasting knowledge. Additional support for this project is absolutely essential.

Open source information research is addressing new challenges, including contextual awareness, duplicate information and quick responsiveness. The IAEA is developing the 'n-VISION' tool to meet the needs of advanced information analysis. Human experts will continue to play a key role in that endeavour.

Good progress was reported on the implementation of the additional protocol and the move to integrated safeguards, including for States with large, complex nuclear programmes. Broader safeguards conclusions were drawn for Japan in 2004 and for Canada in 2005. The active involvement of and cooperation among the IAEA, State authorities and facility operators is essential. States with less safeguards experience especially appreciate the IAEA's assistance in understanding and meeting their safeguards obligations.

Much effort continues to be given to refining so-called traditional safeguards implementation as well as to developing and implementing new, strengthened safeguards approaches. States expect to see noticeable improvements in the effectiveness and efficiency of the safeguards system. Random inspection regimes have been introduced successfully in Japan at power reactors and fuel fabrication plants, and preparations for their implementation in Canada and in EU States are under way.

# 4. ADVANCED SAFEGUARDS TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGY

Several presenters described safeguard implementation for the Rokkasho reprocessing plant in Japan. This is one of the IAEA's largest safeguards endeavours in terms of the quantity of safeguarded material, equipment costs and human resources involved, a point highlighted in the presentation by J. Cooley. In March 2006, the IAEA initiated a continuous inspection regime at the plant as startup progressed to the process areas. As the plant moves to full operation in 2007, the IAEA's success will require communication, coordination and cooperation by all parties involved.

There were interesting presentations about the Hexapartite Safeguards Project and its relationship to current centrifuge enrichment plants. It was noted that in the area of centrifuge enrichment plants, additional optimization and improvements could be achieved. There was notable consistency in the safeguards approaches described in several presentations on this topic.

Strengthened safeguards have presented opportunities for the application of a much wider range of analytical sciences for helping to achieve safeguards goals. The IAEA continues to benefit from technological progress in computing power and software, cost effectiveness, miniaturization and portability. Environmental sampling is an obvious example. It is an important safeguards measure, and from several presentations it could be seen that there have been notable improvements in environmental sampling, particularly with respect to the sensitivity and selectivity of the techniques and the evaluation methodology. As a result, high standards have been achieved by the Network of Analytical Laboratories that assists the IAEA in its analysis of nuclear materials and environmental samples.

The next generation of unattended verification, remote monitoring and containment and surveillance (C/S) equipment will have many interesting features that will increase detection capacity and also make the task of the inspector easier. For example, commercially available satellite imagery is increasingly being used for safeguards implementation. Enhancements were reported, through object based analysis, for the exploitation of thermal infrared and hyperspectral imagery; there is also the potential for better interpretive aids for the detection, classification and monitoring of nuclear facilities and even for automated analysis. This latter area remains important, particularly for the IAEA's efforts to detect undeclared nuclear activities.

The IAEA Novel Technologies Project was described as a mechanism for identifying innovative technologies that could have application to safeguards, particularly for detecting undeclared activities. Some promising examples are laser induced breakdown spectroscopy to determine the nature and history of compounds and elements at a site, and optical stimulation luminescence to determine whether an undeclared location has been used for storing radiological material. The IAEA also reported good progress in the implementation of a comprehensive quality management system, based on the ISO 9001:2000 standard, in the Department of Safeguards.

# 5. FUTURE CHALLENGES

The IAEA will continue to face challenges with respect to nuclear terrorism, illicit trafficking and other risks to the security of nuclear facilities. Several initiatives were reported to help to address these challenges, such as the Global Nuclear Energy Partnership for restructuring the nuclear fuel cycle and for introducing proliferation resistant fast reactors and fuel cycle technologies.

#### SCHENKEL

As noted, other noteworthy initiatives were described at a recent special session of the IAEA General Conference. Essentially, all of these initiatives have the same objectives with respect to the expanding use of nuclear energy: (a) to strengthen security measures for the benefit of all States, (b) to reduce the nuclear proliferation risks and (c) to strengthen the safeguards system by design. In addition, the IAEA needs to pay particular attention to how some of the sensitive nuclear fuel cycle facilities are being operated.

#### 6. CONCLUSION

The nuclear non-proliferation regime is at a crossroads. Initially, I used a more neutral formulation. We shall see what will occur in the near future with respect to the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Islamic Republic of Iran and possibly other countries. The safeguards system has shown its capacity to react and adapt through technological developments and through the introduction of the additional protocol. However, it is absolutely essential that more and more States bring into force their additional protocol.

It is expected that nuclear energy will be more widely used. This will involve, among other things, Generation III reactors, nuclear fuel cycle facilities, geological repositories and the development of Generation IV systems. Each of these has its own list of challenges, but successfully addressing these challenges is not an impossible task. To repeat: safeguards need to stay ahead of the game. In particular, the issues related to the expected expansion of nuclear energy need to be addressed in an appropriate manner. Modern safeguards implementation will comprise both traditional safeguards and more information driven verification measures.

Some key technologies were mentioned relative to information gathering, integration and analysis, such as those for broad, open source collection and analysis and for satellite imagery. Communication and alert systems are extremely important for delivering the relevant information to the right person in a timely manner. The importance of unattended remote monitoring was underscored. I think greater emphasis will be placed on the verification of the use of facilities, thus the modelling of processes and the use of environmental swipes will be extremely important in providing indicators of the actual use of facilities.

New verification technologies will be required, in particular for the Generation IV systems where not only plutonium but also minor actinides are recycled. Possibly the most challenging task for the IAEA is to train inspectors and analysts with respect to these developments. It is essential that we have

#### **CLOSING PLENARY**

highly qualified and motivated inspectors and analysts, in particular to cope with the new challenges of information driven safeguards.

# REFERENCE

[1] The Structure and Content of Agreements between the Agency and States Required in Connection with the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, INFCIRC/153 (Corrected), IAEA, Vienna (1972).

# **CLOSING STATEMENT**

#### O. Heinonen

Deputy Director General, Department of Safeguards, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna

Let me begin with reference to the opening statement by the IAEA Director General and the remarks made by the keynote speakers that the nonproliferation regime currently faces a broad array of challenges. Some people refer to the regime as being 'in crisis', which might be too strong a statement, but it is certainly being tested.

The Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) was ratified more than 30 years ago. Since then, the world has undergone rapid social, political and economic changes, which have resulted in a changing non-proliferation landscape. Developments in the three pillars of the NPT – disarmament, technology transfer and verification – have not necessarily been even.

The IAEA has a particular role to play with respect to technology transfer and verification. Although one might argue that there has been slow progress with regard to disarmament, it is my belief that we should continue to improve nuclear verification methods and techniques to keep up with the changing non-proliferation landscape. If we fail to do so, we will impact not only international safeguards but also the future prospects of peaceful nuclear applications. During the past two decades we have seen three major developments related to nuclear non-proliferation:

- Increased dissemination of nuclear technology and nuclear 'know-how', particularly in the light of renewed interest in nuclear power;
- A renewed drive on the part of a few States to acquire technology suitable for nuclear weapons purposes;
- The emergence of clandestine procurement networks.

As we all agree, under the NPT regime there is nothing illegal about a State having enrichment or reprocessing technology. However, we should ensure that nuclear material and infrastructure are not used for illicit and nonpeaceful purposes. Better control of access to nuclear fuel cycle technology is

#### HEINONEN

being explored through initiatives such as multinational approaches for enrichment and reprocessing.

We cannot address the detection of clandestine efforts to acquire nuclear weapons or the operation of clandestine nuclear procurement networks through discrete initiatives. To address these issues, the IAEA requires global support for effective nuclear verification. We also need to be able to tap into the latest verification technology.

In the context of the changing non-proliferation landscape, the IAEA must continuously pose the following questions. As we look to the future, what can be done to assure ourselves and our Member States that the IAEA, as the international nuclear verification organization, is 'staying ahead of the game'? With the global reach of our responsibilities and the continuous need to sift through vast amounts of information, how can we be sure that we are looking in all the right places? And how do we prioritize, using our limited resources to the best advantage?

Our objective is to provide credible assurances to the international community that States are honouring their safeguards obligations. We have identified several key priorities for a robust verification system:

- Implement new safeguards approaches to deal with new challenges, new facility types and new operating conditions;
- Optimize safeguards equipment and technology development, inter alia, to further improve existing detection capability;
- Pursue R&D on novel technologies for the detection of undeclared activities;
- Enhance environmental sample analysis capabilities;
- Enhance the IAEA's existing satellite imagery acquisition and analysis capabilities;
- Broaden and intensify information collection and analysis capabilities;
- Maintain an efficient and secure safeguards information infrastructure.

J. Carlson, R. Schenkel and J. Cooley have just provided excellent summaries of the 2006 symposium on international safeguards. From the wealth of topics that have been covered during the symposium, I am confident that we can develop the tools necessary to respond to these challenges. Clearly, in the area of R&D the IAEA depends entirely on the contributions of the Member States, and to that end the Member State Support Programmes play a key role. But you, as developers, are the backbone of the safeguards system.

Many papers have been presented here with excellent ideas that have provoked great interest. Although the symposium is drawing to a close, I see that our work will (and must) continue after today. The safeguards community

#### **CLOSING PLENARY**

is not a closed one, and we have seen this week that if we continue to exchange ideas and interact with one another, we will be better equipped to achieve our objectives.

I would like to thank you, on behalf of the IAEA, for your contributions to the 2006 symposium on international safeguards. Your continuous support and engagement is vital for us to ensure that "atoms are used only for peace".

# **OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME**

Session	Title of Session	Session Chair/Technical Secretary
1	Opening Plenary	O. HEINONEN, IAEA J. HILLERMAN, IAEA
2	Technical Plenary	J. COOLEY, IAEA A. HADFIELD, IAEA
3	Current Challenges to the Safeguards System	J. CASTERTON, Canada T. KILLEEN, IAEA
4	Improving Collection and Analysis of Safeguards Information 1	MG. ALBERT, France C. DE WIT, IAEA
5	Advances in Safeguards Techniques and Technology 1 — Future Technology	K. NAITO, Japan L.P. MELO MOITTA, IAEA
6	Further Strengthening Safeguards Practices and Approaches 1 — Safeguards Approaches	G. STEIN, Germany T. JEFFREY, IAEA
7	Improving Collection and Analysis of Safeguards Information 2	G. DAHLIN, Sweden S. MUNOZ, IAEA
8	Advances in Safeguards Techniques and Technology 2 — Neutron Techniques	K. VAN DER MEER, Belgium E. FRANKLIN SABURIDO, IAEA
9	Further Strengthening Safeguards Practices and Approaches 2 — Safeguards Approaches and Integrated Safeguards	S. FERNANDEZ MORENO, Argentina A. BROODRYK, IAEA
10	Improving Collection and Analysis of Safeguards Information 3	B. JASANI, United Kingdom A. EL GEBALY, IAEA
11	Advances in Safeguards Techniques and Technology 3 — Spent Fuel Verification	B. BURROWS, United Kingdom S. JUNG, IAEA
12	Further Strengthening Safeguards Practices and Approaches $3 - R/SSAC$	T. VARJORANTA, Finland M. MAHMOUD, IAEA
13	Advances in Safeguards Techniques and Technology 4 — General	H. BOECK, Austria J. INJUK, IAEA
14	Advances in Safeguards Techniques and Technology 5 — DA	K. MAYER, EC K. MAUNULA, IAEA
15	Future Challenges	T. SHEA, United States of America T. NEWTON, IAEA
16	Further Strengthening Safeguards Practices and Approaches 4 — Enrichment	M. MARZO, Brazil W. BUSH, IAEA

Session	Title of Session	Session Chair/Technical Secretary
17	Advances in Safeguards Techniques and Technology 6 — Reprocessing	S. TSALAS, EC G. MORRIS, IAEA
18	Further Strengthening Safeguards Practices and Approaches 5 — Reprocessing, Spent Fuel Transfer	R. WEH, Germany I. PEREZ HERRERA, IAEA
19	Advances in Safeguards Techniques and Technology 7 — Environmental Sampling	E. KUHN, Germany T. AYERS, IAEA
20	Advances in Safeguards Techniques and Technology 8 — Containment and Surveillance	J. MATTER, United States of America M. DOYLE, IAEA
21	Closing Plenary	G. ANDREW, IAEA T. MORIARTY, IAEA
	Poster	M. TARVAINEN, IAEA R. ABDUR, IAEA

# **PROGRAMME COMMITTEE**

Chairperson	J. COOLEY	IAEA
Members	M. APARO	IAEA
	LV. BRIL	European Safeguards Research
		and Development Association
	M. BURMESTER	IAEA
	J. HILLERMAN	IAEA
	R. HURT	IAEA
	J. LARRIMORE	Institute of Nuclear Materials
		Management
	W. PARK	IAEA
	A. PIETRUSZEWSKI	IAEA
	M. TARVAINEN	IAEA
	J. VIDAURRE-HENRY	IAEA
	N. ZARIMPAS	IAEA
	M. ZENDEL	IAEA

# SECRETARIAT OF THE SYMPOSIUM

Scientific Secretary (IAEA)
Conference Services (IAEA)
Conference Services (IAEA)
Administrative Support (IAEA)
Proceedings Editor (IAEA)
Coordinating Editor (IAEA)

# THE IAEA's DEPARTMENT OF SAFEGUARDS

References made in symposium papers to the organizational structure of the Department of Safeguards refer to the situation as it existed in October 2006. Since then, the support divisions of the Department have been reorganized. Effective 1 January 2007, the support divisions are as follows:

- Division of Safeguards Information Management (SGIM) comprising the following sections:
  - Customer Service and Operations (ICO);
  - Information Architecture and Projects (IAP);
  - Information Collection and Analysis (ICA);
  - Declared and Statistical Information Analysis (IDS).
- Division of Technical Support (SGTS) comprising the following sections:
  - Technical Support Coordination (TTS);
  - Inspection Logistics (TIL);
  - Surveillance, Seals and Remote Monitoring (TSR);
  - Attended and Unattended Non-destructive Assay (TAU).
- Division of Concepts and Planning (SGCP) comprising the following sections:
  - Concepts and Approaches (CCA);
  - Process Design (CPD);
  - Programme and Resources (CPR);
  - Safeguards Training (CTR).

Abdul Rahim, M.	Syrian Atomic Energy Commission P.O. Box 6091 Damascus Syria Arab Republic Fax: 00963116112289 Email: atomic@aec.org.sy
Abdur, R.	Division of Operations B Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: r.abdur@iaea.org
Abu Bakar, M.	Atomic Energy Licensing Board Batu 24, Jalan Dengkil 43800 Dengkil Selangor Malaysia Fax: 0060389223685 Email: mahyudin@aelb.gov.my
Abushady, Y.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: y.abushady@iaea.org
Abuzid Abulgasem, O.	REWDRC Tajoura P.O. Box 30878 Tajoura Libyan Arab Jamahiriya Fax: 00218213614143 Email: omran_abuzid@yahoo.com

Acton, J.	VERTIC Development House 56-64 Leonard Street London EC2A 4JX United Kingdom Fax: 0044 20 7065 0890 Email: james.acton@vertic.org
Admon, U.	Israel Atomic Energy Commission P.O. Box 9001 Beer-Sheva 84190 Israel Fax: 0097286567593 Email: uadmon@netvision.net.il
Adrian, E.	European Commission Directorate TREN I-3 EURO 3283 2920 Luxembourg Fax: 00352430132879 Email: eva.adrian@ec.europa.eu
Ageladarakis, P.	European Commission Directorate General for Research Direction J: Energy (EURATOM) Rue de la Loi 1049 Brussels Belgium Email: panagiotis.andeladarakis@cec.eu.int
Aileone, M.	Permanent Mission of New Zealand to the IAEA Mattiellistrasse 2-4 1040 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315053020 Email: matthew.aileone@mfat.govt.nz
Albert, MG.	Permanent Mission of France Schwarzenbergplatz 16 1010 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043150182329 Email: marc-gerard.albert@diplomatie.gouv.fr

Alexander, D.	30 Baltic Avenue
	Toronto, Ontario
	M4J 152
	Canada
Aliprandi, C.	SYNTHE-mA S.rl.
	Via Malasoma 24
	56121 Ospedaletto-Pisa
	Italy
	Fax: 00390509656421
	Email: carlo.aliprandi@synthema.it
Al-Rashdi, S.	G.H.Q. Armed Forces
	Main Chemical Laboratory
	P.O. Box 20840
	Abu Dhabi
	United Arab Emirates
	Fax: 0097125049419
	Email: tannaf77@hotmail.com
Andersson, S.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate
,	Klarabergsviadukten 90
	106 58 Stockholm
	Sweden
	Fax: 004686619083
	Email: sarmite.andersson@ski.se
André Turlind, E.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate
	Klarabergsviadukten 90
	106 58 Stockholm
	Sweden
	Fax: 004686619086
	Email: elisabeth.andre.turlind@ski.se
Andrew, G.	Office of the Director General
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	P.O. Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Email: g.andrew@iaea.org

Anheier, N.	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory P.O. Box 999 MSIN K5-25 Richland, WA 99354 United States of America Fax: 0015093752688 Email: norm.anheier@pnl.gov
Anthony, I.	Stockholm International Peace Research Institute Signalistgatan 9 169 70 Solna Sweden Fax: 004686559733 Email: anthony@sipri.org
Antoine, C.	CEA Bruyères le Châtel DAM//DIF/DASE B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères le Châtel France Fax: 0033169264159 Email: claude.antoine@cea.fr
Appelqvist, V.	OKG AB 572 83 Oskarshamn Sweden Fax: 0046491787850 Email: valentina.appelqvist@okg.eon.se
Asakawa, K.	Nuclear Material Control Center 2-53 Aza Shirane Shirakata Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki 319-1106 Japan Fax: 0081293063188 Email: asakawa@jnmcc.or.jp
Asano, T.	Japan Atomic Energy Agency 4-33 Muramatsu Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki 319-1112 Japan Fax: 0081292829490 Email: asano.takashi@jaea.go.jp

Asikainen, A.	European Commission DG TREN
	2920 Luxembourg
	Fax: 00352430133545
	Email: aila.asikainen@ec.europa.eu
Aso, R.	Nuclear Non-proliferation Science and Technology Center
	Japan Atomic Energy Agency
	2-4 Shirakara Shirane
	Tokai-mura, Naka-gun
	Ibaraki 319-1195
	Japan
	Fax: 0081292843678
	Email: aso.ryoji@jaea.go.jp
Astwood, H.M.	Permanent Mission of the United States of America to the LAFA
	Wagramer Strasse 17-19
	1220 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 00431313394745
	Email: astwoodhm@state.gov
Avenhaus, R.	Universität der Bundeswehr München
,	Werner-Heisenberg-Weg 39
	85577 Neubiberg
	Germany
	Fax: 0049 8960043036
	Email: rudolf.avenhaus@unibw.de
Axell, K.I.M.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate
	Klarabergsviadukten 90
	106 58 Stockholm
	Sweden
	Fax: 004686619086
	Email: kaare.axell@ski.se

Ayers, T.	Division of Operations C
	Department of Safeguards
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	P.O. Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Email: t.ayers@iaea.org
Badawy, I.	Atomic Energy Authority
	National Centre for Nuclear Safety and Radiation Control (NCNSRC)
	Department of Safeguards amd Physical Protection
	3 Ahmed El-Zomor Street
	Nasr City
	Cairo 11787
	Egypt
	Fax: 002022740238
	Email: wgammal66@yahoo.com
Barbato, F.	Eurimage S.p.A.
,	Via d'Onofrio 212
	00155 Rome
	Italy
	Fax: 00390640694232
	Email: f.barbato@eurimage.com
Barton I	Division of Safeguards Information Technology
Darton, u	Department of Safeguards
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	PO Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Fmail: i barton@iaea org
	Linuit jour tone measorg
Baude, S.	Permanent Mission of France
	Schwarzenbergplatz 16
	1010 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043150182329
	Email: stephane.baude@diplomatie.gouv.fr

Baute, J.	Division of Safeguards Information Technology Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007
	Email: j.baute@iaea.org
Beason, J.D.	Los Alamos National Laboratory P.O. Box 1663 Los Alamos, NM 87545 United States of America Fax: 0015056658974 Email: dbeason@lanl.gov
Belevan-McBride, H.	Permanent Mission of Peru to the IAEA Gottfried Keller Gasse 2/1-2 1030 Vienna Austria Fax: 004317127704 Email: embajada@embaperuaustria.at
Benjamin, R.	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission 280 Slater Street P.O. Box 1046, Station B Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5S9 Canada Fax: 0016139955086 Email: benjaminb@cnsc-ccsn.gc.ca
Benshetrit, S.	Nuclear Research Center Negev Israel Atomic Energy Commission P.O. Box 9001 Beer Sheva 84190 Israel Fax: 0097286567911 Email: samyb@nrcn.org.il
Berdennikov, G.	Permanent Mission of the Russian Federation to the IAEA Erzberzog-Karl-Strasse 182
-----------------	--
	1220 Vienna
	Fax: 00/312805687
	Email: rusmission io_vienna@chello at
	Eman. rusinission.io-vienna@eneno.at
Berriman, A.	Australian Safeguards and Non-Proliferation
,	Office (ANSO)
	R.G. Casey Building
	John McEwen Cresent
	Barton, ACT 0221
	Australia
	Fax: 0061262611908
	Email: annette berriman@dfat.gov.au
Bertoncelj, B.	Permanent Mission of Slovenia to the IAEA
<b>U</b> -	Nibelungengasse 13/3
	1010 Wien
	Austria
	Fax: 004315861265
	Email: bojan.bertonceli@gov.si
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Bevaart, L.	Division of Concepts and Planning
	Department of Safeguards
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	P.O. Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Email: l.bevaart@iaea.org
	C
Beven, T.	Permanent Mission of Australia to the IAEA
	Mattiellistrasse 2-4
	1090 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: +4315041178
	Email: terry.beven@dfat.gov.au

Biramontri, S.	Office of Atoms for Peace Thanon Vibhavadi Rangsit, Chatuchak Bangkok 10900 Thailand Fax: 006625613013 Email: siriratn@oaep.go.th
Blinov, V.	Scientific and Production Enterprise ATOMTEX Ulitsa Gikalo 5 220005 Minsk Belarus Fax: 00375172928142 Email: blinov@atomtex.com
Blotz, A.	Office for Military Science Kladower Damm 182 14089 Berlin Germany Fax: 00493040890846801 Email: mvw@amk.bund.de
Böck, H.	Atomic Institute of the Austrian Universities Stadionallee 2 1020 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315880114199 Email: boeck@ati.ac.at
Boella, M.	European Commission Directorate General Transport and Energy Directorate Nuclear Safeguards EUFO 03268 2920 Luxembourg Fax: 00352430136059 Email: maurizio.boella@ec.europa.eu
Bonino, F.	CTE 31 rue de la Fédération 75752 Paris France Fax: 0033140561333 Email: francois.bonino@cea.fr

Boureston, J.G.	FirstWatch International 1178 Josselyn Canyon Road Monterey, CA 93940 United States of America Email: mboureston@yahoo.com
Bowen, W.Q.	King's College London International Centre for Security Analysis, IPI Strand London WC2R 2LS United Kingdom Fax: 00441793788295 Email: wyn.bowen@kcl.ac.uk
Boyer, B.	Brookhaven National Laboratory Nuclear Nonproliferation Division N-4, Safeguards Systems Group Los Alamos National Laboratory P.O. Box 1663, N-4, MS E541 Los Alamos, NM 87545 United States of America Fax: 0015056677626 Email: bboyer@lanl.gov
Brennan, C.	Air Force Technical Applications Center (AFTAC) 1030 South Highway A1A Patrick AFB, FL 32925 United States of America Fax: 0013214948496 Email: charles.brennan@patrick.af.mil
Brière, M.	Institut de radioprotection et de sûreté nuclèaire B.P. 17 92262 Fontenay-aux-Roses France Fax: 0033158359289 Email: michel.briere@irsn.fr

Broodryk, A.	Division of Operations B Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: a.broodryk@iaea.org
Bruder, A.	Swiss Federal Office of Energy (SFOE) Abt. Recht und Sicherheit 3003 Bern Switzerland Fax: 0041313220078 Email: andreas.bruder@bfe.admin.ch
Burmester, M.	Division of Operations A Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: m.burmester@iaea.org
Burrows, B.	British Nuclear Fuels Plc. International Safeguards Springfield Fuels Limited Building 626 Salwick, Preston Lancashire PR4 OXJ United Kingdom Fax: 00441772763054 Email: brian.a.burrows@bnfl.com
Bush, W.	Division of Concepts and Planning Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: w.bush@iaea.org

Button, P.	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission 280 Slater Street P.O. Box 1046 Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5S9 Canada Fax: 0016139438954 Email: buttonp@cnsc-ccsn.gc.ca
Byrne, A.	Delegation of the European Commission to the International Organizations in Vienna Argentinierstrasse 26 1040 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043150584118 Email: Andrew.Byrne@ec.europa.eu
Bystrov, E.	Scientific and Production Enterprise ATOMTEX Ulitsa Gikalo 5 220005 Minsk Belarus Fax: 00375172928142 Email: atomtex@mail.belpak.by
Caceres, M.	Permanent Mission of Peru to the IAEA Gottfried Keller Gasse 2/1-2 1030 Vienna Austria Fax: 004317127704 Email: embajada@embaperuaustria.at
Camus, H.B.	Ministry of Defense Strategic Affairs 14, rue Saint Dominique 00450 Paris Armees France Fax: 0033142194011 Email: henri.camus@defense.gouv.fr
Canty, M.	Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH 52425 Jülich Germany Fax: 00492461614885 Email: m.canty@fz-juelich.de

Capel, A.C.	Comgate Engineering Ltd. 331 Cooper St., Ste. 200 Ottawa, Ontario K2P 0G5 Canada Fax: 0016132356214 Email: capel@comgate.com
Carlson, J.	Australian Safeguards and Non-Proliferation Office (ASNO) R.G. Casey Building John McEwen Cresent Barton, ACT 0221 Australia Fax: 0061262611908 Email: john.carlson@dfat.gov.au
Carmichael, K.	Canberra Industries, Inc. 8401 Washington Place NE Albuquerque, NM 87113 United States of America
Carroll, C.	Sonalysts, Inc. P.O. Box 280 Waterford, CT 06385 United States of America Email: ccarroll@sonalysts.com
Casterton, J.	International Safeguards Division Directorate of Security and Safeguards Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission 280 Slater Street P.O. Box 1046 Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5S9 Canada Email: castertonj@cnsc-ccsn.gc.ca
Catto, G.W.	GC Technology GmbH Freidling 12 84172 Buch am Erlbach Germany Fax: 00498706949474 Email: graemecatto@aol.com

Celestin, S.	Federal Agency of Nuclear Control 36, Ravenstein Street 1000 Brussels Belgium Fax: 003222892063 Email: stepfane.celestin@fanc.fgov.be
Chang, Y.J.	Korea Hydro and Nuclear Power Co., Ltd. 167 Samsung-dong Gangnam-gu Seoul Republic of Korea Fax: 0082547852219 Email: yjchang@khnp.co.kr
Chang, Z.Y.	China Institute of Atomic Energy Xinzhen Town Fanshan district Beijing 102413 China Fax: 008610 69358460 Email: zychang@iris.ciae.ac.cn
Chare, P.	European Commission DG TREN Bâtiment EUROFORUM Office EUFO 32-74 10 rue Stumper 2557 Luxembourg Fax: 00352430133382 Email: peter.chare@ec.europa.eu
Chen, J.D.	Channel Systems Inc. 402 Ara Mooradian Way Box 188 Pinawa, Manitoba R0E 1L0 Canada Fax: 0012047535199 Email: dennis.chen@channelsystems.ca

Cherry, R.	National Nuclear Security Administration U.S. Department of Energy 1000 Independence Avenue, S.W. Washington, DC 20585 United States of America Fax: 0012025860936 Email: ron.cherry@nnsa.doe.gov
Chevalier, V.	Institut de radioprotection et de sûreté nuclèaire B.P. 17 92262 Fontenay-aux-Roses France Fax: 0033442199150 Email: vincent.chevalier@irsn.fr
Chiappini, R.	CEA Bruyères le Châtel DAM/DASE/SRCE B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères le Châtel France Fax: 0033169267065 Email: remo.chiappini@cea.fr
Cizmek, A.	State Office for Nuclear Safety Frankopanska 11/III 10000 Zagreb Croatia Fax: 0038514830109 Email: ankica.cizmek@dzns.hr
Cleary, V.	Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 MS 0748 Albuquerque, NM 87185 United States of America Fax: 0015052842829 Email: vdclear@sandia.gov
Cochran, T.B.	Natural Resources Defense Council 1200 New York Ave., NW, Suite 400 Washington, DC 20005 United States of America Fax: 0012022891060 Email: tcochran@nrdc.org

Colestock, P.	ISR-2, MS-D436 Los Alamos National Laboratory Los Alamos, NM 87545 United States of America Fax: 0015056640362 Email: colestoc@lanl.gov
Communaux, M.	Electricité de France Direction Production Ingéniere Division Combustible Nucléaire 1 place Pleyel 93282 Saint Denis Cedex France Fax: 0033143692135 Email: michel.communaux@edf.fr
Cooley, J.	Division of Concepts and Planning Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: j.cooley@iaea.org
Cooper, R.	Information International Associates, Inc. (IIa) 1055 Commerce Park Dr., Suite 110 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-4219 United States of America Fax: 0018654810390 Email: rcooper@iiaweb.com
Coppock, E.	Information International Associates, Inc. 1055 Commerce Park Dr., Suite 110 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-4219 United States of America Fax: 0018654810390 Email: coppocke@comcast.net

Couchoud, R.	AREVA NC 2, rue Paul Dautier BP 4 78141 Vélizy Cedex France Fax: 0033139262780 Email: rosine.couchoud@areva.com
Craigen, E.	i2 Limited Cambridge United Kingdom Fax: 00441223728664 Email: edcraigen@i2.co.uk
Crete, J.M.A.	Division of Technical Support Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: j.m.crete@iaea.org
Dahlberg, J.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Klarabergsviadukten 90 106 58 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 004686619086 Email: joakim.dahlberg@ski.se
Dahlin, G.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Klarabergsviadukten 90 106 58 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 004686619086 Email: goran.dahlin@ski.se

Dal, B.H.	Inspectorate of the Ministry of Housing, Spatial Planning and Environment Nuclear Regulatory Body Rijnstraat 8 P.O. Box 30941 2500 GX Den Haag Netherlands Fax: 0031703391887 Email: bart dal@minvrom.nl
Damge, E.	AREVA NC Etablissement de La Hague 50444 Beaumont-Hague Cedex France Fax: 0033 2 33 02 70 47 Email: eric.damge@areva.com
Davainis, M.	State Nuclear Power Safety Inspectorate (VATESI) A. Gostauto 12 01108 Vilnius Lithuania Fax: 0037052614487 Email: marius@vatesi.lt
De Bie, P.	Inxight Software Inc. Vlaamse Kaai 90 2000 Antwerp Belgium Email: pdebie@inxight.com
De Cormis, F.	Electricité de France Direction Production Ingéniere Division Combustible Nucléaire 1 place Pleyel 93282 Saint Denis Cedex France Fax: 0033149692134 Email: francoise.de-cormis@edf.fr
De Guzmàn Mataix, J.L.	Permanent Mission of Spain to the IAEA Argentinierstrasse 34/4 1040 Wien Austria Fax: 004315325630 Email: jluis.deguzman@mae.es

De la Torre del Pozo, S.	Permanent Mission of Spain to the IAEA Argentinierstrasse 34/4 1040 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315325630 Email: servando.delatorremae.es
De Wit, C.	Division of Operations A Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: c.dewit@iaea.org
Dekker, B.G.	Urenco Nederland B.V. P.O. Box 158 7600 AD Almelo Netherlands Fax: 0031546545163 Email: b.dekker@urenco.nl
Delbeke, J.F.A.M.	European Commission Institute for the Protection and Security of the Citizen Nuclear Safeguards Unit Via Enrico Fermi 21020 Ispra (VA) Italy Fax: 0039033278926 Email: jochen.delbeke@jrc.it
Demeter, M.	Canberra Industries, Inc. 8401 Washington Place NE Albuquerque, NM 87113 United States of America
Desson, K.	Androcom Interactive Media 263 Second Avenue Ottawa, Ontario K1S 2H8 Canada Fax: 001 61 32344762 Email: kdesson@androcom.com

Dickman, D.	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory 902 Battelle Boulevard P.O. Box 999 MS-IN K8-46 Richland, WA 99352 United States of America Fax: 0015093724559 Email: debbie.dickman@pnl.gov
Dixon, E.	Los Alamos National Laboratory P.O. Box 1663, N-4, MS E541 Los Alamos, NM 87545-1663 United States of America Fax: 0015056677626 Email: edixon@lanl.gov
Djaloeis, A.	Nuclear Energy Regulatory Agency (BAPETEN) Jl. Gajah Mada 8 P.O. Box 4005 JKT 10040 Jakarta 10120 Indonesia Fax: 0062 21 2301253 Email: a.djaloeis@bapeten.go.id
Djuricic, J.	Ministry of Science and Environmental Protection of the Republic of Serbia 22-26 Nemanjina Street 11000 Belgrade Serbia Fax: 00381113616581; 00381113616581 Email: jadranka_djuricic@mntr.sr.gov.yu
Donohue, D.	Safeguards Analytical Laboratory Department of Nuclear Sciences and Applications International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: d.donohue@iaea.org

Doo, J.Y.	Division of Operations B Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: j.doo@iaea.org
Doyle, M.	Division of Operations B Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: m.doyle@iaea.org
Dreicer, M.	Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory P.O. Box 808 MS L-175 Livermore, CA 94550 United States of America Fax: 0019254226434 Email: dreicer1@llnl.gov
Dreikauss, T.	Inxight Software Inc. Elsenheimerstrasse 61 80687 Munich Germany Email: td@inxight.de
Drie, E.	Studsvik Nuclear AB 611 82 Nyköping Sweden Fax: 0046155221060 Email: emma.drie@studsvik.se
Dufva, M.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Klarabergsviadukten 90 106 58 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 004686619086 Email: martina.dufva@ski.se

Durst, P.	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory P.O. Box 999 MS-IN K8-46 Richland, WA 99354 United States of America Email: philip.durst@pnl.gov
Ebata, T.	Japan Nuclear Fuel Limited 4-108, Okitsuke, Obuchi Rokkaho-mura, Kamikita-gun Aomori 039-3212 Japan Fax: 0081175712760 Email: takashi.ebata@jnfl.co.jp
Ekéus, R.	Stockholm International Peace Research Institute Signalistgatan 9 169 70 Solna Sweden Fax: 0031703639910 Email: rekeus@hcnm.org/barta@sipri.org
El Gebaly, A.F.	Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: a.elgebaly@iaea.org
ElBaradei, M.	International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: m.elbaradei@iaea.org

Elegba, S.	Nigerian Regulatory Authority Plot 564/565, Airport Road Central Area P.M.B. 559 Garki, Abuja Nigeria Fax: 002349 2343122 Email: nnra@linkserve.com; sbelegba@yahoo.com
Eliasson, A.	OKG AB 572 83 Oskarshamn Sweden Fax: 0046491786445 Email: annika.eliasson@okg.eon.se
El-Wafi, A.	REWDRC Tajoura P.O. Box 30878 Tajoura Libyan Arab Jamahiriya Fax: 00218213614143 Email: tajiaea@yahoo.com
Enqvist, A.	Chalmers University of Technology Department of Nuclear Engineering 412 96 Göteborg Sweden Fax: 0046317723079 Email: andreas@nephy.chalmers.se
Estevos dos Santos, J.M.	Brazilian-Argentine Agency for Accounting and Control of Nuclear Materials Av. Rio Branco 123/G. 151 Rio de Janeiro-RJ 20040-005 Brazil Fax: 00552125071875 Email: info@abacc.org.br
Evans, W.	Defense Threat Reduction Agency 8725 Kingman Road MSC 6201 Ft. Belvoir, VA 22060 United States of America Fax: 0017037670550 Email: bill.evans@dtra.mil

Fedchenko, V.	Stockholm International Peace Research Institute Signalistgatan 9 169 70 Solna Sweden Fax: 004686559733 Email: fedchenko@sipri.org
Fellinger, J.	ICX-Target Systemelectronic GmbH Kölner Str. 99 42651 Solingen Germany Fax: 0049212201045 Email: juergen.stein@icxt.com
Fernández Moreno, S.	Non-Proliferation and Institutional Relations Division Autoridad Regulatoria Nuclear Avenida del Libertador 8250 1426 Buenos Aires Argentina Fax: 00541147041478 Email: sfmoreno@sede.arn.gov.ar
Ferraris, M.	Permanent Mission of the Holy See Theresianumgasse 33 1040 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431505850175 Email: marco.ferraris@chello.at
Ferrer, R.	Permanent Mission of the Philippines to the IAEA Laurenzerberg 2 1010 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431533240118 Email: bobbyque2004@yahoo.com

Fischer, D.	Nuclear Science and Technology Division Oak Ridge National Laboratory One Bethel Valley Road P.O. Box 2008, MS-6050 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-6050 United States of America Fax: 0018655743900 Email: fischerdm@ornl.gov
Francis, S.	British Nuclear Group International Strategy Springfield Fuels Limited Building 626 Salwick, Preston Lancashire PR4 OXJ United Kingdom Fax: 00441772732747 Email: stephen.m.francis@britishnucleargroup.com
Franklin-Saburido, E.	Division of Operations B Toronto Regional Office Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 110 1400 Vienna Austria Email: e.franklin-saburido@iaea.org
Frappier, G.	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission P.O. Box 1046, Station B Ottawa, K1P 5SP Canada Fax: 0016139955086 Email: gerry.frappier@cnsc-ccsn.gc.ca
Friedrich, S.	Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory 7000 East Ave., L-270 Livermore, CA 94550 United States of America Fax: 0019254245512 Email: friedrich1@llnl.gov

Fritzell, A.	Department of Nuclear Particle Physics Box 535 751 21 Uppsala Sweden Fax: 0046184713513 Email: anni.fritzell@tsl.uu.se
Gaetano, R.	Division of Safeguards Information Technology Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: r.gaetano@iaea.org
Gerard, L.	CEA Bruyères le Châtel DAM/DASE B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères le Châtel France Fax: 0033169267132 Email: lydie.gerard@cea.fr
Gerstler, R.	Permanent Mission of Germany to the IAEA Adamsgasse 22/30 1030 Vienna Austria
Gfoeller, T.	European Commission Directorate General Transport and Energy Directorate Nuclear Safeguards EUFO 03268 2920 Luxembourg Fax: 00352430130219 Email: thomas.gfoeller@ec.europa.eu
Giampaolo, D.	Eurimage S.p.A. Via d'Onofrio 212 00155 Rome Italy Fax: 00390640694232 Email: d.giampaolo@eurimage.com

Gleizes, M.	DEND/SACI BP no. 17 92262 Fontenay-aux-Roses France Fax: 0033146543463 Email: marc.gleizes@irsn.fr
Godfrey-Smith, D.I.	Department of Defense National Defense Headquarters MGen George R. Pearkes Building 18 ST 101 Col. By Drive Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0K2 Canada Fax: 0016139455255 Email: godfreysmith.d@forces.gc.ca
Goff, E.	Permanent Mission of the United States of America to the IAEA Wagramer Strasse 17-19 1220 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431313698392 Email: goffeh@state.gov
Göhner, A.	Permanent Mission of Germany to the IAEA Wagramer Strasse 14 1220 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126333756 Email: wiss-1-io@wien.diplo.de
Good, M.	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory P.O. Box 999 Richland, WA 99354 United States of America Fax: 0015093756497 Email: morris.good@pnl.gov
Gorgues, V.	Ministère de la Défense DGA 00457 Armées France Fax: 0033145527555 Email: vincent.gorgues@dga.defense.gouv.fr

Göstl, C.	Federal Ministry of Economy and Labour Stubenring 1 1011 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431711008299 Email: christine.goestl@bmwa.gv.at
Gottwald, P.	Permanent Mission of Germany to the IAEA Wagramer Strasse 14 1220 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126333756 Email: 1-io@wien.diplo.de
Gourgon, L.A.	International Safeguards Division Directorate of Security and Safeguards Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission P.O. Box 1046 280 Slater Street Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5S9 Canada Email: gourgonl@cnsc-ccsn.gc.ca
Grahn, P.H.	SKB International Consultants AB Box 5185 102 44 Stockholm Sweden Email: per.h.grahn@skb.se
Grama, V.	National Commission for Nuclear Activities Control 14 Liberatatii Blvd. P.O. Box 42-4 050706 Bucharest 5 Romania Fax: 0040213161436 Email: viviana.grama@cncan.ro

Gryzio, E.	Permanent Mission of Poland to the UN Office in Vienna Hietzinger Hauptstrasse 42C
	1130 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043187015331
	Email: e.gryzio@botschaftrp.at
Guo, D.	Beijing Research Institute of Uranium Geology
	10 Anwai, Xiao Guan
	Dong Li
	P.O. Box 9818
	Beijing 100029
	China
	Fax: 00861064917143
	Email: guodongfa@263.net
Gurko, O.B.	Promatomnadzor
	Ministry of Emergency Situations of the Republic of Belarus
	86/1 Kazintsa Street
	220108 Minsk
	Belarus
	Fax: 00375172786083
	Email: safeatom@infonet.by
Gutierrez, S.	CEA Bruyères le Châtel
	Service RCE, bâtiment G
	B.P. 12
	91680 Bruyères le Châtel
	France
	Fax: 0169267065
	Email: sebastien.gutierrez@cea.fr
Hadfield, A.	Division of Concepts and Planning
	Department of Safeguards
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	P.O. Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Email: a.hadfield@iaea.org

Hakansson, A.	Department of Radiation Sciences Applied Nuclear Physics Box 535 751 21 Uppsala Sweden Fax: 0046184713513 Email: ane.hakansson@tsl.uu.se
Ham, Y.	Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory P.O. Box 808 MS L-235 Livermore, CA 94550 United States of America Fax: 0019254223570 Email: ham4@llnl.gov
Hanks, D.H.	Division of Concepts and Planning Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: d.hanks@iaea.org
Haque, M.M.	Bangladesh Atomic Energy Commission Atomic Energy Research Establishment, Savar Reactor Operation and Maintenance Unit Ganakbari, Savar G.P.O. Box 3787 Dhaka 1000 Bangladesh Fax: 00880 2 8613051 Email: romu@dhaka.net
Heinonen, O.J.	Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: o.heinonen@iaea.org

Henke, P.	ICX-Target Systemelectronic GmbH Kölner Str. 99 42651 Solingen Germany Fax: 0049212201045 Email: juergen.stein@icxt.com
Henry, L.	AFTAC Nuclear Science Division/TMN 1030 South Highway A1A Patrick AFB, FL 32925 United States of America Fax: 0013214948496 Email: laurie.henry@patrick.af.mil
Herber, N.	Eton Systems 15 Pinepoint Drive Nepean, Ontario K2H 6B1 Canada Email: nh@eton.ca
Herzog, A.	Israel Atomic Energy Commission P.O. Box 7061 Tel Aviv 61070 Israel Fax: 0097236462974 Email: herzogam@walla.com
Hildingsson, L.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Klarabergsviadukten 90 106 58 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 004686619086 Email: lars.hildingsson@ski.se
Hillerman, J.	Division of Concepts and Planning Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431 26007 Email: j.hillerman@iaea.org

Hilliard, L.G.	Permanent Mission of the United States of America to the IAEA Wagramer Strasse 17-19 1220 Vienna Austria Email: hilliardlg@unvie.at
Hiruta, K.	Japan Nuclear Fuel Limited 4-108, Okitsuke, Obuchi Rokkaho-mura, Kamikita-gun Aomori 039-3212 Japan Fax: 0081175712760 Email: kazuhiko.hiruta@jnfl.co.jp
Hiswara, E.	Permanent Mission of Indonesia to the IAEA Gustav-Tschermak-Gasse 5-7 1180 Vienna Austria Fax: 004314790557 Email: e.hiswara@kbriwina.at
Hobbs, C.	King's College London Strand London WC2R 2LS United Kingdom Fax: 00442078482748 Email: christopher.hobbs@kcl.ac.uk
Hoffheins, B.	U.S. Mission to International Organizations Wagramerstrasse 17-19 1220 Vienna Austria Fax: 00 43 1 31339 4773 Email: hoffheins@bnl.gov
Honkamaa, T.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (STUK) P.O. Box 14 00880 Helsinki Finland Fax: 00358975988670 Email: tapani.honkamaa@stuk.fi

Hori, M.	Japan Atomic Energy Agency 2-4 Shirakara Shirane Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki 319-1195 Japan Fax: 0081292843678 Email: hori.masato@jaea.go.jp
Hornkjöl, S.	Norwegian Radiation Protection Authority P.O. Box 55 1332 Österaas Norway Fax: 004767147407 Email: sverre.hornkjol@nrpa.no
Horváth, K.	Hungarian Atomic Energy Authority P.O. Box 676 1539 Budapest Hungary Fax: 003614364875 Email: horvath@haea.gov.hu
Hosoya, M.	Division of Operations B Toronto Regional Office Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 110 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0014169280046 Email: m.hosoya@iaea.org
Howe, W.	Defense Threat Reduction Agency 8725 Kingman Road MSC 6201 Ft. Belvoir, VA 22060 United States of America Fax: 0017037672594 Email: william.howe@dtra.mil

Howell, J.	University of Glasgow Department of Mechanical Engineering Glasgow G12 8QQ United Kingdom Fax: 00441413304343 Email: j.howell@mech.gla.ac.uk
Howsley, R.	British Nuclear Fuels Plc. Security, Safeguards and International Affairs 1100 Daresbury Park Daresbury, Warrington Cheshire WA4 4GB United Kingdom Fax: 00441925832674 Email: roger.howsley@bnfl.com
Hrnecek, E.	ARC Seibersdorf Research GmbH 2444 Seibersdorf Austria Fax: 0043225474060 Email: erich.hrnecek@arcs.ac.at
Hurt, D.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: d.hurt@iaea.org
Hutchings, R.	Permanent Mission of Australia to the IAEA Mattiellistrasse 2-4 1090 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315041178 Email: ron.hutchings@dfat.gov.au

Imron, M.	National Nuclear Energy Agency (BATAN) PRSG-BATAN Puspiptek Area 08.31 Serpong, Tangerang Indonesia Fax: 0062217560573 Email: imron@batan.go.id
Injuk, J.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: j.injuk@iaea.org
Inoue, N.	Japan Atomic Energy Agency 2-4 Shirakata Shirane Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki 319-1195 Japan Fax: 0081292843678 Email: inoue.naoko@jaea.go.jp
Ishikawa, T.	Global Nuclear Fuel Japan Co., Ltd. 3-1, Uchikawa 2 Chome Yokosuka-Shi Kanagawa-Ken 239-0836 Japan Fax: 0081468332955 Email: tadatsugu.ishikawa@gnf.com
Iso, S.	Nuclear Material Control Centre 2-6-4 Toranomon Minato-Ku Tokyo 105-0001 Japan Fax: 0081335931850 Email: iso@jnmcc.or.jp

Jacobson, Z.	Health Canada Applied Research and Analysis Directorate Mailstop 1905C, Tunney's Pasture Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0K9 Canada Fax: 0016139463166 Email: zack@sigmaxi.org
Janin, V.	Division of Operations A Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: v.janin@iaea.org
Janssens, W.	European Commission Institute for the Protection and Security of the Citizen Nuclear Safeguards Unit Via Enrico Fermi 21020 Ispra (VA) Italy Fax: 00390332789185 Email: willem.janssens@ec.europa.eu
Jansson, B.M.E.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Klarabergsviadukten 90 106 58 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 004686619086 Email: berit.jansson@ski.se
Järnry, P.C.	AMC Konsult AB Abrahamsbergsvägen 89 168 30 Bromma Sweden Fax: 004686340959 Email: cj@amckonsult.se

Jasani, B.	King's College London Department of War Studies The Strand London WC2R 2LS United Kingdom Fax: 00442078482026 Email: bhupendra.jasani@kcl.ac.uk
Jeffrey, T.	Division of Concepts and Planning Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: t.jeffrey@iaea.org
Jo, S.Y.	Nuclear Management and Control Agency P.O. Box 114 Yuseong Daejeon 305-600 Republic of Korea Fax: 0082428618819 Email: jerry@kinac.re.kr
Johansen, B.	Permanent Mission of Norway to the IAEA Reisnerstrasse 55 1030 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431 712 65 62 Email: emb.vienna@mfa.no
Johnson, S.	Springfields Fuels Limited Westinghouse Springfields Fuels Ltd Springfields, Walwick Preston PR4 0XJ United Kingdom Fax: 00441772762747 Email: simon.db.Johnson@springfieldsfuels.com

Joly, J.	Institut de radioprotection et de sûreté nucléaire Direction de l'expertise nucléaire de défense B.P.No. 17 92262 Fontenay-aus-Roses France Fax: 0033158358920 Email: jerome.joly@irsn.fr
Jonter, T.	Stockholm University Department of Economic History 106 91 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 00468168108 Email: thomas.jonter@ekohist.su.se
Jorant, C.	AREVA NC 27-29 rue le Peletier 75433 Paris cedex 09 France Fax: 00331 44 83 25 37 Email: caroline.jorant@areva.com
Jung, S.	Division of Technical Support Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: s.jung@iaea.org
Kakumi, S.	Nuclear Material Control Center 11th Mori-building 2-6-4 Toranomon Minato-ku Tokyo 105-0001 Japan Fax: 03 3593 2550 Email: kakumi@jnmcc.or.jp

Kanda, D.	Permanent Mission of Angola to the IAEA Seilerstätte 15/10 1010 Vienna Austria Fax: 004317187486 Email: embangola,viena@embangola.at
Karasev, A.	Permanent Mission of the Russian Federation to the IAEA Erzherzog-Karl-Strasse 182 1220 Vienna Austria Fax: 004312805687 Email: andrey.karasev@chello.at
Karhu, P.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (STUK) P.O. Box 14 00881 Helsinki Finland Fax: 00358975988670 Email: paula.karhu@stuk.fi
Kazhamiakin, V.	Scientific and Production Enterprise ATOMTEX Ulitsa Gikalo 5 220005 Minsk Belarus Fax: 00375172928142 Email: director@atomtex.com
Keen, L.	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission 280 Slater Street P.O. Box 1046 Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5S9 Canada Fax: 0016139955086 Email: linda.keen@cnsc-ccsn.gc.ca
Keizer, A.	Urenco Nederland B.V. P.O. Box 158 7600 AD Almelo Netherlands Fax: 0031546545163 Email: a.keizer@urenco.nl

Kerr, J.	National Nuclear Security Administration U.S. Department of Energy 1000 Independence Avenue, S.W. Washington, DC 20585 United States of America
Khaniki, M.	Atomc Energy Organization of Iran (AEOI) P.O. Box 14155-1339 Tehran Islamic Republic of Iran Fax: 00982188025532 Email: padman@aeoi.org.ir
Khlebnikov, N.	Division of Technical Support Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: n.khlebnikov@iaea.org
Kidd, J.	King's College London International Centre for Security Analysis Strand London WC2R 2LS United Kingdom Fax: 00441793788295 Email: joanna.kidd@kcl.ac.uk
Kikonda Kanda, D.D.	Permanent Mission of the Republic of Angola in Vienna Seilerstätte 15/10 1010 Vienna Austria Fax: 004317187486 Email: embangola.viena@embangola.at

Kikuchi, M.	Nuclear Material Control Centre 2-6-4 Toranomon
	Minato-Ku
	Tokyo 105-0001
	Japan
	Fax: 0081335931850
	Email: kikuchi@jnmcc.or.jp
Kile, S.	Stockholm International Peace Research Institute
	Signalistgatan 9
	169 70 Solna
	Sweden
	Fax: 004686559733
	Email: snkile@sipri.org
Killeen, T.	Division of Operations A
	Department of Safeguards
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	P.O. Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Email: t.killeen@iaea.org
Kim, H.D.	Safeguards Technology Division
	Korea Atomic Energy Research Institute
	P.O. Box 105
	Yuseong
	Daejeon 305-600
	Republic of Korea
	Fax: 0082428627313
	Email: khd@kaeri.re.kr
Kips, R.	European Commission
-	Joint Research Centre
	IRMM
	Retieseweg 111
	2440 Geel
	Belgium
	Fax: 003214571863
	Email: ruth.kips@cec.eu.int

Kislyak, S.I.	Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Russian Federation 32/34 Smolenskaya-Sennaya Plaza 119200 Moscow Russian Federation Fax: 0074952449291 Email: ministry@mid.ru
Klein, J.	U.S. Department of State 22102 Stonehedge SA Boyds, MD 20841 United States of America Fax: 0012027367634 Email: kleinjj@state.gov
Klement, S.	Council of the European Union — High Representative Rue de la Loi, 175 1048 Brussels Belgium Fax: 003222818155/36 08 Email: stephan.klement@consilium.europa.eu
Klive, M.	Permanent Mission of Latvia to the IAEA Stefan Esders Platz 4 1190 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431328729013 Email: edso@mfa.gov.lv
Kniest, F.	GC Technology GmbH Freidling 12 84172 Buch am Erlbach Germany Fax: 00498706949474
Koblet, E.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Klarabergsviadukten 90 106 58 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 004686619086 Email: lisa@ski.se

König, S.	GNS Gesellschaft für Nuklear-Service mbH Hollestrasse 7A 45127 Essen Germany Email: sabine.koenig@gns.de
Kovacic, D.	Nuclear Science and Technology Division Oak Ridge National Laboratory One Bethel Valley Road P.O. Box 2008, MS-6050 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-6050 United States of America Fax: 0018655743900 Email: kovacicdn@ornl.gov
Kriz, G.	Permanent Mission of Slovenia to the IAEA Nibelungengasse 13/3 1010 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315861265 Email: vdu@mzz-dkp.gov.si
Krüger, M.	Permanent Mission of Germany to the IAEA Wagramer Strasse 14 1220 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126333756 Email: pol1-1-io@wien.diplo.de
Kuhn, E.	Huettergasse 23 1140 Vienna Austria Email: ekuhn@gmx.at
Lafranco, G.	Canberra Industries, Inc. 8401 Washington Place NE Albuquerque, NM 87113 United States of America
Lahkola, A.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (STUK) P.O. Box 14 00881 Helsinki Finland Fax: 00358975988670 Email: anna.lahkola@stuk.fi
-------------------	---
Lakosi, L.	Institute of Isotopes Konkoly-Thege M ut 29-33 1121 Budapest Hungary Fax: 003613922529 Email: lakosi@alpha0.iki.kfki.hu
Larrimore, J.	14044 Rue San Remo Del Mar, CA 92014 United States of America
Larssen-Hytte, G.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Klarabergsviadukten 90 106 58 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 004686619086 Email: gisela.hytte@ski.se
Larsson, M.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Klarabergsviadukten 90 106 58 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 004686619086 Email: mats.larsson@ski.se
Lausch, J.	Wiederaufarbeitunganlage Karlsruhe Rückbau- und Entsorungs-GmbH Postfach 12 63 76339 Eggenstein-Leopoldshafen Germany Fax: 00497247882129 Email: joachim.lausch@wak-gmbh.de

Lausch, K.	Kieselweg 14 76227 Karlsruhe Germany
Lavorante, F.	APAT Via V. Brancati, 48 00144 Rome Italy Fax: 00390650072451 Email: lavorante@apat.it
Lebeda, K.	Federal Ministry of Economy and Labour Stubenring 1 1011 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431711008299 Email: karl.lebeda@bmwa.gv.at
Lee, B.S.	Korea Hydro and Nuclear Power Co., Ltd. Wolsong NPP 2 (Units 1&2) 260 Naah-Ri, Yangnam-Myun Gyeongju-Si, Gyeong-Buk Republic of Korea Fax: 0082547792519 Email: bslee@khnp.co.kr
Lemoine, F.	Institut de radioprotection et de sûreté nuclèaire B.P. 17 92262 Fontenay-aux-Roses France Email: flavien.lemoine@irsn.fr
Lesage, M.	AREVA NC 27-29 rue le Peletier 75433 Paris cedex 09 France Fax: 0033 1 44 83 25 37 Email: muriel.lesage@areva.com

Lindberg, B.	LENS-TECH AB Box 733 931 27 Skelle Sweden Fax: 004691039880 Email: bo@lens-tech.se
Lodding, J.O.A.	Division of External Relations and Policy Coordination International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: j.lodding@iaea.org
Lorber, A.	Nuclear Research Center Negev Israel Atomic Energy Commission P.O. Box 9001 Beer Sheva 84190 Israel Email: lorbera@nrcn.org.il
Lord, M.	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission 280 Slater Street P.O. Box 1046, Station "B" Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5S9 Canada Fax: +16139955086 Email: mick.lord@cnsc-ccsn.gc.ca
Loreaux, P.	CEA Bruyères le Châtel DASE/LDG/TSE B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères le Châtel France Fax: 0033169267130 Email: philippe.loreaux@cea.fr

Lovjagina, I.	Radiation Safety Centre 165, Maskavas Str. 1019 Riga Latvia Fax: 003717032659 Email: i.lovjagina@rdc.gov.lv
Lundby, O.	Permanent Mission of Norway to the IAEA Reisnerstrasse 55 1030 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431 712 65 62 Email: emb.vienna@mfa.no
Lundqvist, T.	Department of Nuclear Particle Physics Box 535 751 21 Uppsala Sweden Fax: 0046184713513 Email: tobias.lundqvist@tsl.uu.se
Lützenkirchen, K.	European Commission Institute for Transuranium Elements Joint Research Centre P.O. Box 2340 76125 Karlsruhe Germany Fax: 0043724795199424 Email: klaus-richard.luetzenkirchen@ec.europa.eu
Macmillan, J.	Permanent Mission of New Zealand to the IAEA Mattiellistrasse 2-4 1040 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315053020 Email: nzpm@aon.at

Mahmoud, M.R.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: m.mahmoud@iaea.org
Maiorov, V.	Michurinskaya Street, 6-43 197046 St. Petersburg Russian Federation Email: valeri.maiorov@yahoo.com
Martikka, E.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (STUK) P.O. Box 14 00880 Helsinki Finland Fax: 00358975988670 Email: elina.martikka@stuk.fi
Martin, D.	D.J. Films Interactive — Medica Inc. 23 Hawk Crescent Ottawa, Ontario K1V 9G8 Canada Email: djfilms@rogers.com
Marzo, M.	National Nuclear Energy Commission Rua General Severiano, 90 Botafogo 22290-040 Rio de Janeiro - RJ Brazil Email: marzo@cnen.gov.br
Maschio, I.	Polytechnic University of Milan Department of Nuclear Engineering Via Ponzio 34/3 20133 Milan Italy Email: isabella.maschio@polimi.it

Massendari, B.A.	DEND/SSIN/BSC/CAD Bat. 183 BP No. 3 13115 Saint-Paul-lez-Durance France Fax: 003342199607 Email: bernard.massendari@irsn.fr
Matsuo, Y.	Japan Nuclear Fuel Limited 4-108, Okitsuke, Obuchi Rokkaho-mura, Kamikita-gun Aomori 039-3212 Japan Email: yuuichirou.matsuo@jnfl.co.jp
Matter, J.C.	Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185 United States of America Fax: 0015052845437 Email: jcmatte@sandia.gov
Maunula, V.K.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: v.maunula@iaea.org
Mayer, K.	European Commission Institute for Transuranium Elements Postfach 2340 76125 Karlsruhe Germany Fax: 004 724 95199545 Email: klaus.mayer@cec.eu.int

McArdle, S.	4DM Inc. 4850 Keele Street Toronto, Ontario M3J 3K1 Canada Fax: 0014164107569 Email: smcardle@4dm-inc.com
McCarthy, W.	UK Safeguards Office Bay 204 Kingsgate House 66-74 Victoria Street London SW1E 6SW United Kingdom Fax: 004402072154252 Email: bill.mccarthy@dti.gsi.gov.uk
McGlade, M.	Ingenia Technology Ltd. Portman Square House 43-45 Postman Square London W1H 6HN United Kingdom Email: mmcglade@ingeniatechnology.com
Melo Moitta, P.	Division of Operations A Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 004126007 Email: p.moitta@iaea.org
Meskhi, L.	Nuclear and Radiation Safety Service Gulua Street 6 0114 Tbilisi Georgia Fax: 0099532752129 Email: lerry@onlinestudio.ge

Meylemans, P.	European Commission DG TREN Bâtiment EUROFORUM Office EUFO 32-74 10 rue Stumper 2557 Luxembourg Fax: 00352430133382 Email: paul.meylemans@ec.europa.eu
Michel, R.	CEA Bruyères le Châtel DASE/LDG/TSE B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères le Châtel France Fax: 0033169267130 Email: remi.michel@cea.fr
Michlik, F.	European Commission Directorate General Transport and Energy Directorate Nuclear Safeguards EUFO 03268 2920 Luxembourg Fax: 00352430136249 Email: frank.michlik@ec.europa.eu
Midorikawa, M.	Nuclear Material Control Centre Rokkaho Safeguards Center 504-36, Nozuki Obuchi Rokkaho-mura, Kamikita-gun Aomori 039-3212 Japan Fax: 0081175710463 Email: midori@jnmcc.or.jp
Milazzo, M.	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory 902 Battelle Boulevard P.O. Box 999 MS-IN K3-55 Richland, WA 99352 United States of America Fax: 0015093756936 Email: matthew.milazzo@pnl.gov

Minty, A.S.	Department of Foreign Affairs Private Bag X152 Pretoria 0001 South Africa Fax: 0027123511239 Email: asm@foreign.gov.za
Miranda Gonçalves, J.G.	European Commission Joint Research Centre Via Enrico Fermi 21020 Ispra (VA) Italy Fax: 00390332789185 Email: joao.goncalves@jrc.it
Mirsaidov, U.	Nuclear and Radiation Safety Agency Academy of Sciences of the Republic of Tajikistan Rudaki Avenue 33 734025 Dushanbe Tajikistan Fax: 00992372215548 Email: ulmas2005@mail.ru
Monakhov, S.	Ignalia Nunclear Power Plant 31500 Visaginas Lithuania Fax: 0037038624396 Email: monakhov@mail.iae.lt
Monteith, A.R.	HOSDB Woodcock Hill Sandridge AL4 9H0 United Kingdom Email: andrew.monteith@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
Moore, T.C.	Committee on Foreign Relations United States Senate 450 Dirksen Senate Office Building Washington, DC 20510-6225 United States of America Fax: 0012022240836 Email: thomas_moore@foreign.senate.gov

Moran, B.W.	U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 11545 Rockville Pike Rockville, MD 20852 United States of America Fax: 0013014156661 Email: bwm@nrc.gov
Moriarty, T.	Division of Concepts and Planning Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: t.moriarty@iaea.org
Morichi, M.	Canberra Industries, Inc. 800 Research Parkway Meriden, CT 006450 United States of America Fax: 0012036392486 Email: mmorichi@canberra.com
Morris, G.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: g.morris@iaea.org
Mukai, Y.	Japan Atomic Energy Agency Tokai Reprocessing Technology Development Center Conversion Technology Section Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki 319-1112 Japan Fax: 0081292829395 Email: mukai.yasunobu@jaea.go.jp

Mulla, M.	Pakistan Atomic Energy Commission P.O. Box 1114 Islamabad Pakistan Fax: 0092519204908 Email: smullapk@yahoo.ca
Munoz, S.	Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: s.munoz@iaea.org
Muñoz Rodriguez, P.	Permanent Mission of Spain to the IAEA Argentinierstrasse 34/4 1040 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315050785 Email: pedro.munoz@mae.es
Murakami, K.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: k.murakami@iaea.org
Murinova, L.	Nuclear Regulatory Authority of the Slovak Republic Bajkalska 27 P.O. Box 24 820 07 Bratislava 27 Slovakia Fax: 00421335991190 Email: lydia.murinova@ujd.gov.sk

Musilek, A.	Atomic Institute of the Austrian Universities Stadionallee 2 1020 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315880114199 Email: amusilek@ati.ac.at
Naito, K.	Nuclear Material Control Centre 2-6-4 Toranomon Minato-Ku Tokyo 105-0001 Japan Fax: 0081335932550 Email: naito@jnmcc.or.jp
Nakajima, S.	Nuclear Energy System, Inc. 4-33 Muramatsu Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki 319-1112 Japan Fax: 0081292829490 Email: nakajima.shinji@jaea.go.jp
Naoi, Y.	Nuclear Non-proliferation Science and Technology Center Japan Atomic Energy Agency 2-4 Shirakara Shirane Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki 319-1195 Japan Fax: 0081292843678 Email: naoi.yosuke@jaea.go.jp
Nedachin, Y.	Scientific Production Center 'Aspect' Joliot-Curie Str. 6 141980 Dubna, Moskovskaya Oblast Russian Federation Fax: 0074962165108 Email: nedachin@aspect.jinr.ru

Negri Ferreira, S.	National Nuclear Energy Commission Rua General Severiano, 90 Botafogo 22290-040 Rio de Janeiro, RJ Brazil Fax: 0055 21 2546 2447 Email: negri@cnen.gov.br
Neri, F.	SYNTHE-mA S.rl. Via Malasoma 24 56121 Ospedaletto-Pisa Italy Fax: 00390509656421 Email: neri@synthema.it
Neuhoff, J.W.	U.S. Department of Energy New Brunswick Laboratory 9800 South Cass Avenue, D-350 Argonne, IL 60439 United States of America Fax: 0016302526256 Email: jon.neuhoff@ch.doe.gov
Newton, T.R.	Division of Operations B Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043120667 Email: t.newton@iaea.org
Nguyen, C.T.	Institute of Isotopes of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences P.O. Box 77 1525 Budapest Hungary Fax: 003613922529 Email: tam@iki.kfki.hu

Nicholas, M.E.	Division of Safeguards Information Technology
	Department of Safeguards
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	P.O. Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Email: m.nicholas@iaea.org
Nicholas, NJ.	Institute of Nuclear Materials Management (INMM)
	Los Alamos National Laboratory
	Mail Stop F650
	Los Alamos, NM 87545
	United States of America
	Fax: 0015056654109
	Email: njnicholas@lanl.gov
Nicolas, R.	Nuclear Regulatory Authority
	Av. Libertador 8250
	1429 Buenos Aires
	Argentina
	Fax: 00551163231778
	Email: rnicolas@sede.arn.gov.ar
Niemeyer, I.	Freiberg University of Mining and Technology
	Institute of Mine-Surveying and Geodesy
	Reiche Zeche, Fuchsmühlenweg 9
	09599 Freiberg
	Germany
	Fax: 00493731393601
	Email: irmgard.niemeyer@tu-freiberg.de
Nikkinen, M.T.	Division of Concepts and Planning
	Department of Safeguards
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	P.O. Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Email: m.nikkinen@iaea.org

Nishimura, R.	Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd. (AECL) Stn 42 Chalk River Laboratories Chalk River, Ontario K0J 1J0 Canada Fax: 0016135848210 Email: nishimurar@aecl.ca
Nordquist, J.	Westinghouse Electric Sweden AB 721 63 Västeras Sweden Fax: 004621347215 Email: jonas.nordquist@se.westinghouse.com
Norman, C.F.	Division of Concepts and Planning Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: c.norman@iaea.org
Oakberg, J.	Division of Safeguards Information Technology Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O.Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: j.oakberg@iaea.org
Oddone, A.	Eurimage S.p.A. Via d'Onofrio 212 00155 Rome Italy Fax: 00390640694232 Email: a.oddone@eurimage.com

Ohtani, T.	Japan Atomic Energy Agency 4-33 Muramatsu Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki 319-1112 Japan Fax: 0081292829490 Email: ohtani.tetsuo@jaea.go.jp
Okko, O.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (STUK) P.O. Box 14 00881 Helsinki Finland Fax: 00358975988670 Email: olli.okko@stuk.fi
Oliveira, A.A.	Brazilian-Argentine Agency for Accounting and Control of Nuclear Materials Av. Rio Branco 123/G. 151 Rio de Janeiro-RJ 20040-005 Brazil Fax: 00552125071857 Email: info@abacc.org.br
Olsen, J.N.	Sandia National Laboratories International Safeguards and Global Security Dept. 6924, MS 1373 P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185 United States of America Fax: 0015052845055 Email: jnolsen@sandia.gov
Onizawa, T.	Japan Atomic Energy Agency 4-33 Tokai-mura, Naka Ibaraki 319-1194 Japan Fax: 0081282833732 Email: onizawa.toshikazu@jaea.go.jp

Ottmar, H.	European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for Transuranium Elements Postfach 2340 76125 Karlsruhe Germany Fax: 0049724795199372 Email: herbert.ottmar@cec.eu.int
Owen, K.	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission 280 Slater Street P.O. Box 1046, Station B Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5S9 Canada Email: owenk@cnsc-ccsn.gc.ca
Owen, M.	Division of Operations B Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: m.owen@iaea.org
Padoani, F.	ENEA Via Martiti di Monte Sole 4 40129 Bologna Italy Email: franca.padoani@bologna.enea.it
Palmer, J.	U.S. Mission to International Organizations Wagramer Strasse 17-19 1220 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431313394775 Email: palmerjc@state.gov

Parcey, D.	Channel Systems Inc. 402 Ara Mooradian Way Box 188 Pinawa, Manitoba R0E1LO Canada Fax: 001 204 7535199 Email: dennis.parcey@channelsystems.ca
Paredes Gilismán, J.L.	Centro Nacional de Seguridad Nuclear Calle 28 No. 504, e/5ta y 7ma, Playa Havana Cuba Fax: 005372023166 Email: paredes@orasen.co.cu
Parey, D.	Channel Systems Inc. 402 Ara Mooradian Way Box 188 Pinawa, Manitoba R0E 1L0 Canada
Park, I.J.	Nuclear Management and Control Agency P.O. Box 114 Yuseong Daejeon 305-600 Republic of Korea Fax: 0082428618819 Email: ijpark@kinac.re.kr
Park, J.H.	Korea Atomic Energy Research Institute (KAERI) CANDU Technology Lab. P.O. Box 105, Yuseong Daejeon 305-600 Republic of Korea Fax: 0082428688256 Email: jhpark@kaeri.re.kr

Park, W.S.	Division of Concepts and Planning Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 A-1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: W.Park@iaea.org
Pásztor, T.C.	Paks Nuclear Power Plant Ltd. P.O. Box 71 7031 Paks Hungary Fax: 003675506664 Email: pasztort@npp.hu
Patko, A.	NAC International 3930 East Jones Bridge Road Norcross, GA 30092 United States of America Fax: 0016783281474 Email: tpatko@nacintl.com
Pausch, G.	ICX-Target Systemelectronic GmbH Kölner Str. 99 42651 Solingen Germany Fax: 0049212201045 Email: gruntram.pausch@icxt.com
Pázsit, I.	Chalmers University of Technology Department of Nuclear Engineering 412 96 Göteborg Sweden Fax: 0046317723079 Email: imre@nephy.chalmers.se
Pedersen, B.	European Commission Joint Research Centre Via Enrico Fermi 21020 Ispra (VA) Italy Fax: 0039 03 32785072 Email: bent.pedersen@jrc.it

Peixoto, O.J.M.	Brazilian-Argentine Agency for Accounting and Control of Nuclear Materials Av. Rio Branco 123/G. 151 Rio de Janeiro-RJ 20040-005 Brazil Fax: 00552125071857 Email: orpet@abacc.org.br
Perez Herrera, I.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: i.perezherrera@iaea.org
Perrotta, J.A.	Brazilian-Argentine Agency for Accounting and Control of Nuclear Materials Av. Rio Branco 123/G. 151 Rio de Janeiro-RJ 20040-005 Brazil Fax: 00552125071857 Email: perrotta@abacc.org.br
Persbo, A.	VERTIC Development House 56-64 Leonard Street London EC2A 4JX United Kingdom Fax: 0044 20 7065 0890 Email: andreas.persbo@vertic.org
Peter, N.	Canberra Industries, Inc. 8401 Washington Place, NE Albuquerque, NM 87131 United States of America Fax: 001 505 8289 225 Email: npeter@canberra-abq.com

Peterson, D.	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory P.O. Box 999 MS-IN K8-46 Richland, WA 99354 United States of America Fax: 0015093726007 Email: danielle.peterson@pnl.gov
Philadelphia, C.	U.S. Mission to the International Organizations Wagramerstrasse 17-19 1220 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043131339-4775 Email: philadelphiaca2@state.gov
Pidduck, A.J.	Malvern Technology Centre E908 QinetiQ St. Andrews Road Malvern, Worcestershire WR14 3PS United Kingdom Fax: 00441684895113 Email: ajpidduck@qinetiq.com
Piebalgs, A.	Office of the Commissioner for Energy European Commission 1049 Brussels Belgium Email: christopher.jones@cec.eu.int
Pietruszewski, A.E.	Division of Operations B Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431 26007 Email: a.pietruszewski@iaea.org

Pilat, J.F.	Los Alamos National Laboratory P.O. Box 1663 MS E541 Los Alamos, NM 87545 United States of America Fax: 0015056677626 Email: jpilat@lanl.gov
Pointurier, F.	CEA Bruyères le Châtel DAM-DIF/DASE/SRCE B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères le Châtel France Fax: 0033169267065 Email: fabien.pointurier@cea.fr
Pozzi, S.	Nuclear Science and Technology Division Oak Ridge National Laboratory One Bethel Valley Rd. P.O. Box 2008, MS 6010 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-6010 United States of America Fax: 0018655768380 Email: pozzisa@ornl.gov
Pratt, V.	644 Rouault Drive Las Cruces, NM 88005 United States of America Email: victoria.pratt@gmail.com
Prinz, C.	SAIL LABS Technology AG Mariannengasse 14 1090 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043158095580 Email: christoph.prinz@sail-technology.com
Proske, D.	University of Life Science Peter Jordanstrasse 82 1190 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431476544390 Email: dirk.proske@boku.ac.at

Pugatchev, A.	Scientific Production Center 'Aspect' Joliot-Curie Str. 6 141980 Dubna, Moskovskaya Oblast Russian Federation Fax: 0074962165108 Email: aspect@dubna.ru
Pungut, N.	Atomic Energy Licensing Board, Batu 24, Jalan Dengkil 43800 Dengkil Selangor Malaysia Fax: 0060389223685 Email: noraishah@aelb.gov.my
Quaglia, B.	Commissariat à l'énergie atomique Direction des relations internationales 31-33, rue de la Fédération 75752 Paris CEDEX 15 France Fax: 0033142730151 Email: bruno.quaglia@cea.fr
Queirolo, A.	Brookhaven National Laboratory P.O. Box 5000 Building 197C Upton, NY 11973 United States of America Fax: 0016313445344 Email: queirolo@bnl.gov
Raffo-Caiado, A.C.	Oak Ridge National Laboratory P.O. Box 2008, MS-6050 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-6050 United States of America Fax: 0018655743900 Email: raffoac@ornl.gov
Rahman, M.M.	Bangladesh Atomic Energy Commission Nuclear Safety and Radiation Control Division 4 Kazi Naztul Islam Avenue Ramna Dhaka-1000 Bangladesh Fax: 0088029660768 Email: mmrahman6591@yahoo.com

Raptis, K.	Safeguards Analytical Laboratory Department of Nuclear Sciences and Applications International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007
	Email: k.raptis@iaea.org
Rauf, T.	Division of External Relations and Policy Coordination International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: t.rauf@iaea.org
Recio Santamaria, M.	Deputy Direction General for Nuclear Energy Paseo de la Castellana, 160 Planta 6, despacho 16 28046 Madrid Spain Fax: 0034913497529 Email: mrecio@mityc.es
Regula, J.	Division of Technical Support Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: j.regula@iaea.org
Remagen, H.H.	Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Technologie 53107 Bonn Germany Fax: 0049 228 6153173; 0049228615302853 Email: hans.remagen@bmwa.bund.de

Rezniczek, A.	UBA Unternehmensberatung GmbH An Gut Forensberg 40 52134 Herzogenrath Germany Fax: 0049240796070 Email: rezniczek@uba-gmbh.de
Richard, M.	CEA Bruyères le Châtel DAM/DMSE B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères le Châtel France Fax: 0033169267002 Email: michel.richard@cea.fr
Richter, B.	Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH Programmgruppe STE 52425 Jülich Germany Fax: 00492461614884; 00492461612496 Email: b.richter@fz-juelich.de
Riedy, A.W.	Oak Ridge National Laboratory Nuclear Science and Technology Division P.O. Box 2008, Building 5600 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-6050 United States of America Fax: 0018652414412 Email: riedyaw@ornl.gov
Rocha, J.	Industrias Nucleares do Brasil S.A. (INB) Rodovia Presidente Dutra, km 330, Eng. Passos Resende/Rio de Janeiro Brazil CEP: 27555-000 Fax: 00552433578944 Email: janine@inb.gov.br
Rochau, G.	Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 MS 0748 Albuquerque, NM 87185 United States of America Fax: 0015052842829 Email: gerocha@sandia.gov

Roselló Serra, J.L.	Permanent Mission of Spain to the IAEA Argentinierstrasse 34/4 1040 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315325630 Email: rep.vienaonu@mae.es
Rosenstock, W.	Fraunhofer-Institut Postfach 1491 53864 Euskirchen Germany Fax: 0049225118378 Email: wolfgang.rosenstock@int.fhg.de
Rudischhauser, W.	Federal Foreign Office Werderscher Markt 1 10117 Berlin Germany Fax: 004930500054220 Email: 240-9@diplo.de
Rudolf, K.	GNS Gesellschaft für Nuklear-Service mbH Hollestrasse 7A 45127 Essen Germany Email: krystyna.rudolf@gns.de
Sadan, Y.	Israel Atomic Energy Commission P.O. Box 900 Beer Sheva 84190 Israel Fax: 00972 8 6567911 Email: ysadan@nrcn.org.il
Saidler, C.	Ortec-Ametek Markthof 77 2294 Markthof Austria Fax: 0043228564031

Saksa, P.	Pöyry Environment Oy P.O. Box 50 01621 Vantaa Finland Fax: 0035896826761 Email: pauli.saksa@poyry.com
Sakurai, S.	Japan Atomic Energy Agency Tokai-mura Ibaraki 319-11 Japan Fax: 0081282843665 Email: sakurai.satoshi16@jaea.go.jp
Samejima, K.	Central Research Institute of Electric Power Industry 1-61-1 Ohtemachi, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8126 Japan Fax: 0081332120522 INMM Japan Chapter
	c/o NMCC 2-6-4, Toranomon, Minato-ku Tokyo 105-0001 Japan Fax: 0081335931850 Email: samejima@criepi.denken.or.jp
Sanborn, J.	U.S. Department of State Office of Multilateral Nuclear and Security Affairs ISN/MNSA Washington, DC 20520 United States of America Fax: 00120277364336 Email: sanbornjb@state.gov

Sangély, L.	CEA Bruyères le Châtel DAM/DASE/SRCE B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères le Châtel France Fax: 0033169267065 Email: laure.sangely@cea.fr
Scheinman, A.	U.S. Department of Energy 1000 Independence Ave., SW Washington, DC 20585 United States of America Fax: 0012025864452 Email: adam.scheinman@nnsa.doe.gov
Scheller, J.	Permanent Mission of Germany to the IAEA Wagramer Strasse 14 1220 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126333756 Email: v-io@wien.diplo.de
Schenkel, R.	European Commission Joint Research Centre Rue de la Loi 200/Wetstraat 200 1049 Brussels Belgium Email: roland.schenkel@cec.eu.int
Schmitzer, C.	Safeguards Analytical Laboratory Department of Nuclear Sciences and Applications International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: c.schmitzer@iaea.org

Schreiber, HJ.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: h.schreiber@iaea.org
Schriefer, D.	Weinzingergasse 10 1190 Vienna Austria Email: dirkschriefer@netscape.net
Schröder, C.	European Commission Directorate General Transport and Energy Directorate Nuclear Safeguards EUFO 03268 2920 Luxembourg Fax: 00352430136249 Email: christoph.schroeder@ec.europa.eu
Schwalbach, P.	European Commission Directorate General Transport and Energy Directorate Nuclear Safeguards Euroforum EUFO 3477 2920 Luxembourg Fax: 00352 430136059 Email: peter.schwalbach@ec.europa.eu
Schwanhäusser, A.	Institute for Peace Research and Security Policy Falkenstein 1 22587 Hamburg Germany Fax: 0049408663615 Email: axel.schwan@gmx.de
Sedda, G.	APAT Via V. Brancati, 48 00144 Rome Italy Fax: 00390650072452 Email: sedda@apat.it

Seguis, J.E.	Philippines Nuclear Research Institute Commonwealth Avenue, Diliman Quezon City Philippines Fax: 006329201646 Email: jeseguis@pnri.dost.gov.ph
Sekse, T.	Norwegian Radiation Protection Authority P.O. Box 55 1332 Oesteraas Norway Fax: 004767147407 Email: tonje.sekse@nrpa.no
Sequeira, V.	European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for the Protection and Security of Citizens TP 210 Via Enrico Fermi 21020 Ispra (VA) Italy Fax: 00390332789185 Email: vitor.sequeira@jrc.it
Sey, J.	Public Agency for Radioactive Waste Managment (PURAM) P.O. Box 12 7031 Paks Hungary Fax: 003675519569 Email: judith.sey@rhk.hu
Shannon, M.	Sam Nunn Security Programme Center for International Strategy, Technology and Policy Georgia Institute of Technology 900 Atlantic Drive Atlanta, GA 30332 United States of America Email: mshannon3@gatech.edu

Shao, D.W.	Tanzania Atomic Energy Commission P.O. Box 743 Arusha United Republic of Tanzania Fax: 00255272509709 Email: shaoda26@yahoo.co.uk
Shayi, L.	The South African Nuclear Energy Corporation P.O. Box 582 Pretoria 0001 South Africa Fax: 0027123053388 Email: masitisi@necsa.co.za
Shea, T.	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory P.O. Box 999 Richland, WA 99352 United States of America Email: Tom.shea@pnl.gov
Shinonaga, T.	Safeguards Analytical Laboratory Department of Nuclear Sciences and Applications International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: t.shinonaga@iaea.org
Shmelev, V.M.	FSI Russian Research Cenre 'Kurchatov Institute' RTA 'Nonproliferation' 1, Kurchatov Sq. 123182 Moscow Russian Federation Fax: 0074951964963 Email: vms@electronics.kiae.ru

Sin, B.W.	Korea Institute of Nuclear Nonproliferation and Control
	103-6 Munii-Dong
	Yuseong-gu
	Daejeon 305-732
	Republic of Korea
	Fax: 0082428666968
	Email: sbw97@kinac.re.kr
Smith, R.	GC Technology GmbH
,	Freidling 12
	84172 Buch am Erlbach
	Germany
	Fax: 00498706949474
Sokolski, H.	Nonproliferation Policy Education Center
	1718 M Street, NW, Suite 244
	Washington, DC 20036
	United States of America
	Email: npec@npec-web.org
Soumana, T.	Ministère des Mines et de l'Énergie
	Direction de l'Utilisation Pacifique des Techniques Nucléaires
	B.P. 11700
	Niamey
	Niger
	Fax: 00227732759
	Email: toudjani_soumana1@yahoo.fr
Souza Dunley, L.	National Nuclear Energy Commission
-	Rua General Severiano, 90
	Botafogo
	22290-040 Rio de Janeiro - RJ
	Brazil
	Fax: 00552125462430
	Email: l.dunley@globo.com

Stakakis, E.	NCSR 'Democritos' Research Reactor Laboratory 27, Neapoleos Str. 15341 Ag. Paraskevi Greece Fax: 00302106533431 Email: stakakis@ipta.demokritos.gr
Stavrov, A.	Scientific and Production Enterprise ATOMTEX Ulitsa Gikalo 5 220005 Minsk Belarus Fax: 3751723199 27 Email: stavrov1@narod.ru
Stein, G.	Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH Programmgruppe STE 52425 Jülich Germany Fax: 00492461612496 Email: g.stein@fz-juelich.de
Stein, J.R.	ICX-Target Systemelectronic GmbH Kölner Str. 99 42651 Solingen Germany Fax: 0049212201045 Email: juergen.stein@icxt.com
Stein, M.	Canberra Industries, Inc. 8401 Washington Place NE Albuquerque, NM 87113 United States of America Fax: 0015058289115 Email: mstein@aquilagroup.com
Strapac, K.J.	Atomic Energy of Canada Limited Chalk River Laboratories Chalk River, Ontario KOJ 1JO Canada Fax: 0016135848103 Email: strapack@aecl.ca

Stritzl, A.	Nucsafe Inc. Radetzkystrasse 4/1 3100 St. Pölten Austria Fax: 00432742313421
	Email: astritzl@nucsafe.com
Surugaya, N.	Japan Atomic Energy Agency 4-33 Tokai-mura, Naka Ibaraki 319-1194 Japan Fax: 0081292824994 Email: surugaya.naoki@jaea.go.jp
Svedkauskaite-Le Gore, J.	European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for Transuranium Elements Postfach 2340 76125 Karlsruhe Germany Fax: 0049724795199538 Email: jolanta.svedkauskaite@cec.eu.int
Synetos, S.	European Commission Unit for Nuclear Accountancy Directorate-General for Energy and Transport 4374 Luxembourg Fax: 00352430130069 Email: sotiris.synetos@ec.europa.eu
Szöllösi, E.	Hungarian Atomic Energy Authority P.O. Box 676 1539 Budapest Hungary Fax: 003614364875 Email: szollosi@haea.gov.hu
Szymanski, J.J.	Los Alamos National Laboratory P.O. Box 1663 Los Alamos, NM 87545 United States of America Fax: 0015056655739 Email: szymanski@lanl.gov

Tape, J.	JWT Consulting 90 Camino Espejo Santa Fe, NM 87507 United States of America Email: jtape@cybermesa.com
Tarvainen, M.	Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431 26007 Email: m.tarvainen@iaea.org
Tétényi, P.	Institute of Isotopes Hungarian Academy of Sciences Konkoly Thege Miklós út 29-33 1121 Budapest XII Hungary Fax: 003613922533 Email: tetenyi@iki.kfki.hu
Third, S.	UKAEA Building 521 Harwell Didcot, Oxon OX11 0RA United Kingdom Fax: 00441235435088 Email: sinclair.third@ukaea.org.uk
Tobin, S.	Los Alamos National Laboratory P.O. Box 1663, MS E540 Los Alamos, NM 87545 United States of America Fax: 0015056654433 Email: tobin@lanl.gov
Tolk, K.M.	Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 MS 1361 Albuquerque, NM 87185-1361 United States of America Fax: 0015052845437 Email: kmtolk@sandia.gov

Tomikawa, H.	Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology
	Marunouchi 2-5-1
	Chivodaku
	Tokyo 100-8959
	Janan
	Fax: 0081367344032
	Fmail: tomihiro@mext go in
	Email: tommioemoxt.go.jp
Touron, H.	European Union Satellite Centre
	Apdo de Correos 511
	28850 Torrejon de Mardoz-Madrid
	Spain
	Fax: 0034916786006
	Email: h.touron@eusc.europa.eu
	Å
Toverud, Ö.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate
	Klarabergsviadukten 90
	106 58 Stockholm
	Sweden
	Fax: 004686619086
	Email: toverud@ski.se
Tsalas, S.	Head of Unit for Nuclear Accountancy
	Directorate-General for Energy and Transport
	European Commission
	2920 Luxembourg
	Fax: 00352430130069
	Email: Stamatios.tsalas@ec.europa.eu
Turkin V	Office of Nuclear Safety
	Department of Nuclear Safety and Security
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	PO Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Email: v.turkin@iaea.org
Tushingham, J.	United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority 521 Harwell Didcot Oxfordshire OX11 0RA United Kingdom Fax: 0044 1235 435096 Email: jim.tushingham@ukaea.org.uk
-----------------	--
Underdown, G.	Department of National Defense General Nuclear Safety National Defense Headquarters MGen George R. Pearkes Bldg. 101 Colonel Bt Drive Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0K2 Canada Fax: 0016139925537 Email: arella.m@forces.gc.ca
Václav, J.	Nuclear Regulatory Authority of the Slovak Republic Okruzná 5 918 64 Trnava Slovakia Fax: 00421335991190 Email: juraj.vaclav@ujd.gov.sk
Valentino, L.I.	Nuclear Regulatory Authority Av. Libertador 8250 1429 Buenos Aires Argentina Fax: 00551163231778 Email: lvalenti@sede.arn.gov.ar
Van Belle, P.	European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for Transuranium Elements Postfach 2340 76125 Karlsruhe Germany Fax: 0049724795199312 Email: pieter.van-belle@cec.eu.int

Van Dassen, L.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Klarabergsviadukten 90 106 58 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 004686619083 Email: lars.van.dassen@ski.se
Van der Heide, P.	Enrichment Technology Company Limited P.O. Box 30 7600 AA Almelo Netherlands Fax: 0031546836300 Email: piet.vanderheide@nl.enritec.com
Van der Meer, K.	SCK.CEN Boeretang 200 2400 Mol Belgium Fax: 003214321049 Email: kvdmeer@sckcen.be
Vandenput, G.	European Commission Directorate TREN I-3 EURO 3283 2920 Luxembourg Fax: 00352430132879 Email: gilbert.vandenput@ec.europa.eu
Vanderper, P.	Language Weaver Europe Leuven Belgium
Varjoranta, T.	Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority (STUK) P.O. Box 14 00881 Helsinki Finland Fax: 00358975988670 Email: tero.varjoranta@stuk.fi

Vedamoorthy, S.	Nuclear Power Plant Corporation of India Ltd. C-2, Nadhikiya Ursa Bhavan Anushakti Nagar Mumbai 400094 India Fax: 00912225995073 Email: svedamurthy@npcil.co.in
Veho, M.	Westinghouse Electric Sweden AB 721 63 Västeras Sweden Fax: 004621347415 Email: maarit.veho@se.westinghouse.com
Velasquez, E.	Permanent Mission of Peru to the IAEA Gottfried Keller Gasse 2/1-2 1030 Vienna Austria Fax: 004317127704 Email: embajada@embaperuaustria.at
Vicens, H.E.	Brazilian-Argentine Agency for Accounting and Control of Nuclear Materials Av. Rio Branco 123/G. 151 Rio de Janeiro-RJ 20040-005 Brazil Fax: 00552125071857 Email: info@abacc.org.br
Vidaurre-Henry, J.	Division of Operations C Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: j.vidaurre-henry@iaea.org
Vikoy, S.	Permanent Mission of Norway to the IAEA Reisnerstrasse 55 1030 Vienna Austria Email: siv@mfa.no

Villa, M.	Neutronen- und Reaktorphysik Atominstitut der Österreichischen Universitäten (ATI) Stadionallee 2 1020 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315880114199 Email: mvilla@ati.ac.at
Vinhas, L.	International Relations Office National Nuclear Energy Commission Rua General Severiano, 90 Botafogo 22294-900 Rio de Janeiro , RJ Brazil Fax: 00552125462213 Email: lavinhas@cnen.gov.br
Volosheniuk, V.	Permanent Mission of Ukraine to the International Organizations in Vienna Naaffgasse 23 1180 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431479717247 Email: v.volosheniuk@ukr.at
Vovers, A.	Permanent Mission of Latvia to the IAEA Stefan Esders Platz 4 1190 Vienna Austria Fax: 00431328729013 Email: edso@mfa.gov.lv
Walkin, K.	US Department of State VCI/NA, Room 5751 HST 2201 C Street NW Washington, DC 20520 United States of America Fax: 0012027367634 Email: walkinkr@state.gov

Wang, TF.	Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory P.O. Box 808 MS L-236 Livermore, CA 94550 United States of America Fax: 0019254221433 Email: wang6@llnl.gov
Weber, AL.	IRSN/DEND/SATE/L2MC BP No. 17 92262 Fontenay-aux-Roses France Fax: 0033158358040 Email: anne-laure.weber@irsn.fr
Weber, M.	European Space Imaging GmbH Arnulfstrasse 197 80634 Munich Germany Fax: 004989130142-22 Email: mweber@euspaceimaging.com
Weeks, G.E.	Division of Technical Support Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: g.weeks@iaea.org
Weh, R.	GNS Gesellschaft für Nuklear-Service mbH Hollestrasse 7A 45127 Essen Germany Email: rudolf.weh@gns.de
Weimann, G.H.	Nuclear Advisory Board Buchbergstrasse 13/8 1140 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315773915 Email: geert.weimann@europe.com

Weinsziehr, L.	ICX-Target Systemelectronic GmbH Kölner Str. 99 42651 Solingen Germany Fax: 0049212201045 Email: juergen.stein@icxt.com
Weis, M.	VGB PowerTech Stresemannallee 23 60596 Frankfurt Germany Fax: 0049696304349 Email: michael_weis@vdew.net
Wellum, R.	European Commission Joint Research Centre IRMM Retieseweg 111 2440 Geel Belgium Fax: 003214571863 Email: roger.wellum@ec.europa.eu
Whichello, J.	Division of Technical Support Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: j.whichello@iaea.org
Whitaker, G.	Division of Safeguards Information Technology Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: g.whitaker@iaea.org

Whitlock, J.	Atomic Energy of Canada Limited Chalk River Laboratories Chalk River, Ontario KOJ 1JO Canada Fax: 0016135848210 Email: whitlockj@aecl.ca
Wilhelmsen, K.	Swedish Defense Research Agency 164 90 Stockholm Sweden Fax: 0046855503494 Email: katarina.wilhelmsen@foi.se
Wilkinson, M.	Permanent Mission of Argentina to the IAEA Goldschmiedgasse 2/1 1010 Vienna Austria Fax: 004315335651 Email: mwilkinson@embargviena.at
Williams, T.	NOK Parkstrasse 23 5401 Baden Switzerland Fax: 0041562003594 Email: tony.williams@nok.ch
Willman, C.	Department of Nuclear and Particle Physics Box 535 751 21 Uppsala Sweden Fax: 0046184713513 Email: willman@tsl.uu.se
Wishard, B.	Division of Technical Support Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: b.wishard@iaea.org

Wonder, E.F.	Science & Engineering Associates, Inc. National Nuclear Security Administration 1000 Independence Ave. SW Washington, DC United States of America Email: ed.wonder@nnsa.doe.gov
Wredberg, L.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate
	International Co-operation Programme, Consultant
	Hammerschmidtgasse 18/1
	1190 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 004313707767
	Email: lars.wredberg@chello.at
Wright, A.	South African Permanent Mission to the UN and Other International Organizations in Vienna
	Sandgasse 33
	1190 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 004313206493 51
	Email: multilateral@saembvie.at
Yeligbayeva, G.	Kazakhstan Atomic Energy Committee
	Chaikinoi Street, 20
	050020 Almaty
	Kazakhstan
	Fax: 0073272607220
	Email: e.gulnara@atom.almaty.kz
Yelton, B.	i2 Limited
	Cambridge
	United Kingdom
	Tel: 00441223728664
	Email: benyelton@i2.co.uk

York, D.	Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 MS 0748 Albuquerque, NM 87185 United States of America Fax: 0015052842829 Email: dlyork@sandia.gov
Younkin, J.M.	ORNL Consultant 128 Heritage Drive Oak Ridge, TN 37830 United States of America Email: younkinm@bellsouth.net
Zahradnik-Gueizelar, P.	Division of Operations A Tokyo Regional Office Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Email: p.zahradnik@iaea.org
Zarate, R.	Nonproliferation Policy Education Center 1718 M Street, NW, Suite 244 Washington, DC 20036 United States of America Email: npec@npec-web.org
Zarimpas, N.	Division of Safeguards Information Technology Department of Safeguards International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna Austria Fax: 0043126007 Email: n.zarimpas@iaea.org
Zatolokine, B.	Scientific and Production Enterprise ATOMTEX Ulitsa Gikalo 5 220005 Minsk Belarus Tel/Fax: 00375172928142 Email: atomtex@mail.belpak.by

Zendel, M.	Division of Technical Support
	Department of Safeguards
	International Atomic Energy Agency
	P.O. Box 100
	1400 Vienna
	Austria
	Fax: 0043126007
	Email: m.zendel@iaea.org
Zilliacus, R.H.	VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland
	P.O. Box 1000
	02044 VTT
	Finland
	Fax: 00358207226390
	Email: riitta.zilliacus@vtt.fi
Zsigrai, J.	Institute of Isotopes of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences
	P.O. Box 77
	1525 Budapest
	Hungary
	Fax: 003613922529
	Email: zsigrai@sunserv.kfki.hu

#### BATTELLE/PNNL

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory P.O. Box 999 MS-IN K8-46 Richland, WA 99354 United States of America Mr. P. Durst Email: philip.durst@pnl.gov

CANBERRA AQUILA, INC.

8401 Washington Place NE Albuquerque, NM 87113 United States of America Mr. M. Stein Tel: 0015058289100 ext. 3841 Fax: 0015058289115 Email: mstein@canberra-abq.com

CHANNEL SYSTEMS INC. P.O. Box 188, 402 Ara Mooradian Way Pinawa MB ROE 1LO Canada Mr. D. Chen Tel: 0012047535191 or 0012047535190 Fax: 0012047535199 Email: dennis.chen@channelsystems.ca

EURIMAGE S.p.A. Via d'Onofrio 212 00155 Rome Italy Ms. D. Giampaolo Tel: 00390640694334 Fax: 00390640694232 Email: d.giampaolo@eurimage.com

EUROPEAN SPACE IMAGING GmbH Arnulfstrasse 197 80634 Munich Germany Ms. M. Weber Tel: 004989130142-0 Fax: 004989130142-22 Email: mweber@euspaceimaging.com

GC TECHNOLOGY GmbH Freidling 12 84172 Buch am Erlbach Germany Mr. G. Catto Tel: 00498706941500 Fax: 00498706949474 Email: GraemeCatto@aol.com

## ICX-TARGET SYSTEM ELECTRONIC GmbH

Kölner Strasse 99 42651 Solingen Germany Mr. J. Stein Email: Verena.aussem@icxt.com or j.stein@target-system-gmbh.de

INXIGHT SOFTWARE INC. 500 Macara Avenue Sunnyvale, CA 94085 United States of America Mr. P. De Bie Email: pdebie@inxight.com

i2 LIMITED Cambridge United Kingdom Mr. B. Yelton Tel: 00441223728664

Email: benyelton@i2.co.uk

LANGUAGE WEAVER EUROPE Leuven Belgium Mr. P. Vanderper Tel: 003216408310 Email: pvanderper@languageweaver.com

NUCSAFE INC.

Radetzkystrasse 4/1 3100 St. Pölten Austria Mr. A. Stritzl Tel/Fax: 00432742313421 Email: astritzl@nucsafe.com or ias@via.at

#### **ORTEC-AMETEK**

Markthof 77 2294 Markthof Austria Mr. C. Saidler Tel: 0043228564030 Fax: 0043228564031 Email: Christian.saidler@ametek-online.com or ukinstsales@ametek-online.com

#### SAINT-GOBAIN CRYSTALS & DET

RMP, 6801 Cochran Road Solon, OH 44139 United States of America Mr. R.P. Oxford Fax: 0014403496581

SPC ASPECT 6 Joliot Curie Str. 141980 Dubna, Moscow Region Russian Federation Mr. Y. Nedachin Tel: 0074962162699 Fax: 0074962165108 Email: nedachin@aspect.jinr.ru or belushkina@aspect.jinr.ru

SPE ATOMTEX Ulitsa Gikalo 5 220005 Minsk Belarus Mr. V. Blinov Tel/Fax: 00375172928142 Email: atomtex@mail.belpak.by or blinov@atomtex.com

SYNTHEMA S.r.l. Via Malasoma 24 56121 Ospedaletto-Pisa Italy Mr. F. Neri Tel: 00390509656411 Fax: 00390509656421 Email: neri@synthema.it

## **INDEX OF AUTHORS IN PRINTED PROCEEDINGS**

Abushady, Y.: 115 Carlson, J.: 85, 129 Cooley, J.: 139 Djaloeis, A.: 103 Ekéus, R.: 53 ElBaradei, M.: 21 Heinonen, O.: 157 Ito, T.: 59 Joly, J.: 29 Keen, L.J.: 77 Kislyak, S.: 47 Matsuo, Y.: 59 Minty, A.: 33 Murakami, K.: 115 Nicholas, N.-J.: 27 Piebalgs, A.: 39 Rens, B.: 115 Scheinman, A.M.: 73 Schenkel, R.: 149 Schreiber, H.-J.: 115 Vidaurre-Henry, J.: 115 Vinhas, L.A.: 97

# ADDRESSING VERIFICATION CHALLENGES: ELECTRONIC VERSION OF THE PRINTED PROCEEDINGS

## CURRENT CHALLENGES TO THE SAFEGUARDS SYSTEM (Session 3)

Beyond Iraq: The new challenges to the nuclear non-proliferation regime (IAEA-CN-148/19) M. Richard Towards wider adherence to the strengthened safeguards system: Additional protocols and small quantities protocols (IAEA-CN-148/20) J. Lodding A formal approach for verifying treaty compliance (IAEA-CN-148/21)... R. Avenhaus, N. Kyriakopoulos, M. Richard, G. Stein Identification of high risk intermediaries in global networks transferring sensitive technology and information (IAEA-CN-148/22) T.W. Wood, B.A. Reichmuth, M.R. Weimar, R.F. O'Brien, M.D. Milazzo Development of an academic course in safeguards and nuclear non-proliferation at Swedish universities (IAEA-CN-148/24) T. Jonter, A. Håkansson

## IMPROVING COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS OF SAFEGUARDS INFORMATION 1 (Session 4)

Safeguards information challenges (IAEA-CN-148/25) J. Baute
Safeguards information analysis: Progress, challenges and solutions (IAEA-CN-148/26) L. Bevaart, F. Claude, J. Lepingwell, M. Nicholas, H. Rilakovic, P. Caulfield
Open source research and nuclear safeguards (IAEA-CN-148/27) W.Q. Bowen, J. Kidd
Advanced information analysis technologies for safeguards (IAEA-CN-148/28) M. Nicholas, J. Hilliard, J. Murray

261

Indicators and signatures (IAEA-CN-148/29)

L. Gerard

A fuzzy logic decision support system for open source information analysis in a non-proliferation framework (IAEA-CN-148/30) *I.B. Maschio* 

## ADVANCES IN SAFEGUARDS TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGY 1 - FUTURE TECHNOLOGY (Session 5)

Future safeguards verification tools (IAEA-CN-148/31) M. Zendel, N. Khlebnikov, M. Aparo Novel technologies for the detection of undeclared nuclear activities (IAEA-CN-148/32) J. Whichello, N. Khlebnikov, D. Parise Uranium isotopic assay instrument (IAEA-CN-148/33) N.C. Anheier, Jr., M.D. Wojcik, B.D. Cannon, B.A. Bushaw Development of an atmospheric <sup>85</sup>Kr automated sampler and analyzer (IAEA-CN-148/34) F. Pointurier, J.P. Fontaine, R. Couzinet, G. Le Petit Shallow geophysics methods for DIV safeguards inspections (IAEA-CN-148/35) C. Antoine, X. Derobert, J.L. Chazelas, A. Lebrun, S. Jung, R. Carchon, M. Larroque Ground penetrating radar method for safeguards – Examples at Olkiluoto spent fuel disposal site in Finland (IAEA-CN-148/36) P. Saksa, E. Heikkinen, T. Lehtimäki, O. Okko

## FURTHER STRENGTHENING SAFEGUARDS PRACTICES AND APPROACHES 1 – SAFEGUARDS APPROACHES (Session 6)

Deterrence, technology and the sensible distribution of verification resources (IAEA-CN-148/37) *R. Avenhaus, M. Canty*Systems analysis for evaluation of safeguards effectiveness (IAEA-CN-148/38) *H. Elayat, H. Lambert, W.J. O'Connell, L. Szytel, M. Dreicer*

Implementation of IAEA Policy Paper 18 in Canada (IAEA-CN-148/39) *K.E. Owen*Evaluating the decommissioned status of a LWR and RRCA facility to determine level of effort needed to safeguard facility (IAEA-CN-148/40) *B. Boyer, C. Carroll, R. Fagerholm*Down blending high enriched uranium in Kazakhstan (IAEA-CN-148/41) *H.-J. Schreiber, K. Murakami, J. Vallejo-Luna, I. Hladik, Y. Yasko, J. Lemley*Safeguards for final disposal of spent fuel in Finland (IAEA-CN-148/42) *E. Martikka, O. Okko, T. Honkamaa*

## IMPROVING COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS OF SAFEGUARDS INFORMATION 2 (Session 7)

Analysis and processing tools for nuclear trade related data (IAEA-CN-148/43) A. El Gebaly, R. Chatelus, P. Caulfield, A. Witkin, M. Tarvainen Duplicate management in mining open source literature for knowledge and intelligence (IAEA-CN-148/44) E. Coppock, R. Cooper, M. Merrell Integrated information portal (IAEA-CN-148/45) Q.S. Truong, S.S. McArdle, J. Yang The IAEA and State declared safeguards information: Progress, plans and issues (IAEA-CN-148/46) J. Oakberg, O. Gushchin, H. Licayan, N. Mukhametshina, H. Rilakovic, T. Stepanek, M. Wredberg Nuclear material accountancy system in Brazil (IAEA-CN-148/47) L. Souza Dunley, H. Peixoto Schirmer, S. Negri Ferreira, E.M. Camargo Amaral Implementation of IAEA safeguards agreement: Bangladesh perspective (IAEA-CN-148/48) M.M. Rahman, R.A. Amiree

The Euratom Nuclear Material Accountancy System for the implementation of the safeguards agreements, the Euratom Treaty and Euratom agreements with third States (IAEA-CN-148/16) *S. Synetos, S. Tsalas, L. Bouwmans, J. Hoeke, M. Lahogue, S. Ciccarello, P. Chartier-Brun* 

## ADVANCES IN SAFEGUARDS TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGY 2 - NEUTRON TECHNIQUES (Session 8)

Development of safeguards technology for lab-scale advanced fuel cycle facility at KAERI (IAEA-CN-148/49) H.D. Kim, T.H. Lee, W.I. Ko, S.W. Park, H.O. Menlove, T.K. Li Development of the Epithermal Neutron Multiplicity Counter (ENMC) (IAEA-CN-148/51) T. Asano, J. Ninagawa, S. Fujiwara, S. Takahashi, S. Nakajima, T. Sato, H.O. Menlove, C.D. Rael Assay of small fissile masses in waste by the active neutron correlation technique (IAEA-CN-148/52) B. Pedersen, W. Hage, A. Favalli, G. Varasano Analysis of time correlation measurements with the Active Well Coincidence Counter (IAEA-CN-148/53) S.A. Pozzi, K.B. Bekar Monte Carlo analysis of the statistics of neutron detection by organic scintillators (IAEA-CN-148/54) S.A. Pozzi, I. Pázsit

## FURTHER STRENGTHENING SAFEGUARDS PRACTICES AND APPROACHES 2 – SAFEGUARDS APPROACHES AND INTEGRATED SAFEGUARDS (Session 9)

Short Notice Random Inspection (SNRI) regime at a low enriched uranium fuel fabrication plant in Spain (IAEA-CN-148/55) *Y. Abushady, B. Rens, F. Lopez Lizana*Implementation of SNRI and borrowing inspections at LEU FFPs in Japan (IAEA-CN-148/56) *T. Ishikawa, K. Suzuki, T. Kaminaga, E. Kawashima, H. Sawada*The transition to integrated safeguards: The Canadian experience (IAEA-CN-148/57) *J.A. Casterton, L.A. Gourgon*

Activities of the ESARDA Working Group on Integrated Safeguards (IAEA-CN-148/58)
A. Rezniczek (on behalf of the ESARDA Working Group on Integrated Safeguards)
The development and the implementation of integrated safeguards approaches for LWRs in Japan (IAEA-CN-148/59)
S. Iso, Y. Nomura
Implementing an integrated safeguards approach at multi-unit CANDU stations: Potential savings (IAEA-CN-148/60)
M. Hosoya, E. Franklin Saburido, H. Nackaerts, G. Bernasconi, V. Wong, K. Warthan

# IMPROVING COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS OF SAFEGUARDS INFORMATION 3 (Session 10)

SAR satellite imagery applications (IAEA-CN-148/61) P. Loreaux, R. Michel Object-based analysis of hyperspectral and thermal infrared satellite imagery (IAEA-CN-148/62) I. Niemever Identification of key features of some nuclear facilities for interpretation of imageries from remote sensing satellites (IAEA-CN-148/63) B. Jasani, M. Canty, S. Nussbaum Remote sensing technology for nuclear verification (IAEA-CN-148/64) S.Y. Jo, W.K. Yoon IAEA safeguards information system re-engineering project (IRP) (IAEA-CN-148/65) G. Whitaker, J.-M. Becar, N. Ifyland, R. Kirkgoeze, G. Koevesd, L. Szamosi A common key management infrastructure for safeguards data (IAEA-CN-148/66) A.C. Capel, C. Schneider, J. Barton, P. Button

## ADVANCES IN SAFEGUARDS TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGY 3 - SPENT FUEL VERIFICATION (Session 11)

Development of a safeguards verification method and instrument to detect pin diversion from Pressurized Water Reactor (PWR) spent fuel assemblies (IAEA-CN-148/67) Y.S. Ham, G.I. Maldonado, J. Burdo, T. He Is the FORK detector a partial defect tester? (IAEA-CN-148/68) K. van der Meer, M. Coeck Partial-defect detection using a digital Cerenkov viewing device and image processing (IAEA-CN-148/69) J.D. Chen, K. Axell, A.F. Gerwing, D.A. Parcey, R. Kosierb, M. Larsson, B. Lindberg, F. Vinnå Modelling of Cherenkov light emission from BWR nuclear fuel with missing or substituted rods (IAEA-CN-148/70) B. Lindberg, A. Håkansson, S. Jacobsson Svärd, M. Larsson, K. Axell, J.D. Chen, A.F. Gerwing, D.A. Parcey, R. Kosierb, F. Vinnå Development of CANDU spent fuel verification system using optical fiber scintillator (IAEA-CN-148/72) J.S. Kim, I.J. Park, G.H. Ahn, G.S. Min, A. Lebrun

# FURTHER STRENGTHENING SAFEGUARDS PRACTICES AND APPROACHES 3 – R/SSAC (Session 12)

Experience of implementing the additional protocol in the EU: The first years (IAEA-CN-148/73) *A. Asikainen, M. Lahogue-Incerti, S. Tsalas*Implementation of INFCIRC/193 and its Protocol Additional in the Slovak Republic (IAEA-CN-148/74) *J. Vaclav*Additional protocol experience in Romania (IAEA-CN-148/75) *V. Grama, V. Zsombori, L. Biro*Experience and challenges on safeguards practices and approaches for BAEC 3 MW TRIGA Mk-II research reactor and other establishment of Bangladesh (IAEA-CN-148/76) *M.M. Haque, M.A. Malek Soner, P.K. Saha, M.S. Islam, M.A. Salam, M.A. Zulquarnain*

Implementation of safeguards commitments: A Cuban experience (IAEA-CN-148/77)
J.L. Paredes Gilismán, L.A. Betancourt Hernández, M.M. Espinosa Valdés
Coordination improvement on safeguards application between ABACC and IAEA (IAEA-CN-148/193)
O.J.M. Peixoto, H.E. Vicens, N. Whiting

## ADVANCES IN SAFEGUARDS TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGY 4 – NDA GENERAL (Session 13)

Migration of safeguards instrumentation: Challenges and opportunities (IAEA-CN-148/79) M. Stein, C. Carroll, B. Richter, A. Queirolo, S. Pepper Activities of the ESARDA Working Group for Techniques and Standards for Non-Destructive Analysis (IAEA-CN-148/80) P. Peerani, A.L. Weber Secure data communication for safeguards implementation (IAEA-CN-148/81) J. Regula, M. Aparo, N. Khlebnikov, B. Wishard, P. Mancini Design of safeguards systems for authentication (IAEA-CN-148/82) K. Tolk, M. Aparo, C. Liguori, A. Capel Verification of irradiated uranium targets by NDA and DA techniques (IAEA-CN-148/83) C. Charlier, D. Donohue, V. Maiorov, L. Pedraza, M. Ryzhinskiv A combined calorimetry, neutron coincidence counting and gamma spectrometry system (CANEGA) for enhanced plutonium mass and isotopic assay (IAEA-CN-148/84) H. Ottmar, S. Abousahl, P. van Belle, T. van Vuure, K. Burke, J. Mason, A. Tolchard, A. Towner

## ADVANCES IN SAFEGUARDS TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGY 5 – DA (Session 14)

Towards more investigative analytical methods for nuclear safeguards and nuclear security applications (IAEA-CN-148/85) *K. Mayer, M. Wallenius, K. Lützenkirchen, J. Svedkauskaite, A. Nicholl, G. Rasmussen*

Building knowledge by destructive analysis: The ESARDA Working
Group on Destructive Analysis (IAEA-CN-148/86)
K. Mayer, R. Wellum
Particle-chemical analysis of uranium and plutonium
(IAEA-CN-148/87)
T. Shinonaga, D. Donohue, D. Klose, T. Kuno, Y. Kuno, F. Esaka,
K.T. Esaka, M. Magara, S. Sakurai, S. Usuda
Importance of the impurity spectrum in nuclear materials for nuclear sefection $(14 \text{ E} \text{ A} - \text{CN} + 148)$
Saleguards (IAEA-CN-146/66)
J. Sveakauskaue-Le Gore, G. Rasmussen, C. vinceni, P. van Beile,
S. Abousani
Validation of uranium determination by ICP-SMS from QC samples from the IAEA Safeguards Analytical Laboratory
(IAEA-CN-148/89)
K. Raptis, H. Aigner, S. Vogt, T. Shinonaga, S. Balsley
Optimization of the preparation of certified uranium particles by controlled hydrolysis of UF <sub>6</sub> for nuclear safeguards (LAEA_CN 148/00)
R. Kips, R. Wellum, P.D.P. Taylor

# FUTURE CHALLENGES (Session 15)

Non-proliferation and the Global Nuclear Energy Partnership (GNEP) (IAEA-CN-148/91)
J.F. Pilat
A demonstration of advanced nuclear fuel cycle transparency concepts
(IAEA-CN-148/92)
N. Inoue, T. Kitabata, T. Irie, G.E. Rochau, D.L. York, C.M. Mendez
Integrating proliferation resistance into the design of nuclear facilities
and improving safeguards approaches at the facility and State levels
(IAEA-CN-148/93)
D.N. Kovacic, J.M. Whitaker, G.A. Hammond, J. Morgan
International safeguards and the Global Nuclear Energy Partnership
(IAEA-CN-148/94)
R. Cherry, D. Lockwood, K. Budlong-Sylvester, E. Wonder
Future interactions between IAEA safeguards and trade in sensitive
nuclear technologies (IAEA-CN-148/95)
V. Gorgues
Analysis of proliferation networks (IAEA-CN-148/96)
M. Tarvainen, M. Derrough, M. Barletta

The role of quality management in delivering safeguards conclusions (IAEA-CN-148/78)
T. Jeffrey, H. Aigner, E. Doherty, J. Hillerman, R. McCullough, D. Neal, J. Patten

## FURTHER STRENGTHENING SAFEGUARDS PRACTICES AND APPROACHES 4 – ENRICHMENT (Session 16)

Hexapartite safeguards project: A retrospective (IAEA-CN-148/97) K. Naito Model safeguards approach for gas centrifuge enrichment plants (IAEA-CN-148/98) W. Bush, D. Langlands, N. Tuley, J. Cooley Evaluating new MC&A concepts for gas centrifuge enrichment plants (IAEA-CN-148/99) E. Dixon, J. Howell, B. Boyer, S. DeMuth, D. Beddingfield Considerations on enhanced safeguards approach for centrifuge enrichment facilities (IAEA-CN-148/100) M. Marzo Applying enhanced safeguards approaches at centrifuge enrichment facilities (IAEA-CN-148/194) O. Peixoto, H. Vicens, N. Whiting Confirmation of the decommissioned status of a centrifuge uranium enrichment plant (IAEA-CN-148/102) M. Kikuchi, S. Yatsu, R. Fagerholm, Y. Touil

## ADVANCES IN SAFEGUARDS TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGY 6 – REPROCESSING (Session 17)

The on-site laboratory for the Rokkasho Reprocessing Plant in Japan (IAEA-CN-148/103) *M. Midorikawa, Y. Sato, S. Hara, K. Konno, M. Iwanaga*Improvement of analytical activities in the Tokai Reprocessing Plant, Japan, by measuring destructive and non-destructive assays (IAEA-CN-148/104) *N. Surugaya, S. Taguchi, A. Kurosawa, M. Watahiki*

## FURTHER STRENGTHENING SAFEGUARDS PRACTICES AND APPROACHES 5 – REPROCESSING, SPENT FUEL TRANSFER (Session 18)

Extensive cooperation in establishment and installation of safeguards system at Rokkasho Reprocessing Plant (RRP) (IAEA-CN-148/109) *T. Iwamoto, T. Ebata, K. Fujimaki, H. Ai*Safeguards improvement for the Tokai Reprocessing Plant (TRP) (IAEA-CN-148/110) *T. Onizawa, T. Kimura, K. Kurosu, T. Hayakawa, J. Fukuhara, S. Yatsu*Progress in dismantling of the WAK pilot reprocessing plant: Vitrification of the HLLW (IAEA-CN-148/111) *J. Fleisch, J. Lausch, M. Weishaupt*

Rokkasho Reprocessing Plant: Moving from safeguards project to safeguards operations (IAEA-CN-148/199) *T. Killeen* 

Safeguards approach for spent fuel transfers to dry storage (IAEA-CN-148/112)

J. Doo, D. Hurt, R. Fagerholm, M. Hosoya, N. Whiting

Implementation of an integrated safeguards approach for transfers of spent fuel to dry storage at multi-unit CANDU generating stations (IAEA-CN-148/113)

R.M. Benjamin

Safeguards for spent nuclear fuel in transfer from wet storage to dry storage in on-site interim storage facilities (IAEA-CN-148/114)
B. Richter, C.P. Behrens, H.H. Remagen, A. Rezniczek, K. Rudolf, G. Stein, M. Weis

## ADVANCES IN SAFEGUARDS TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGY 7 – ENVIRONMENTAL SAMPLING (Session 19)

A multi-technique approach to environmental particle analysis for nuclear safeguards (IAEA-CN-148/115) A.J. Pidduck, M.R. Houlton, G.M. Williams, D.L. Donohue Development of safeguards environmental sample analysis techniques at JAEA as a Network Laboratory of IAEA (IAEA-CN-148/116) S. Sakurai, M. Magara, F. Esaka, F. Hirayama, C.G. Lee, K. Yasuda, J. Inagawa, D. Suzuki, K. Iguchi, Y.S. Kokubu, Y. Miyamoto, N. Shinohara, S. Usuda Detection and characterization of neutron activation activities using gamma spectrometric analysis (IAEA-CN-148/117) V. Maiorov, M. Nikkinen, M. Ryzhinskiy, K. Vilece Cluster analysis for TIMS particle data analysis (IAEA-CN-148/118) M. Nikkinen, R. Räsänen Particle analysis for uranium isotopes on swipe samples using new generation Cameca IMS 7f SIMS supported by SEM automated uranium detection (IAEA-CN-148/119) L. Sangély, O. Marie, S. Diallo, F. Pointurier, S. Baude New developments and methodology for actinide measurements at ultra trace levels using ICP-MS (IAEA-CN-148/120) R. Chiappini, F. Pointurier, A. Hubert, O. Marie

## ADVANCES IN SAFEGUARDS TECHNIQUES AND TECHNOLOGY 8 – CONTAINMENT AND SURVEILLANCE (Session 20)

The ESARDA Working Group on Containment and Surveillance: Activities and achievements (IAEA-CN-148/121) B. Richter The IAEA's Next Generation Surveillance System (NGSS): Considerations on the hardware design concept (IAEA-CN-148/122) B. Richter, M. Aparo, S. Lange, G. Neumann, M. Stein Laser surface authentication for containment and surveillance (IAEA-CN-148/123) M. McGlade, S. Poirier, H. Undem, M. Zendel Remote monitoring of radio frequency tamper indicating devices in international safeguards applications (IAEA-CN-148/124) G.E. Weeks, M. Goldfarb, J. Regula, O.S. Seo 3D Technologies in safeguards applications (IAEA-CN-148/125) V. Sequeira, A. Busboom, G. Boström, J.G.M. Gonçalves Developing new techniques for detecting undeclared nuclear material and activities: UF<sub>6</sub> cylinder tracking system for uranium enrichment plants (IAEA-CN-148/126)

D.N. Kovacic, S. Hayes, D. Burk, J.M. Whitaker, R. Cain, J. Morgan

## **POSTER SESSION**

Illicit trafficking of radiological & nuclear materials: Modelling and analysis of trafficking trends and risks (IAEA-CN-148/127P)
D. York, G. Rochau, V. Cleary
Resolution of open core anomalies at LWRs (IAEA-CN-148/128P)
Y. Abushady, H. Dupreez, H. Cha, R. Carchon, G. Lee
IAEA safeguards implementation at dry spent fuel storage at Zaporozhe nuclear power plant (IAEA-CN-148/129P)
I. Perez Herrera, K. Murakami, H.-J. Schreiber, C. Olivieri, Y.-G. Lee, A. Ignachenko, V. Kulbakova
Successful implementation of an unattended safeguards approach for the transfer of spent fuel to interim dry storage (IAEA-CN-148/130P)
D.H. Hanks, A. Tolba

Strengthened safeguards system implementation at Serpong Nuclear Research Center – Batan (IAEA-CN-148/131P) <i>M. Imron, D.T. Jatmiko, M. Kadarusmanto</i>
To achieve a nuclear material inventory in case of emergency (IAEA-CN-148/132P)
B. Massendari, F. Lemoine
A field exercise course to train IAEA safeguards inspectors in
implementing the additional protocol and performing complementary access activities (IAEA-CN-148/133P)
B. Boyer, J. Valente, C. Gazze, J. Gilbert
The road to safeguards quality: An e-learning tutorial (IAEA-CN-148/134P)
K. Desson, D. Martin, Q.S. Truong, R. Keeffe
Education on nuclear safeguards for European nuclear engineering students (IAEA-CN-148/135P)
G. Janssens-Maenhout, A. Hamilton, T. Jönter, G. Stein,
E. Martikka, A. Håkansson, K. van der Meer, B. Autrusson,
R. Howsley, J. Baute, B.A. Burrows, M. Franklin, P. Funk,
M. Hunt, J. Joly, C. Jorant, M. Kalinowski, P. Peerani, A.E. Poucet,
K. Mayer, P. Schwalbach, L. van Dassen, LV. Bril, J. Gonçalves
Experiences in Germany with the implementation of the additional
protocol (IAEA-CN-148/136P)
H.H. Remagen, A. Rezniczek, B. Richter
Preparation for implementation of the safeguards system in the
Republic of Tajikistan (IAEA-CN-148/137P)
U. Mirsaidov, J. Salomov
Experience of the preparations for implementing integrated safeguards
in Kazakhstan (IAEA-CN-148/138P)
G. Zh. Yeligbayeva
Experience of safeguards implementation at Rokkasho Enrichment
Plant (REP) and an innovative safeguards approach for new plant
(IAEA-CN-148/139P)
T. Iwamoto, D. Langlands, S. Aiuchi, A. Honma
JNFL MOX fuel fabrication plant (J-MOX): Plant overview and
safeguards considerations (IAEA-CN-148/140P)
K. Hiruta, M. Deguchi, K. Fujimaki
Tools and techniques for safeguards training and knowledge
management (IAEA-CN-148/141P)
N. Herber, D. Martin, Q.S. Truong, R. Keeffe, K. Desson
Safeguards system in the Republic of Belarus (IAEA-CN-148/142P)
O. Gurko

Experience of Thailand on conclusion of additional protocol
(IA E A - CN - 1/8/1/3P)
S Riramontri M Aramrattana C Warawas
Development of a safeguards database (IAFA-CN-148/144P)
S Khan M S Mulla
A real-time system of accounting and control of nuclear materials and
radioactive sources (IAFA-CN-148/145P)
I Badawy MK Mobasher VM Naguib
Proposed national actions for safeguards improvements in the United
Republic of Tanzania (IAEA-CN-148/146P)
D Shao
ALOS satellite imagery utilization for safeguards
(IAEA-CN-148/147P)
T. Tadono, M. Shimada, T. Hamazaki, N. Matsuura
Potential applications of synthetic aperture radar (SAR) satellite
imagery to nuclear safeguards (IAEA-CN-148/148P)
R. Saper, O.S. Truong, M. St-Hilaire, K. Permiakova, J. Mulvie
VITA-6.2: Advanced visual tool for information management
(IAEA-CN-148/149P)
Z. Jacobson, O.S. Truong, B. Houston, V. Taylor, N. Herber,
A. El Gebaly
Towards a strategy and conceptual framework for safeguards
exploitation of optical satellite imagery (IAEA-CN-148/150P)
G.A. Borstad, Q.S. Truong, J. Lim, L.N. Brown
The IAEA illicit trafficking database programme: Trends and patterns
in confirmed incidents involving nuclear material
(IAEA-CN-148/151P)
V. Turkin, W. Hammond
Integrated information communication technology (ICT) tool for
inspectors (IAEA-CN-148/152P)
R. Gaetano, JM. Becar, B. Sirajov, P. Titov
An integrated approach to material balance evaluation
(IAEA-CN-148/153P)
C. Norman, L. Bevaart, W. Fuhr
Advances in safeguards IT security: Matching protection and actions
to risks (IAEA-CN-148/154P)
J. Barton, L. Allen, J. Haluza, C. Schneider
Creating an XML schema for enhancing nuclear safeguards information
(IAEA-CN-148/155P)
C. Hobbs, J. Kidd

A geo-portal for data management and integration in the context
E Wolfart L V Bril E Bollong A Useerie S Contini E Mana
L. Woljuri, LV. Bru, F. Bellezza, A. Ossorio, S. Conuni, F. Mazza
(LA E A CN 148/157D)
(IAEA-UN-148/15/P)
G. whuaker, JM. Becar, N. Ijylana, R. Kirkgoeze, G. Koevesa,
L. Szamosi
Accounting and vertification of data from the operators $(LA = A - CN + 148/158P)$
(IAEA-CN-148/158P)
I. Lovjagina
Measurements and verification challenges of drums containing
HEU/LEU nuclear waste under saleguards using IQ3 in South Africa
(IAEA-CN-148/I59P)
L.J. Snayl, G. Marcon, M. Rasweswe
Advances in NDA of Pu in Pu-Be neutron sources
(IAEA-CN-148/100P)
L. Lakosi, J. Bagi, C. I. Nguyen
Determination of the age of research-reactor fuel rods
(IAEA-CN-148/101P)
J. Zsigrai, C.I. Nguyen, I. Sziklai-Laszlo
Statistics of the neutrons and gamma photons emitted from a fissile sample with characteristic (LAEA, CNL 140/1(2D))
with absorption (IAEA-CN-148/162P)
A. Enqvist, I. Pazsit, S.A. Pozzi
Gamma-spectrometry for characterization of Pu-Be neutron sources
(IAEA-CN-148/163P)
C.T. Nguyen
Development of an XRF analyser with preliminary energy selection
filter for screening environmental samples (IAEA-CN-148/164P)
D. Donohue, V. Maiorov, Y. Ito, A. Nirschl, W. Raab
Performance and validation of COMPUCEA 2nd generation
for uranium measurements in physical inventory verification
(IAEA-CN-148/165P)
H. Ottmar, S. Abousahl, N. Albert, P. Amador, H. Eberle, H. Schorlé
Quantification of Cerenkov light for safeguard applications
(IAEA-CN-148/166P)
V. Pratt, L. Bourva, R. Carchon
Sateguards and environmental measurements using Compton
suppressed Ge detectors (IAEA-CN-146/10/P)

T.-F. Wang, W.D. Ruhter, G. Price Russ

Superconducting ultra-high energy resolution Gamma spectrometers
for nuclear safeguards applications (IAEA-CN-148/168P)
S. Friedrich, S. Ali, T.R. Niedermayr, I.D. Hau, S.F. Terracol,
O.B. Drury
Autoradiography using optically stimulated luminescence for verification and safeguards applications (IAEA-CN-148/169P)
S. Miller, J. Tanner, M. Conrady, D. Anderson
Simulation smuggling study for shielded sources of <sup>235</sup> U, <sup>238</sup> U, <sup>232</sup> Th, <sup>137</sup> Cs and <sup>60</sup> Co by using <i>Y</i> -detection (IAEA-CN-148/170P)
S. Al-Rashdi, R. Al-Marbouei, S.A. El-Mongy
Prototype tomographic partial defect tester: Project status update (IAEA-CN-148/171P)
T. Honkamaa, A. Turunen, F. Levai, M. Larsson, R. Berndt, A. LeBrun
Analysis of U-particles by fission track-etch method and quadrupole
ICP-MS (IAEA-CN-148/172P)
M Lipponen R Zilliacus
Application of airborne gamma spectrometry to the detection
of nuclear materials: Example of the French Helinuc system
(IAEA-CN-148/173P)
S. Gutierrez, L. Guillot
Investigating the applicability of anions as indicators for verification
of consistency of declarations (IAEA-CN-148/174P)
M. Wallenius, V. Badaut, K. Mayer
Improvement of non-destructive radioisotope search devices of
smuggling by application of switchable neutron source Am-LiF $(IA F A - CN - 148/175P)$
I. Meskhi G. Cirekidze
Determination of uranium by the Brazilian Safeguards Laboratory –
LASAL using 'Davies & Grav/NBL' potentiometric method
(IAEA-CN-148/176P)
P.D. de Barros, R.M.S. de Araúio, J.W.S. da Silva, F.M. Andrade
Simulation and test of spent fuel verification system for CANDU dry
storage canister: A feasibility study (IAEA-CN-148/177P)
I.J. Park, G.H. Ahn, J.S. Kim, G.S. Min, SY. Leeb, M.C. Miller
Towards the re-verification of in-process tank calibrations
(IAEA-CN-148/178P)

J. Howell, M. Caviglia

Strategic safeguards considerations of the global nuclear energy renaissance (IAEA-CN-148/179P) C. Mathews, C. Kessler, O. Elkhamri Enhancement of proliferation resistance of a fuel cycle by applying the INPRO methodology (IAEA-CN-148/182P) J.H. Park, M.S. Yang, J.K. Kim, E. Haas Expected new role of IAEA in the area of transparency and proliferation resistance in advanced nuclear fuel cvcle (IAEA-CN-148/183P) M. Hori, N. Inoue Giving transparency concepts a face-lift: Bridging the gap between old and new (IAEA-CN-148/184P) C. Mendez, V. Cleary, G. Rochau, D. York Nuclear fuel cycle transparency: An approach to support the global deployment of nuclear power (IAEA-CN-148/185P) G. Rochau, D. York, C. Mendez, V. Cleary Implementing a new reporting system to improve the security and the processing of accounting information (IAEA-CN-148/187P) R.O. Nicolás Safeguards approach to a new nuclear power plant in Argentina (IAEA-CN-148/188P) L.I. Valentino Determination of uranium contents and isotopic compositions in estuarine sediment standard reference material candidates by isotope dilution thermal ionization mass spectrometry (IAEA-CN-148/189P) D. Guo, J. Cui, J. Tan, Z. Wu, Y. Liu Approaches to strengthen China nuclear material control system (IAEA-CN-148/190P)

Q. Yang

Study on plutonium isotopic analysis in environmental samples (IAEA-CN-148/191P)

Z.Y. Chang, L.L. Li, Y.G. Zhao

- A multilingual text mining based content gathering system for open source intelligence (IAEA-CN-148/192P) *F. Neri, N. Baldini*
- RADAR and CRISP Standard tools of the European Commission for remote and unattended data acquisition and analysis for nuclear safeguards (IAEA-CN-148/195P)
  P. Schweih seh, A. Sweihel, F. Basegen, T. Cinend.

P. Schwalbach, A. Smejkal, E. Roesgen, T. Girard

Tunable diode laser spectroscopy as UF<sub>6</sub> monitoring technique (IAEA-CN-148/197P) N. Peter, M. Stein, A. Nadezhdinskii IAEA safeguards symposia are important forums for interaction between the IAEA Secretariat and Member States concerning safeguards and verification issues. The symposium, held at IAEA Headquarters from 16 to 20 October 2006, addressed the challenges to the IAEA safeguards system that have emerged, or intensified, since the previous symposium in 2001. Reflecting developments since then, the symposium covered five topics: current challenges to the safeguards system, further strengthening of safeguards practices and approaches, improving the collection and analysis of safeguards information, advances in safeguards techniques and technology, and future challenges. These proceedings contain the addresses given at the opening session, the technical plenary session and the closing session. The summary provides an overview of the oral presentations at the 21 sessions of the symposium. The papers presented during the various topical sessions, as well as papers exhibited at the poster session, are available on the enclosed CD-ROM.

> INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA ISBN 978–92–0–104707–6 ISSN 0074–1884